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         1       MR AGIUS:   Mr Commissioner, I call Sarah Felicity Scales.

         2

         3       <SARAH FELICITY SCALES, sworn:               [10.03am]

         4

         5       <EXAMINATION BY MR AGIUS:

         6

         7       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Ms Scales, would you tell the inquiry your

         8       full name, please?

         9       A.   Sarah Felicity Scales.

        10

        11       Q.   Do you appear here in answer to a summons requiring

        12       your attendance?

        13       A.   Yes.

        14

        15       Q.   We have two statements from you.  The first is dated

        16       22 December 2005.  Could we bring up, please,

        17       WST.0001.0154.  Do you have a copy of your statement?

        18       A.   Yes.

        19

        20       Q.   That's your statement of 22 December 2005?

        21       A.   Yes.

        22

        23       Q.   As at 22 December 2005 were the contents of that

        24       statement true and correct to the best of your knowledge

        25       and belief?

        26       A.   Yes.

        27

        28       MR AGIUS:   I tender that statement.

        29

        30       EXHIBIT #338 STATEMENT OF SARAH SCALES DATED 22/12/2005,

        31       BARCODED WST.0001.0154

        32

        33       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Then we have a further statement from you

        34       of 2 February 2005.  Could we bring up, please,

        35       WST.0004.0176.  Is that your further statement?

        36       A.   Yes.

        37

        38       Q.   Are the contents of that statement true and correct?

        39       A.   Yes.

        40

        41       EXHIBIT #339 FURTHER STATEMENT OF SARAH SCALES,

        42       DATED 2/2/2005, BARCODED WST.0004.0176

        43

        44       MR AGIUS:   Q.   If we take those two statements together,

        45       do you say that, taken together, the statements are true

        46       and correct to the best of your knowledge and belief as at

        47       today's date?
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         1       A.   Yes.

         2

         3       Q.   I want to ask you first of all about what's referred

         4       to as the Tigris matter, Ms Scales.  When do you believe

         5       you first became aware of Tigris Petroleum?

         6       A.   I think it was in around about 2002 - late 2002.

         7

         8       Q.   In what circumstances?

         9       A.   I had read - I think there's a memo or an email around

        10       2 October 2002 that mentions Tigris, and in my witness

        11       statement I talk about receiving a memorandum around

        12       16 September, but I don't necessarily recall reading that

        13       memo, as I was on holidays.

        14

        15       Q.   Could we bring up exhibit 23, please, which is

        16       AWB.0129.0116.  That's a memo of 16 September 2002.  You

        17       were on leave at that time.

        18       A.   Yes.

        19

        20       Q.   Did you read it when you returned from leave?

        21       A.   I don't recall reading it at all, but I did write in

        22       the top right-hand corner "File Iraq box", so I must have

        23       received it, and I think I received it either from the pool

        24       manager, David Johnson, or it was on my desk, I just can't

        25       recollect that.

        26

        27       Q.   Would you not have read it?

        28       A.   Look, it's more likely that I did read it, but I can't

        29       recall reading it.

        30

        31       Q.   If you made a decision that it be filed, you would

        32       have had to form a view about its value and --

        33       A.   Not necessarily.  I would have seen the subject

        34       matter, "Iraq debt BHP Tigris Petroleum", and I would have

        35       known that it related to Iraq, and so I would have filed it

        36       in the Iraq box.  I had a box that related to Iraq issues.

        37

        38       Q.   What was the first knowledge, then, that you recall

        39       gaining about the Tigris matter, aside from seeing this

        40       when you returned from leave and asking that it be filed?

        41       A.   I think it was either in October or November 2002, and

        42       I think there was a little bit of email traffic at that

        43       time with respect to referencing Tigris amongst Iraq

        44       issues.

        45

        46       Q.   So do you relate your first knowledge of this to that

        47       email traffic?
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         1       A.   Yes.

         2

         3       Q.   Could we bring up, please, exhibit 24, AWB.0129.0161.

         4       This is an email from Michael Long addressed to the

         5       executive.  Did you receive that email?

         6       A.   It's addressed to the executive.  I believe I did,

         7       yes.

         8

         9       Q.   Then may we take it you would have read there what was

        10       said about the Tigris matter?

        11       A.   Sir, I can't recollect reading it specifically,

        12       because it's obviously a number of years ago.  However, I

        13       do recollect receiving it and I may have skimmed it, and I

        14       think I may have forwarded it on to people in the pool.

        15       I'm just not sure.

        16

        17       Q.   Clearly, it relates to the Tigris matter.  Indeed,

        18       that seems to be the only subject matter of it.  It records

        19       that there had been suggested to the Iraqis that the Tigris

        20       debt be offset against the vessel claims and, two, that the

        21       balance of the debt be recovered against new business.

        22       A.   I can't see that, sir, on the screen.

        23

        24       THE COMMISSIONER:   Could we scroll down, please?

        25

        26       THE WITNESS:   Yes, I see that.

        27

        28       MR AGIUS:   Q.   You'll see above that.

        29

        30            ...we were only facilitating possible

        31            repayment.

        32

        33       The forward team had taken approximate figures with them,

        34       they'd suggested a proposal to the Iraqis.  Now, would not

        35       AWBI have necessarily been involved in that proposal?

        36       A.   Not necessarily, but I'm sorry, sir, I'm struggling to

        37       see where it says that on this email.

        38

        39       Q.   Do you see the paragraph:

        40

        41            Had a first meeting with Dr Yousif where we

        42            put your approximate figures forward...

        43

        44       A.   Yes.

        45

        46       Q.

        47
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         1            ...however we emphasised that any agreement

         2            on the final actual figures had to be

         3            reached between Tigris representatives and

         4            appropriate persons in the govt - we were

         5            only facilitating possible repayment.

         6

         7       A.   Yes, I see that.

         8

         9       Q.   Then they set out the approximate figures, simple and

        10       compound interest?

        11       A.   Yes.

        12

        13       Q.   Then they say - this is Mr Whitwell reporting to

        14       Norman Davidson Kelly and Hogan and Long at AWB:

        15

        16            We suggested the following proposal

        17            1. offsetting vessel claims (iron filings)

        18            against Tigris (BHP) debt -

        19            2. balance of debt to be recovered against

        20            new business (load up contract). - approx

        21            USD7.5 million (if using compound).

        22            3. no further vessel claims would be used

        23            as offset - but would need to be redirected

        24            through UN account.

        25

        26       You would have been aware that there had been real problems

        27       because of the Iraqis' claims in 2002 that there were iron

        28       filings in shipments of wheat?

        29       A.   Yes.

        30

        31       Q.   Those claims were holding up delivery of wheat under

        32       the contract?

        33       A.   Absolutely.

        34

        35       Q.   That would have been causing you, in your position at

        36       the pool, real problems, would it not?

        37       A.   Yes.

        38

        39       Q.   Not just practical problems, but problems that were

        40       likely to sound in dollars and a cost to the pool?

        41       A.   Yes.

        42

        43       Q.   You subscribe to the view that the Iraqi claims about

        44       quality issues were bogus?

        45       A.   I do, indeed.

        46

        47       Q.   And at that time you would have subscribed to the view
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         1       that they were only being raised because the Iraqis had

         2       found themselves caught in a contract in one currency and

         3       the AWB had not wanted to renegotiate the contract into

         4       another currency?

         5       A.   Well, I don't recollect that specifically.  What I

         6       recollect is the Iraqis made a claim, a quality claim, on

         7       iron filings, or iron powder, and to me - there have been a

         8       number of quality claims over the years, so hopefully I've

         9       got the right year, but to me there was no concern from my

        10       perspective that there was iron filings in the wheat.  So I

        11       thought it was frankly bogus right from the outset,

        12       especially, sir, as we'd obviously tested samples and we

        13       had decent protocols in place whenever we executed

        14       business.

        15

        16       Q.   Nevertheless, the claim had been settled?

        17       A.   Yes.  Reluctantly, sir.

        18

        19       Q.   So is it not likely, then, given your concerns, that

        20       not only would you have read this email but you would have

        21       taken a real interest in it, given that it dealt with the

        22       iron filings claim, its manner of payment, and also given

        23       that it referred to new business?

        24       A.   Sir, I just don't recollect reading this in any

        25       detail.  I have a tendency to skim emails and I asked the

        26       computer people in the last week to tell me how many emails

        27       I have received since 1999 and it's in the order of over

        28       53,000.  So I don't recollect reading this specifically.

        29       Yes, the iron filings was an issue for me, because

        30       obviously it impacted the exposure of the pools and our

        31       shipping program, but --

        32

        33       Q.   Who was going to fund the iron filings settlement?

        34       A.   The pool.

        35

        36       Q.   So any proposal that spoke of offsetting the iron

        37       filings claim against the Tigris debt would have been a

        38       matter of interest to you, would it not, if the pool was

        39       funding the iron filings debt?

        40       A.   Not necessarily the mechanism.  The important thing

        41       for the people in the pool, whether it's the pricing

        42       manager or the pool manager or our export position

        43       management team or our pool accounting group, and indeed

        44       the general manager, is to understand the nature of the

        45       exposure to make sure it's reflected accurately in the pool

        46       model such that we're not distributing funds out to farmers

        47       or reflecting pool equities on a fortnightly or weekly
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         1       basis incorrectly to farmers.  The actual if you like

         2       details around a mechanism wasn't something that I

         3       necessarily took interest in.  We had --

         4

         5       Q.   Go on, sorry.

         6       A.   Oh, I was just going to say we had subject matter

         7       experts in international sales and marketing that dealt

         8       directly with third-party counterparties.

         9

        10       Q.   You wouldn't have taken interest in a matter which

        11       spoke of loading up contracts for future business?

        12       A.   Not at this stage, no, sir.

        13

        14       Q.   You wouldn't have been concerned about the exposure of

        15       AWBI if contracts for future business were loaded up?

        16       A.   I'd be concerned on two fronts:  one, that whatever we

        17       did was approved by the United Nations, as we were dealing

        18       in Iraq; and, secondly, that AWBI was informed that this

        19       was going to happen, so that dollars could be isolated in

        20       the accounts.

        21

        22       Q.   Well, isn't that yet another reason why you would have

        23       taken interest in an email that spoke of loading up

        24       contracts for new business?

        25       A.   Sir, I can't remember reading this in any detail, this

        26       email, so, in hindsight, yes.

        27

        28       Q.   Thank you.  Of course you can't remember every single

        29       email you read years ago, but what I'm asking you about are

        30       issues going to whether it's likely that you would have

        31       taken an interest in this matter.

        32       A.   Yes.

        33

        34       Q.   Could we go to exhibit 25, which is an email from

        35       Mr Whitwell to Mr Lindberg, Mr Ingleby, Mr Stott, Mr Geary,

        36       yourself and many others, AWB.0129.0169.  This is a short

        37       email attaching a lengthier trip report.  It's addressed to

        38       yourself, amongst others.  It concerns Mr Whitwell's recent

        39       trip to Iraq.  This is one that you would have read, is it

        40       not?

        41       A.   It's one I would have skimmed.  I don't - yes, I would

        42       have skimmed it.  It's likely I read it.

        43

        44       Q.   You would then have read:

        45

        46            Iron powder rebate (USD6 pmt) is separate

        47            from other debt issues.  The minister has
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         1            asked for repayment through inland

         2            transport mechanism.

         3

         4       A.   I don't recall specifically reading that bullet point.

         5

         6       Q.   But it's something you would have read, is it not?

         7       A.   It may have been something I read.  My state of mind,

         8       if I may, at this time was that whatever we did was United

         9       Nations approved.  I wasn't specifically involved, and

        10       never have been specifically involved, in any direct

        11       communication or interactions with the United Nations,

        12       DFAT, whoever's involved in the process.  So I most likely

        13       read this covering email and it didn't ring any alarm bells

        14       for me, Mr Agius.

        15

        16       Q.   How could repayment through an inland transport

        17       mechanism of a quality issue not ring an alarm bell for

        18       you, given that you, as you have said, were concerned to

        19       ensure that what you did complied with the UN?

        20       A.   My primary concern at any point in time with respect

        21       to the pools and their exposures is to make sure that the

        22       pool model reflects - so, for example, with this quality

        23       rebate, reflects that through a provision in the pool

        24       accounts.  So that's my primary concern, and I'm --

        25

        26       Q.   Of course it was.

        27       A.   Yes, yes.

        28

        29       Q.   That's your job.

        30       A.   Correct.

        31

        32       Q.   That's your primary job?

        33       A.   Well, an element of it, yes.

        34

        35       Q.   If you didn't do that, you wouldn't be able to hold on

        36       to that job?

        37       A.   Correct.

        38

        39       Q.   But what you've said to us today, and I understand it,

        40       is this, "I'd be concerned on two fronts:  one, that

        41       whatever we did was approved by the United Nations, as we

        42       were dealing with Iraq; and, secondly, that AWBI was

        43       informed that this was going to happen so that dollars

        44       could be isolated in the accounts."

        45       A.    Yes.

        46

        47       Q.   Now, accepting those matters, and accepting that you
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         1       had those concerns, surely when you read "The minister has

         2       asked for repayment through inland transport mechanism" it

         3       would have rung an alarm bell?

         4       A.   I'm sorry, it didn't.

         5

         6       Q.   Well, can we analyse that?  The iron filings debt was

         7       a matter between the IGB and the AWB, or the AWBI, wasn't

         8       it?

         9       A.   Yes.

        10

        11       Q.   And the IGB were wanting to be paid a sum of money of

        12       what turned out to be about $2m, but nevertheless a large

        13       sum of money, on account of a claim which was thought by

        14       AWB to be bogus --

        15       A.   Yes.

        16

        17       Q.   -- but which was in effect the cost of doing business

        18       with the Iraqis; is that right?

        19       A.   Yes, there was a greater exposure if we hadn't

        20       accepted that proposition.

        21

        22       Q.   So this was money, this iron filings money, that was

        23       due to the Iraqis --

        24       A.   Yes.

        25

        26       Q.   -- perhaps not happily due to them, but due to them

        27       nonetheless?

        28       A.   Yes.

        29

        30       Q.   Now there's a proposal from the minister that it be

        31       repaid through the inland transport mechanism.  If we

        32       accept what you say in your statements, the inland

        33       transport mechanism, as you understood it, was an approved

        34       mechanism whereby AWB paid for inland transport of wheat.

        35       A.   Yes.

        36

        37       Q.   And not paid the Iraqis, but paid a Jordanian trucking

        38       company?

        39       A.   Yes.

        40

        41       Q.   Given your concerns at the time, when you read, "The

        42       minister has asked for repayment through the inland

        43       transport mechanism," didn't it occur to you, in the very

        44       least, that that was rather odd?

        45

        46       MR FORREST:   Commissioner, I object to this.  The evidence

        47       that the witness has given at page 2853 is that she doesn't
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         1       specifically recall reading the bullet point and that "it

         2       may have been something that I read".  In my submission,

         3       the question should be predicated on the basis, "If you

         4       read that bullet point", rather than accepting the

         5       proposition, which in my submission the witness hasn't

         6       accepted.

         7

         8       THE COMMISSIONER:   I'll allow the question.

         9

        10       THE WITNESS:   Could you repeat the question, sorry?

        11

        12       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Yes.  Given your concerns at the time,

        13       when you read that "The minister had asked for repayment

        14       through the inland transport mechanism," didn't it occur to

        15       you in the very least that that was rather odd?

        16       A.   I don't recall reading that specifically, Mr Agius.

        17       How the money was to be repaid, if it was a proposal put by

        18       the minister, so be it.  Whatever we did, and ended up

        19       doing, was something that would have been approved at a

        20       United Nations level, so the minister can ask a number of

        21       ways for repayment, but that just didn't dawn on me as

        22       something that I needed to pay particular attention to, and

        23       I don't remember reading, "The minister has asked for

        24       repayment through inland transport mechanism," sir.

        25

        26       Q.   Do you say that, even if you had read it, given your

        27       concerns that everything that was done be done in

        28       accordance with UN sanctions, even if you had read it, it

        29       wouldn't have raised an alarm bell?

        30       A.   No, it wouldn't have because the minister can ask,

        31       people can ask - they do all around the world - for things,

        32       but you don't necessarily grant.

        33

        34       Q.   The next dot point that I want to take you to is the

        35       next one below it:

        36

        37            Minister reaffirmed the 480 million debt

        38            and will instruct Canberra Embassy

        39            accordingly.

        40

        41       That would have been a matter of interest to you, would it

        42       not?

        43       A.   At the time there was obviously general discussions

        44       around the 480 million debt.  I don't necessarily believe I

        45       would have picked that up in this particular email, but

        46       there was general discussion on the floor about $480m of

        47       debt owned to the Australian wheat farmer, and that was a
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         1       very hot political item at the time.

         2

         3       Q.   Well, at least $80m of that was due to the growers,

         4       wasn't it?

         5       A.   I think it was about 80, yes.

         6

         7       Q.   So surely that would have taken your interest,

         8       Ms Scales, to have a reaffirmation from the minister and an

         9       indication that he was going to instruct the Iraqi embassy

        10       to acknowledge the debt would have been a matter of, dare I

        11       say, great happiness for you?

        12       A.   Yes.

        13

        14       Q.   So is it not likely that you would have read that?

        15       A.   No.

        16

        17       Q.   Well, what's the point of having people send you

        18       emails if you don't read them?

        19       A.   Well, I'm not sure what the point of the question is,

        20       but I receive a lot of emails.  I sit in an office on the

        21       floor that international sales and marketing and pooling

        22       people sit.  If I'm looking for information, usually in

        23       asking questions around have we sold half a million tonnes

        24       of wheat or a million tonnes; how do the numbers compare in

        25       what's the pool model; what's the shipping program like;

        26       how does it marry up with our forecasts as far as price;

        27       how are our equities looking; are we reflecting the correct

        28       equities to the Australian wheat farmer?  How does it link

        29       up with our derivatives hedge program?  I'm looking at

        30       those sorts of things and I don't necessarily need to read

        31       every email that is put before me to understand - have a

        32       general sense of what's going in a market.  I have a pool

        33       manager and a pricing management team and an export

        34       position management team, sir, so I don't necessarily read

        35       trip reports or emails every time they're presented to me.

        36       I've got quicker ways of gathering information I need.

        37

        38       Q.   Ms Scales, I'm not at all suggesting that you would

        39       read thoroughly every email you would receive, but this is

        40       a particular email.  It relates to a very important market

        41       to the AWB and a very important market to the AWBI.  It is

        42       reporting on a trip to the Iraqis and it is reporting upon

        43       one matter in particular which is close to everybody's

        44       heart at the AWB - that's getting back the $480m from the

        45       Iraqis.  Surely when you choose which emails to read and

        46       which you do not, you include in your parameters those that

        47       are important, and I'm suggesting to you that anything that
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         1       spoke of the $480m debt being reaffirmed by the minister is

         2       something that you would have read.

         3       A.   Well, it's not in the title of the email, and I was

         4       aware of the $480m of debt and $80m or $90m-odd due to

         5       farmers back in the early 90s.  It was of general

         6       discussion amongst the team.  It was a good thing if the

         7       minister recognised that.  Whether I picked that up from

         8       this email, I can't say to you truthfully here today, sir.

         9

        10       Q.   Then the next dot point is two further down:

        11

        12            Tigris debt has cabinet approval for

        13            repayment - final amount to be agreed

        14            during the next month by Tigris/Iraqis and

        15            then mechanism for repayment to be agreed

        16            during next visit.

        17

        18       Did you read that?

        19       A.   I don't recollect reading that.

        20

        21       Q.   The email attached the trip report.  Could we bring up

        22       AWB.0129.0171.  Under "Suggested following proposal" the

        23       substance of two of the dot points I've read to you are

        24       repeated:

        25

        26            Offsetting vessel claims (iron filings)

        27            against Tigris (BHP) debt - approx USD2

        28            million

        29

        30            Balance of debt to be recovered against new

        31            business (load up contract) - approximately

        32            USD7.5 million if using compound.

        33

        34       Did you read that?

        35       A.   I don't recollect reading the trip report.

        36

        37       Q.   I am not asking whether you recollect reading it.  Did

        38       you read it?

        39       A.   I don't believe I read this trip report.

        40

        41       Q.   You don't believe you did?

        42       A.   I don't believe so.

        43

        44       Q.   Do you believe you read the email that I've just taken

        45       you to?

        46       A.   There's a better chance that I read the email than the

        47       trip report.
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         1

         2       Q.   Can I bring you to AWB.0147.0092.  This is an email to

         3       you from Nigel Edmonds-Wilson.  May we take it that you

         4       would have had an interest in continuing sales of wheat to

         5       the Iraqis?

         6       A.   Yes.

         7

         8       Q.   This is a notification to you, as the first

         9       recipient --

        10       A.   Yes.

        11

        12       Q.   -- of two contracts for the sale of a total of a

        13       million tonnes of wheat to the Iraqis.  Did you read this

        14       email?

        15       A.   Can I just explain?  First of all, if my recollection

        16       serves me properly, we had booked business to Iraq over a

        17       period of sometime in December.  The usual course of action

        18       would be that the pool manager or the pricing manager would

        19       give me a call if I wasn't in the office, if I was

        20       travelling, either informing me that we'd sold a million

        21       tonnes of wheat to Iraq, or we were about to sell a million

        22       tonnes of wheat to Iraq, or that there was an impending

        23       Iraqi tender, and the sorts of questions I'd be asking are,

        24       if we had sold it, how did it compare to prices in our pool

        25       model; how did it compare to our shipping program; how does

        26       it meet with our forecast equities; is there an equity risk

        27       here; was it something that we were expecting to do; was it

        28       allocated, unallocated?

        29

        30            So I would have got information on this million tonnes

        31       through usually a conversation and I may have gone to this

        32       email and scanned it and said - and probably - I don't know

        33       what it has down the bottom, hopefully some pricing

        34       information.  I would have just taken a general interest

        35       in, "Well, we've booked the million tonnes, that's great,

        36       and pool model is looking sound and hopefully it all

        37       marries up with our shipping program."  I would have been

        38       very pleased with this.

        39

        40       Q.   Surely you would want to look at the figures?

        41       A.   Not necessarily, not in my position as general manager

        42       of I.  I'd expect the pricing team and the pooling team,

        43       they work very closely with the account managers and set

        44       them FOB price parameters and the shipping program and

        45       what, you know, Australia is capable of doing logistically

        46       by ports and, you know, the types of quality of wheat, and

        47       that just happens.  I'm not involved in - in fact, I'm not
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         1       involved these days in day-to-day sales, whether it be a

         2       million tonnes or 20,000 tonnes.

         3

         4       Q.   I'm not suggesting you're involved in the mechanism of

         5       the sale, but as the person in charge of the pool, the sale

         6       of a million tonnes of wheat to Iraq was an important

         7       matter, wasn't it?

         8       A.   Oh, of course.

         9

        10       Q.   Are you suggesting that you would not have read this

        11       email which is directed to you entitled "One million metric

        12       tonne sale to Iraq - final details"?

        13       A.   Look, I --

        14

        15       Q.   Is that what you're asking us to believe?

        16       A.   It's possible, yes.

        17

        18       Q.   How is business done at the AWB if nobody reads their

        19       emails, Ms Scales?

        20

        21       MR FORREST:   Mr Commissioner, the witness was in the

        22       process of answering the question.  In my submission she

        23       was talked across by Mr Agius.  I ask she be allowed to

        24       answer the question.

        25

        26       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Is there something else you wanted

        27       to add?

        28       A.   Just that if, you know, you scanned through all the

        29       emails you received on any given day, I would have seen a

        30       million tonne sale to Iraq.  I would be pretty confident I

        31       would have seen - that I would have already known we'd

        32       booked a million tonne sale to Iraq.  I would have had a

        33       conversation with the pricing team or the pool manager and

        34       I would have gathered from that interaction that everything

        35       was, you know, as per the plan.  So I don't necessarily - a

        36       million tonnes I know is a big contract, but it doesn't

        37       necessarily mean I need to read final details when the

        38       business is booked.

        39

        40       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Is it not likely that you would have read

        41       this email, Ms Scales?

        42       A.   It's possible.

        43

        44       Q.   Is it not likely?

        45       A.   Well, it's more likely than not.

        46

        47       Q.   Thank you.  Then you would have read, more likely than
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         1       not, Tigris debt of 8.4 Euros being factored in - that is,

         2       8.4 Euros a tonne - to the price.

         3       A.   The most important thing for me when looking at - if

         4       indeed I did look at this email - is going straight to the

         5       net FOB number and understanding that the 172 US FOB is

         6       something that was reflected in the pool model and was

         7       something in the ballpark of exactly what we expect to

         8       achieve within the pooling group.

         9

        10       Q.   Ms Scales, five lines above the net FOB price is

        11       Tigris debt with an asterisk, 8.40 Euro, in block capital

        12       letters.  Aside from references to the FOB and costs,

        13       you're not telling us that you wouldn't have seen that?

        14       A.   Well, I don't recollect seeing that.

        15

        16       Q.   Of course not.  You're not saying you wouldn't have

        17       seen it, though, are you?

        18       A.   Sorry, I don't understand.

        19

        20       Q.   If you looked at the FOB price, would you not have

        21       read that one element of the price was the Tigris debt?

        22       A.   What I would have done is most likely gone straight to

        23       the net FOB number.  That's critical in the pooling group.

        24

        25       Q.   Would you have read the bold type at the very top of

        26       the email?  Can we bring that up, please?  "NB:  this has

        27       been sent to a reduced list due to the nature of the Tigris

        28       Petroleum issue.  Please treat as Private & Confidential

        29       and not for further distribution."  Would you not have read

        30       that?

        31       A.   This is what makes me think I didn't read this

        32       particular email, because I don't recollect seeing that

        33       note at the top.  This has come from Nigel Edmonds-Wilson,

        34       who's relatively junior, all respect to him, in the

        35       international sales and marketing group, and this makes me

        36       think I didn't see this email, and there was some other

        37       means of me understanding and gathering the information

        38       that I needed as far as understanding that we booked one

        39       million tonnes of wheat.

        40

        41       Q.   You just said that it was likely that you saw this

        42       email and that you read it.  What is it?  Do you believe

        43       it's likely you read it, or do you now say that, because of

        44       something that's in it, it makes you believe that you

        45       didn't read it?  Which one is accurate?

        46       A.   I can't recollect - I cannot recollect back three or

        47       four years ago whether I read this email or not, so what
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         1       I'm saying is I recollect we booked a million tonnes of

         2       wheat to Iraq.  I don't know how that information

         3       specifically came to me.  There may have been other emails

         4       that referenced this sale.  This may be one of three or

         5       four emails.  I don't know, sir.

         6

         7       Q.   Do you adhere to your answer that it's more likely

         8       than not that you read the email?

         9       A.   It's more likely than not that I read an email that

        10       talked about a million tonnes of wheat booked to Iraq, but

        11       whether it was this one I just can't be sure, sir.

        12

        13       Q.   So whether it was the one that was directed

        14       specifically to you with a notation that it be marked

        15       "Private and confidential and not for further

        16       distribution," you can't be sure?

        17       A.   I can't be sure, because our computer system doesn't

        18       necessarily show that this is to you.  You get a list of

        19       emails coming through on any day and you can click them

        20       open and then you read them.  So, no, I can't be sure from

        21       that, sorry.

        22

        23       Q.   Can we go to the third page, 0094:

        24

        25            NB:  there is also an additional return to

        26            the pool of 0.005 points on foreign

        27            exchange which accounts to 110,600EUR

        28            (USD110,300).  Thanks to Douglas Alvares

        29            and the FX team.

        30

        31       Did you read that?  Your pool had just picked up US$110,000

        32       on the foreign exchange.

        33       A.   No, I don't believe I read that.

        34

        35       MR AGIUS:   I'll tender those three pages, Mr Commissioner.

        36       I think they exist somewhere as an exhibit.

        37

        38       THE COMMISSIONER:   I'll mark them as exhibit 340.

        39

        40       EXHIBIT #340 THREE-PAGE EMAIL TO MS SCALES FROM

        41       NIGEL EDMONDS-WILSON, BARCODED AWB.0147.0092-0094

        42

        43       MR JUDD:   It's exhibit 82C I'm told, sir, in its current

        44       form.  Some aspects of it ought to remain confidential.  If

        45       it's to be a public exhibit, we'd like the opportunity just

        46       to delete some references.

        47
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         1       MR AGIUS:   We'll work with our learned friend over that

         2       issue during the day.

         3

         4       THE COMMISSIONER:   There will be a non-publication order

         5       in respect of those portions not addressed in public

         6       evidence.

         7

         8       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Ms Scales, I have taken you through six

         9       matters relating to this Tigris debt issue, electronic

        10       communications in one form or another, the last one dated

        11       11 December 2002.  Do you think by December 2002 you had

        12       learnt about the fact that there was a Tigris debt, or a

        13       debt due to Tigris by the IGB?

        14       A.   This is what I've been thinking about over the last

        15       couple of weeks, and this might sound a bit silly, but at

        16       that time I got married, 30 November --

        17

        18       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   There's nothing silly about that.

        19       A.   No, my husband doesn't think so.  So I got married in

        20       late November, so I was on a honeymoon through that period,

        21       and I know that during 16 September, that original email

        22       that you put up, or memo, I was on holidays.  So I'm

        23       feeling particularly vague, not deliberately, at this point

        24       in time through this late December '02 period, but at some

        25       point I became aware that the contracts that were booked

        26       with the IGB reflected the recovery of the Tigris debt.

        27       But I can't be specific on how I got that information.

        28

        29       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Can we come to AWB.0188.0047.  This is a

        30       memorandum from Mr Whitwell to Messrs Geary and Long,

        31       copied to you.  Did you receive this memo?

        32       A.   Yes.

        33

        34       Q.   Did you read it?

        35       A.   Yes.

        36

        37       Q.   So may we take it that by 7 February 2003 you were

        38       aware of the Tigris Petroleum issue and that the IGB had

        39       agreed to allow a new contract to be the conduit for the

        40       payment of US$8.3m?

        41       A.   I was aware in I think it would have been late

        42       February or early March, because, once again, I was on

        43       leave, or I was travelling for business - I'm not sure

        44       which - at that time.  I think my witness statement

        45       references that.  I was away for a two-week period.

        46

        47       Q.   So you did become aware of what we read in the third
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         1       paragraph?

         2       A.   Yes.

         3

         4       Q.   You therefore became aware, did you, that the AWB was

         5       proposing to use new contracts to be the conduit for

         6       repayment of the US$8.375m?

         7       A.   Yes.

         8

         9       Q.   What did you do about it?

        10       A.   At that point I didn't do anything particular about

        11       that, sir.

        12

        13       Q.   Did you have any concerns about it?

        14       A.   No, not at that stage.

        15

        16       Q.   Why not?

        17       A.   Well, because first of all I had, and do have,

        18       confidence in the international sales and marketing team

        19       and the account managers and their professionalism, and my

        20       understanding for all the last few years has been that

        21       anything we did was approved by the United Nations.  So I

        22       didn't have a concern because I always thought this would

        23       be approved by the United Nations, or had been approved by

        24       the United Nations.

        25

        26       Q.   In what way did you believe that the UN would be told

        27       that the contracts were going to be so constructed so as to

        28       be a conduit for the repayment of the US$8m-odd?

        29       A.   Sorry, can you just repeat that?

        30

        31       Q.   Well, how did you think the contracts would be

        32       constructed to be a conduit for the $8.3m, when you read

        33       this memo?

        34       A.   Well, I would have assumed that the contract price

        35       would reflect the $8.375m.

        36

        37       Q.   Did you know the form of contracts?

        38       A.   I've never seen the contracts that actually go to the

        39       UN.

        40

        41       Q.   But were you aware of the form of them, that they

        42       referred to a net tonnage plus or minus 5 per cent, and

        43       they referred to a specific price per metric tonne?

        44       A.   Yes.

        45

        46       Q.   So did you believe that the price reflected in any new

        47       contract which was going to be a conduit for this payment
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         1       would reflect a price per metric tonne calculated so as to

         2       include the US$8.375m?

         3       A.   Yes.

         4

         5       Q.   On a per metric tonne basis?

         6       A.   I would have thought so, yes.

         7

         8       Q.   How did you envisage that the UN, looking at a

         9       contract in those terms, would have any idea that included

        10       within the contract was this component for the repayment of

        11       the Tigris debt?

        12       A.   I didn't turn my mind to it at this stage.

        13

        14       Q.   Did it not raise an alarm for you?

        15       A.   No.

        16

        17       Q.   How could it be that the loading up of even one

        18       contract in that way wouldn't have raised an alarm for you,

        19       given your express concern that whatever AWB did or AWBI

        20       did was within the UN sanctions program?

        21       A.   Well, I would have just presumed that the UN would

        22       have been informed and we would have got approval from the

        23       United Nations.

        24

        25       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Did you read the dot point under

        26       the heading "Issues"?

        27       A.   Yes.

        28

        29       Q.   Didn't that raise concerns for you?

        30       A.   No, Commissioner, because - first of all, it's in the

        31       email.  Secondly, I've always worked with, I believe, a

        32       team that corporate governance and governance issues were

        33       paramount.  So possible implication for AWB on a corporate

        34       governance issue to me is something that's an issue, but we

        35       wouldn't have done anything that, you know, breached any

        36       governance issues.  I think it demonstrates transparency on

        37       behalf of the author of the email.

        38

        39       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Ms Scales, this memorandum contemplates

        40       taking action contrary to the advice from DFAT to which it

        41       makes reference.  How can you say that you believe that the

        42       AWB team were going to act within the sanctions?

        43       A.   Because - well, if I could see the rest of the page

        44       with the referencing --

        45

        46       Q.   0048.  The last dot point.

        47       A.   I have always worked on whatever we did would be
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         1       approved by legal and we'd act on legal advice.

         2

         3       Q.   Well, what you said was that you operated on the basis

         4       that whatever AWB did would be within the sanctions.

         5       A.   Yes.

         6

         7       Q.   That's the substance of what you've said.

         8       A.   Yes.

         9

        10       Q.   This memo records DFAT's advice:

        11

        12            According to an informal discussion with

        13            DFAT any repayment of a quality rebate

        14            should be either re-paid through UN ESCROW

        15            account or as a contract price reduction.

        16            However they have not had a full legal

        17            argument put in front of them or been told

        18            officially.

        19

        20       When we go over the page we see that the action that is

        21       proposed by IS&M, the people in whom you express faith,

        22       amongst others, is to repay the debt in the manner

        23       requested by the Minister of Trade.

        24       A.   This is not the Tigris debt, sorry, sir, this is --

        25

        26       Q.   Sorry, repay the debt - not the Tigris debt, the iron

        27       filings debt - in the manner requested by the Minister of

        28       Trade?

        29       A.   So the question, sorry?

        30

        31       Q.   What I'm suggesting to you is this:  you say that when

        32       you learnt of what was proposed to be done in relation to

        33       the Tigris debt you relied upon what you believed to be the

        34       integrity of the AWB.

        35       A.   Absolutely, yes.

        36

        37       Q.   You said anything that they would do would be done in

        38       accordance with the sanctions?

        39       A.   Yes.

        40

        41       Q.   I'm asking you to compare that express point of view

        42       with what is in this memo about the repayment of the iron

        43       filings claim.  In relation to the iron filings claim, DFAT

        44       had given an informal advice that there were two ways in

        45       which it could be done, neither of which involved a direct

        46       payment to the Iraqis.  Attention had been drawn to

        47       Resolution 661, which said you couldn't do that.  Now, the
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         1       same people in whom you placed your trust and upon whom you

         2       relied to act with integrity were proposing in this memo

         3       not to follow DFAT's advice but, rather, to make the

         4       payment of the iron filings claim direct to the Iraqis as

         5       the minister in Iraq had requested.  Didn't that shake your

         6       confidence --

         7       A.   No.

         8

         9       Q.   -- in these people in whom you reposed trust?

        10       A.   No.

        11

        12       Q.   Why not?

        13       A.   Well, I think they're putting up propositions.  I

        14       think - you know, they've said up above:

        15

        16            Whilst IS&M have received a number of

        17            different opinions from different areas of

        18            AWB and an informal opinion from DFAT we

        19            still feel this issue is a grey area with

        20            no prescriptive answers.

        21

        22       I think they're looking at all the options and putting up a

        23       recommendation, which, sir --

        24

        25       Q.   Well - yes, go on.

        26       A.   Well, I was just going to say, if memory serves me, we

        27       never actually paid that iron filings debt in the way

        28       that's recommended here.

        29

        30       Q.   Yes, but that's not the point, Ms Scales.  The point

        31       is that the people that you were reposing trust in in this

        32       same document were recommending a course of action which,

        33       quite plainly, on the face of this memo, was outside of

        34       Resolution 661.

        35       A.   Well, I think they were proposing a course of action

        36       based on getting legal advice, or having had legal advice,

        37       or having had --

        38

        39       Q.   In the face of Resolution 661, which plainly spelt out

        40       that direct payments to the Iraqis could not be made?

        41       A.   Well, I'm not a lawyer, sir, so --

        42

        43       Q.   Can you read what is set out at the bottom of 0047:

        44

        45            ...All States shall not make available to

        46            the Government of Iraq or to any

        47            commercial, industrial or public utility
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         1            undertaking in Iraq any funds or any other

         2            financial or economic resources and shall

         3            prevent their nationals and any persons

         4            within their territories from removing from

         5            their territories or otherwise making

         6            available to that Government or to any such

         7            undertaking any such funds or resources and

         8            from remitting any other funds to persons

         9            or bodies within Iraq...except payments

        10            exclusively for strictly medical or

        11            humanitarian purposes and, in humanitarian

        12            circumstances, foodstuffs.

        13

        14       One doesn't need to be a lawyer to understand from that

        15       that the AWB was prevented from paying $2m to the Iraqis.

        16       So how could you genuinely have reposed trust in the IS&M

        17       team, given that they were proposing to act contrary to

        18       DFAT's advice?

        19       A.   Well, I did have faith in the IS&M team.  I still have

        20       faith in the IS&M team.

        21

        22       Q.   Yes.  The IS&M team had evidently made a deliberate

        23       decision not to go to DFAT to ask for a formal opinion and

        24       not to put themselves in a position where they had been

        25       told officially by DFAT of the unofficial view that DFAT

        26       had expressed.  Did that give you any concern?

        27

        28       MR JUDD:   Commissioner, with respect, that is not quite

        29       right.  My learned friend must, if that question is to be

        30       correct, exclude from it the intention expressed in

        31       Mr Geary's memorandum.  Now, I know that issues are raised

        32       about that and the timing of the intention to go to the

        33       minister, and the like, but there is plainly that

        34       circumstance which is before this Commission.  The

        35       Commission may or may not accept it as a fact, but the

        36       question is predicated on the absence of that fact

        37       circumstance.

        38

        39       MR AGIUS:   Well, with respect, Mr Commissioner, the

        40       question is predicated upon what I read in this memorandum,

        41       wherein it's plain that only an informal opinion had been

        42       obtained from DFAT and that they had not been told

        43       officially, and under the heading "Actions" it states:

        44

        45            Whilst IS&M have received a number of

        46            different opinions from different areas of

        47            AWB and an informal opinion from DFAT...
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         1

         2       What I'm putting to the witness is that it's clear that, as

         3       at the date of this memo, they had chosen not to go to DFAT

         4       for an official opinion.

         5

         6       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes, I'll allow the question.

         7

         8       MR AGIUS:   Q.   In circumstances where it's plain on the

         9       face of this memo that the IS&M team had chosen not to

        10       obtain an official opinion from DFAT, did you not have

        11       concerns about the way in which this matter was being

        12       progressed?

        13       A.   I don't remember at the time picking up on that.

        14

        15       Q.   Do you not see from what is proposed in this memo as

        16       an action that what IS&M were proposing was the following:

        17       that the contracts would go forward, that only at the very

        18       last moment would the managing director go to the

        19       Australian Government at a time after which approval for

        20       the contracts would have been obtained from the UN, after

        21       the execution of the contracts had commenced?  Didn't that

        22       give you concern?

        23       A.   This is an area that I don't specifically look after.

        24       The international sales and marketing group were putting up

        25       a proposal.  I understood it was supported with legal

        26       advice and it's actions and recommendations, sir, that they

        27       were recommending.  It didn't strike me as something I was

        28       concerned about.

        29

        30       Q.   Didn't they strike you as being rather extraordinary,

        31       these actions and recommendations?

        32       A.   No, I don't recollect feeling that it was

        33       extraordinary.

        34

        35       Q.   It's not extraordinary to suggest that IS&M would

        36       repay the debt outlined in the legal opinion and in the

        37       manner requested by the Minister of Trade, which was via

        38       the inland transport mechanism, and that the managing

        39       director only would convey the intentions of the AWB to the

        40       Australian Government at an appropriate time prior to

        41       shipment, "the timing of such a disclosure is important and

        42       we would recommend that nothing be done until at least

        43       Letters of credit are in place for these contracts" - isn't

        44       that extraordinary?

        45       A.   I think you may put it that way, but it depends on how

        46       this was actioned.

        47
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         1       Q.   How would the man in the street put it?  Don't you

         2       think saying it's extraordinary is a fair summary?

         3

         4       MR FORREST:   Mr Commissioner, I object to that.  I say

         5       that it would not be of much assistance to asking how the

         6       man in the street views it.  It's a question of how you

         7       view it, and "extraordinary" is an adjective.

         8

         9       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes, I reject that.

        10

        11       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Don't you regard that as an extraordinary

        12       process, Ms Scales?

        13       A.   I see it as the IS&M putting up some thoughts and

        14       actions which would then need to be approved by management.

        15

        16       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Did it occur to you why it was

        17       this was marked "Private and confidential"?

        18       A.   No.  No, it didn't, sir.

        19

        20       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Do you recall the heading of the last

        21       email I took you to from Nigel Edmonds-Wilson:

        22

        23            This has been sent to a reduced list due to

        24            the nature of the Tigris Petroleum issue.

        25            Please treat as private and confidential

        26            and not for further distribution.

        27

        28       A.   From this morning, yes.

        29

        30       Q.   Do you see that this memo seems to have been treated

        31       in the same way?

        32       A.   The next memo?

        33

        34       Q.   Yes.

        35       A.   I see that, yes.

        36

        37       Q.   You still say that the process set out in this memo

        38       was not at that time, in your view, extraordinary?

        39       A.   No, I think it's IS&M putting up some recommended

        40       action points.

        41

        42       Q.   Is this just the way business was done at the AWB in

        43       those days?

        44       A.   No.  I think it's marked "Private and confidential".

        45       I don't know, I'm not the author of these memos or emails.

        46       That's a question I think for the authors of the emails or

        47       memos.
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         1

         2       THE COMMISSIONER:   Would you go, please, to the third

         3       page, 0049?

         4

         5       Q.   Ms Scales, do you see the dot point at the top of the

         6       page:

         7

         8            IS&M feel strongly that a failure to repay

         9            the IGB as discussed will lead to serious

        10            consequences for AWB's relationship with

        11            the IGB.  IS&M also believe that failure to

        12            refund this agreed debt in this way would

        13            have serious implications for the execution

        14            of the new contracts.  AWBI are aware of

        15            all the issues laid out above and in light

        16            of the commercial imperative of this

        17            situation agree with the recommendation as

        18            laid out below.  They do however insist --

        19

        20       in emphasis --

        21

        22            that the Managing director is appraised of

        23            the situation.

        24

        25       You were the head of the pool, of the AWBI?

        26       A.   Yes.

        27

        28       Q.   Is it correct to say that you were aware of all the

        29       issues laid out above, that is in this memorandum, and in

        30       light of the commercial imperative of the situation, you

        31       agreed with the recommendations laid out below?

        32       A.   No.

        33

        34       Q.   Well, when you saw this memorandum, did you make plain

        35       to the people to whom it was addressed that you did not

        36       agree with it?

        37       A.   No.

        38

        39       Q.   Why not?

        40       A.   Well, I think, depending on when I actually read this,

        41       because I was away at the time, there were some enormous

        42       events going on with respect to Iraq and I feel that at

        43       that time the war broke out, whether it was sometime in

        44       early March.  Those events took over, and that that was the

        45       real focus for me and the pooling team, to make sure that

        46       the contracts got executed, that we were looking at the

        47       overarching risk parameters and pricing parameters, and so
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         1       on, Commissioner, and that became my real focus.

         2

         3       Q.   Was it you who insisted that the managing director be

         4       apprised of all this?

         5       A.   No, because this has been written when I've been away,

         6       and I was away I think - I think in my statement I talk

         7       about being away from 3 February to 14 February, so I can't

         8       say it was me specifically, because I don't recall having

         9       that specific conversation.

        10

        11       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Did you see the earlier drafts of this

        12       memo, Ms Scales?  They date from January 2003, at a time

        13       when you were not away.

        14       A.   I don't believe so.

        15

        16       Q.   This memo, as we understand from Mr Whitwell, was in

        17       the process of being developed from at least 10 January

        18       2003, and in two versions of the memo that we have prior to

        19       7 February 2003 there is no reference to "AWBI are aware of

        20       all the issues laid out above, and in light of the

        21       commercial imperative of this situation, agree with the

        22       recommendation as laid out below".  That statement doesn't

        23       appear in the two versions dated January 2003, but it does

        24       appear in this version dated 7 February 2003.  Is that

        25       because between 10 January and 7 February you'd been

        26       consulted by Mr Long about these issues?

        27       A.   I don't recall being consulted by Michael.

        28

        29       Q.   Did you insist to Mr Long before 7 February, before

        30       you went on leave, that the managing director be apprised

        31       of the situation?

        32       A.   I don't recall.  I don't recall that.

        33

        34       Q.   Mr Long credits the AWBI with responsibility for

        35       insisting that the managing director be apprised of the

        36       situation.

        37       A.   I can see that in this memo, and he may have had

        38       discussions with people in the pool.

        39

        40       Q.   Did you speak to them when you read this memo?

        41       A.   No, I don't recollect speaking to them about this

        42       memo.

        43

        44       Q.   May we take it, then, that, at the very least, when

        45       you read this memo you were aware that there was a debt

        46       which had been acknowledged by the IGB that it was owed by

        47       Tigris --
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         1       A.   Yes.

         2

         3       Q.   -- and that AWB had agreed to assist in the recovery

         4       of that debt?

         5       A.   Yes.

         6

         7       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Would you go, please, to the next

         8       page, 0048.  Do you see at the bottom of the page - you've

         9       been taken to the paragraph beside the dot point.  The

        10       paragraph above says:

        11

        12            In Public affairs opinion as long as the

        13            repayment is legal and could not be seen to

        14            be breaking UN Sanctions then we should

        15            proceed (with the proviso that we have an

        16            independent legal opinion to that effect -

        17            see above legal opinion).

        18

        19       Then it goes on:

        20

        21            Public Affairs also expressed concern that

        22            this would not be well received by the UN

        23            OIP --

        24

        25       Office of Iraq Programme --

        26

        27            and that there was a reasonable chance of

        28            them finding out.  IS&M on the other hand

        29            do not want them involved and feel

        30            confident that this issue could be handled

        31            without the need for OIP to be consulted.

        32

        33       Did it not occur to you that there was an endeavour to keep

        34       this hidden?

        35       A.   No.

        36

        37       Q.   The paragraph before says they have not told DFAT

        38       officially what they're doing.  The next paragraph, which

        39       we have just read, says IS&M didn't want the United Nations

        40       to be told.  And public affairs are worried that the United

        41       Nations might find out.  What did you take from all of

        42       that?

        43       A.   That there was obviously some internal debate around

        44       this and that we obviously would need to take that into

        45       consideration as far as what actually transpired.

        46

        47       Q.   Then when you go over the page we come to the
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         1       paragraph to which I've previously directed your attention,

         2       which is that the commercial imperative is to proceed with

         3       this, but somebody, IS&M or International, want to make

         4       sure that the managing director knows what's happening, and

         5       the whole thing is marked "Private and confidential", and

         6       you say to me that that did not ring any alarm bells to

         7       you, having read this memorandum?

         8       A.   No, to me it demonstrates an openness around it, that

         9       clearly the managing director wanted to be - needed to be

        10       apprised of the situation and someone at AWBI thought it

        11       was important enough to make sure he was.

        12

        13       Q.   Because something was being done which may or may not

        14       have been aboveboard, if I can use that expression?

        15       A.   I think something was being proposed that wasn't

        16       normal, in that, you know, this is a one-off - it's an iron

        17       filings quality claim, it's unusual, it's a one-off, single

        18       event.  So I think it needed - I'm pleased to see that

        19       there, but I can't take credit for it because I don't think

        20       I was there at the time when it was discussed.

        21

        22       MR AGIUS:   Q.   You said this was a matter of debate.  Do

        23       we see anywhere in this memo any statement from any group

        24       within AWB saying that the matter should not proceed?

        25       A.   I don't believe so.

        26

        27       Q.   So where's the debate?

        28       A.   I imagine there would have been debate at this time

        29       between - it's typical between public affairs, or

        30       relations, and international sales and marketing there's

        31       often debate.

        32

        33       Q.   It's all going the one way, isn't it:  public affairs

        34       expressing concern that this would not be well received by

        35       the UN OIP office and that there was a reasonable chance of

        36       them finding out; IS&M having an unofficial opinion from

        37       DFAT that this wasn't the appropriate way to do things.

        38       Where's the tension or debate between those two bodies?

        39       A.   Well, I think it's reflected in the fact that it's

        40       there in black and white that public affairs have expressed

        41       concern.  It seems to me that they've had some debate with

        42       IS&M.

        43

        44       Q.   Their concern is that the UN OIP might find out.  The

        45       concern that public affairs is expressing is a concern that

        46       this matter might be kept secret.

        47       A.   Well, I didn't read it that way.  I don't read it that
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         1       way.

         2

         3       Q.   How else can you read it?

         4       A.   Well, I think it's healthy debate between public

         5       affairs and international sales and marketing.  They're

         6       reflecting their positions.

         7

         8       MR FORREST:   Mr Commissioner, I just wonder whether my

         9       learned friend shouldn't take the witness to the last

        10       sentence of the paragraph immediately above that paragraph,

        11       because, in my submission, it puts public affairs' opinion

        12       as being something a little different than what perhaps the

        13       last paragraph suggests, if read in isolation.

        14

        15       MR AGIUS:   Q.   I'll read the two statements about public

        16       affairs to you:

        17

        18            In Public affairs opinion as long as the

        19            repayment is legal and could not be seen to

        20            be breaking UN Sanctions then we should

        21            proceed (with the proviso that we have an

        22            independent legal opinion to that effect -

        23            see above legal opinion).

        24            Public Affairs also expressed concern that

        25            this would not be well received by the UN

        26            OIP office and that there was a reasonable

        27            chance of them finding out.

        28

        29       Now, IS&M deal with that concern by saying this:

        30

        31            IS&M on the other hand do not want them

        32            involved and feel confident that this issue

        33            could be handled without the need for the

        34            OIP to be consulted.

        35

        36       So what I'm suggesting to you is that there is no tension

        37       between the office of public affairs and IS&M.

        38       A.   I read it differently.  I see tension between public

        39       affairs and IS&M.  I take comfort from the fact that, you

        40       know, there's independent legal opinion.

        41

        42       Q.   In your statement you say, at paragraph 20 - this is

        43       your further statement:

        44

        45            I was on leave from 3 February to

        46            14 February 2003.  I am not sure when I

        47            read exhibit 32.  The other thing I want to
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         1            stress about exhibit 32 is that it

         2            indicates there was a proposal to act on

         3            legal advice.  This was the basis on which

         4            the recommendation was made.  It was always

         5            subject to the approval of management and

         6            the United Nations.

         7

         8       From what material do you draw the conclusion that this

         9       plan was always subject to the approval of the United

        10       Nations?

        11       A.   Just that over the however many years whatever we did

        12       was approved by the United Nations.

        13

        14       Q.   But this whole plan is predicated on the basis that

        15       the United Nations would not be told.

        16       A.   Well, that wasn't my state of mind at the time.

        17

        18       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   That's what it says.

        19       A.   Well, I didn't see that.  I didn't pick that up.

        20

        21       THE COMMISSIONER:   Mr Judd, I think I may have raised this

        22       with you before, the question of the claim by AWB for legal

        23       professional privilege in relation to this advice.  I

        24       should make clear to you my concern.  It seems to me that a

        25       fair reading of this memorandum indicates that there was a

        26       process being contemplated which may well be outside and

        27       contrary to United Nations sanctions.

        28

        29            The memorandum seems to me to make tolerably clear

        30       that a decision had been taken not to tell DFAT officially

        31       about what was going to happen.  It also seems to me to

        32       make clear that a decision had been taken to try to keep

        33       this matter from the United Nations' attention, and the

        34       recommendations at the end intend that only at a very late

        35       point of time, when, on one view, it may be thought to be

        36       too late to stop the transaction, it was one person -

        37       namely, the managing director - that told the Australian

        38       Government what in truth the situation was.

        39

        40            The only basis, it seems to me, on which AWB can

        41       sensibly say that this was a proper transaction to engage

        42       in is if they had sensible legal advice to that effect.  I

        43       think you have told me in the past that the chairman has

        44       indicated or instructed you that legal professional

        45       privilege should be claimed so that this Commission is not

        46       in a position to determine whether or not, in truth, AWB

        47       did have legal advice saying that this was a permissible
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         1       transaction, let alone the quality of that advice.  I think

         2       that's the present position.

         3

         4       MR JUDD:   If I may deal with that in a moment, sir, I want

         5       to come back to the proposition which we would say is

         6       incorrect.  But I can permit you, with respect, to

         7       continue.

         8

         9       THE COMMISSIONER:   What I was going to say to you is that

        10       I will be putting those concerns to the chairman when he is

        11       called, and I will want to know from him a sensible basis

        12       upon which this claim for legal professional privilege is

        13       made.  If it's made, of course, I think the law is that I

        14       cannot draw any inference that it is made.  If that is so,

        15       I will adhere to the law.  But there are others apart from

        16       me as Commissioner who will draw inferences, and they are

        17       not restricted by the law as I am.  The reason of taking

        18       the claim of legal professional privilege is not a matter

        19       for me, but I have to say I have great difficulty in

        20       understanding it, from AWB's perspective.

        21

        22       MR JUDD:   Thank you, Commissioner.  The first point I wish

        23       to make is to clarify the proposition that you, sir,

        24       advanced initially, and that is the purpose for which the

        25       claim is made.  The purpose as I understand it of the claim

        26       having been made is not to deny information to this

        27       Commission.  Legal professional privilege, as the

        28       Commission well understands, is a right which is

        29       acknowledged as fundamental to the administration of

        30       justice, and there are strong policy considerations as to

        31       why a corporation would wish to maintain its claim for

        32       legal professional privilege.

        33

        34            We understand that with a claim for legal professional

        35       privilege you take the good with the bad, and that is

        36       always the case.

        37

        38       THE COMMISSIONER:   Not at all.  You can take it

        39       individually or globally.

        40

        41       MR JUDD:   There are policy considerations, however, sir,

        42       that are not unimportant in the decision that a party may

        43       make to claim legal professional privilege.  One of those

        44       policy considerations is often stated in the cases to

        45       involve an encouragement by the law in frank communications

        46       between solicitor and client or in-house counsel and

        47       client.  The waiving of legal professional privilege on a
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         1       global basis or even on an individual basis has the effect

         2       of perhaps eroding that confidence that is necessary for

         3       the administration of justice and the free exchange of

         4       information between legal advisers and individuals who are

         5       seeking advice.

         6

         7            Of course, sir, the chairman, or any member of the

         8       board, can be asked about the decision.  We may contend to

         9       the Commission at that time that it's not appropriate to

        10       inquire of the board, and I think the Commission could

        11       anticipate that that may be so.  Nevertheless, if the

        12       Commission presses the position and wants to know something

        13       more about it, no doubt the Commission will ask.

        14

        15            As far as individual privilege claims are concerned,

        16       we are deeply conscious, as I mentioned on a previous

        17       occasion - perhaps yesterday or the day before - that there

        18       are circumstances that we observe where individual

        19       witnesses, particularly employees, may be disadvantaged as

        20       a consequence of the claim being made.  It's not their

        21       claim.  We're conscious of that, and we're also conscious

        22       of the fact that, in respect of some of these claims that

        23       are made, that are properly made, at least in a prima facie

        24       sense, there may be circumstances that exist that mean

        25       that, for one reason or another, the claim should not

        26       persist.

        27

        28            That's a matter that I've raised with my learned

        29       friend to try to find a solution where such circumstances

        30       might exist - for example, if there's a question of waiver

        31       and it's appropriate that the claim not be advanced because

        32       in some fashion it has been either impliedly or expressly

        33       waived.  We put aside those circumstances here.  It may be

        34       that the claim for privilege in relation to this matter

        35       falls into such a class.  This is one under consideration

        36       at present.  But as a general principle we would maintain,

        37       sir, that the board has a perfect right, and, indeed, but

        38       for exceptional circumstances, a duty to maintain the claim

        39       for legal professional privilege.  To do otherwise would be

        40       quite an extraordinary step for a public company to

        41       undertake.

        42

        43            What follows from that may be a disadvantage in the

        44       eyes of those who observe the proceeding by saying, "Why

        45       can't the company disclose all to the Commission?" This is

        46       a commission of inquiry and it's not a circumstance where

        47       the company is putting a case or where ultimate issues are
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         1       being resolved.  Were it otherwise, the situation may be

         2       different.

         3

         4            For present at least those are my instructions and

         5       they remain my instructions.  Subject to addressing some of

         6       the issues on a case-by-case basis, as I mentioned a moment

         7       ago, and have under discussion with counsel assisting, that

         8       is the position until it changes.  If it changes, and when

         9       it changes, I'll be the first one to advise the Commission.

        10

        11       THE COMMISSIONER:   Thank you, Mr Judd.  I am familiar with

        12       the policy considerations which stand behind the courts

        13       having upheld the concept of legal professional privilege.

        14       You've started your remarks by saying that the purpose

        15       wasn't to withhold information from this Commission.  I'm

        16       not aware of what the purpose is, obviously, but it is

        17       plain that the taking of the claim for legal professional

        18       privilege has that effect.

        19

        20            I should also say that I do not accept at all that a

        21       public company has a duty to maintain a claim for legal

        22       professional privilege.  I'm not aware of any authority for

        23       it, and it seems to me to be a quite contrary principle.

        24       But perhaps I need say no more about that.

        25

        26       MR JUDD:   Commissioner, the making of a claim before a

        27       tribunal, court or any other organ of inquiry must always

        28       have the effect of denying to that inquiry or court

        29       information.  It is always so, and this is no exception.

        30

        31       THE COMMISSIONER:  It depends upon the extent to which that

        32       information may be material.  The circumstance that I've

        33       been directing my attention to here is, as it seems to me

        34       for the reasons I previously indicated, the only basis that

        35       AWB has for taking the action which it intended to take

        36       seems to be the legal basis, which is not disclosed to the

        37       Commission.  Anyway, I think we've adequately covered this

        38       matter.

        39

        40       MR JUDD:   We would say that it must always be material,

        41       Commissioner.  Thank you.

        42

        43       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes, Mr Agius.

        44

        45       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Could we bring up, please, confidential

        46       exhibit 64C, ELG.0002.0068.  Ms Scales, this is a document

        47       from the executive leadership group relating to a meeting
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         1       that was conducted on 6 May 2003, and it records that you

         2       were a member of the ELG at that time.  That would be

         3       accurate, would it not?

         4       A.   Yes.

         5

         6       Q.   If we go to 0069, the action list would seem to record

         7       that you were in attendance at that meeting; would you

         8       agree?

         9       A.   The action list - I wouldn't have faith or confidence

        10       in that, the action list, but I'd expect I was, from the

        11       front page, in attendance at that ELG meeting.  But I

        12       wouldn't necessarily rely on this action list as a source

        13       of providing me confidence on whether I was there or not.

        14

        15       Q.   Let's go further down the action list.  You'll see

        16       there's a line entry for Iraq, and ELG member initials in

        17       relation to that line entry include Mr Lindberg,

        18       Mr Ingleby, Mr Stott and yourself; is that right?

        19       A.   Yes.

        20

        21       Q.   And the date to be completed is said to be ongoing.

        22       Could we bring up, please, 0087.  This was a report

        23       prepared for that ELG meeting by Messrs Hockey and

        24       Whitwell.  You would have received such a report, would you

        25       not?

        26       A.   Yes.

        27

        28

        29       Q.   If we go to 0088, the next page, under the heading

        30       "Tigris Commission":

        31

        32            Tigris Petroleum (BHP) has asked for an

        33            update of status of their agreement in

        34            light current contract execution and when

        35            they will begin receiving payments.  They

        36            intimated a number of influential people

        37            will need to start receiving funds and that

        38            further delays may cause difficulties going

        39            forward.

        40

        41       That's something that you would have read, Ms Scales?

        42       A.   If I'd read it and I'd seen that, it would have caused

        43       me some concern, but I don't remember reading they

        44       intimated a number of influential people.

        45

        46       Q.   This refers to the Tigris situation as a commission as

        47       at May 2003.  The document that we saw of February 2003
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         1       referred to a debt and your understanding, as I understand

         2       your evidence, was that it was a debt.

         3       A.   Yes.

         4

         5       Q.   What do you understand were the circumstances that

         6       transformed it from a debt into a commission between

         7       February of 2003 and May of 2003?

         8       A.   I don't know.

         9

        10       Q.   What's the role of the ELG, and what was its role in

        11       May of 2003?

        12       A.   Well, it's the executive leadership group of the AWB

        13       company setting strategy for the business and executing

        14       against strategy.

        15

        16       Q.   Reviewing activities as well?

        17       A.   Yes.

        18

        19       Q.   And keeping abreast of the strategy and how the

        20       strategy was being executed?

        21       A.   Strategy for the company, yes.

        22

        23       Q.   Given that your initials appear against Iraq, would

        24       that not mean that within the ELG you had some particular

        25       responsibility in relation to Iraq?

        26       A.   Absolutely.

        27

        28       Q.   Would that not mean that you would have been sure to

        29       read any report dealing with Iraq that was prepared for an

        30       ELG meeting?

        31       A.   Likely, yes.

        32

        33       Q.   Doesn't that mean that it's more likely than not that

        34       you read the paragraph that I read to you?

        35       A.   Well, I don't recollect reading it.  The general

        36       manager of AWBI of course has an interest, an obvious

        37       interest, in the markets around the world, Iraq being one,

        38       and the most paramount of importance to the general manager

        39       and myself is making sure that the shipping program, the

        40       sales program, the prices, the exposures and how it links

        41       to our derivatives book, and so on, which I think I may

        42       have touched on earlier, is - I have some oversight over

        43       that course.  I'm looking at - as the general manager of

        44       AWBI I'm looking at those sorts of parameters, setting the

        45       parameters for the international sales and marketing

        46       ultimately at a net FOB number.

        47
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         1       Q.   Of course you are.

         2       A.   Yes.

         3

         4       Q.   But you're also reading reports that are prepared

         5       especially for the ELG meeting that relate to an area for

         6       which you have responsibility, are you not?

         7       A.   Generally, yes.

         8

         9       Q.   Well, then will you not concede that you read this?

        10       A.   No, because of the statement in there.  It doesn't

        11       today, a number of years on - it doesn't strike me as

        12       something that I do remember reading.

        13

        14       Q.   Mr Whitwell says that he gave an oral briefing in

        15       relation to this report, so even if you hadn't read it, did

        16       you not hear him speak about this matter in the course of

        17       the ELG meeting?

        18       A.   I don't recollect Chris Whitwell at this particular

        19       ELG meeting, but he may well have come to the ELG and given

        20       us a presentation or a --

        21

        22       Q.   Do you see the initials in the left-hand margin?

        23       A.   Yes.

        24

        25       Q.   He says that those initials represent a division of

        26       labour between him and Mr Hockey as to who was going to

        27       speak to which items.  It seems that he had a fairly clear

        28       recollection of it.

        29       A.   He may have, yes.

        30

        31       Q.   Well, isn't it not likely, then, that you did come to

        32       learn of what is set out under the heading "Tigris

        33       Commission"?

        34       A.   Meaning, sorry?

        35

        36       Q.   Doesn't that mean that it's much more likely that you

        37       came to learn of that material, whether you read it or

        38       whether it was simply outlined to you in an oral

        39       briefing --

        40       A.   At no stage do I recollect at any stage anyone from

        41       international sales and marketing coming to me and saying

        42       they intimated a number of influential people would need to

        43       start receiving funds - at no stage.

        44

        45       Q.   Ms Scales, this is the 7th item that I've taken you to

        46       which refers to Tigris, or the Tigris debt, which you say

        47       you have no recollection of reading, even though each one
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         1       of those matters was either specifically directed to you as

         2       an email or presented in a form of a report.  Do you still

         3       say that your evidence about not having a recollection of

         4       reading this is accurate?

         5       A.   Yes.  I do.  I was aware of Tigris.  I've said that, I

         6       think, this morning.  I understood the contract had

         7       increased to recover the debt, so I'm not saying I wasn't

         8       aware of Tigris as an issue.

         9

        10       Q.   But you are saying, in respect of everything bar the

        11       7 February memorandum, that you have no recollection of

        12       reading anything about Tigris?

        13       A.   I've - yes, I don't recollect specific emails that

        14       you've put to me today.

        15

        16       Q.   How can it be that you have no recollection of any

        17       document touching upon Tigris but for the 7 February

        18       memorandum?  Are you being truthful in relation to that --

        19       A.   Yes.

        20

        21       Q.   -- or is it just that you don't want to have to

        22       answer --

        23       A.   No.

        24

        25       Q.   -- for having had knowledge of some of this material

        26       at an earlier date?

        27       A.   No.  As I've said, my general style of management is

        28       to get together with my pool manager and the pricing

        29       manager and people from the pooling team to get a broad

        30       understanding of the risks within the pool model with

        31       respect to sales contracts and overall exposures.  I

        32       haven't generally, as the general manager of AWBI, got

        33       involved in specific details around specific contracts.  We

        34       have an international sales and marketing group that are

        35       much more involved in the day to day, and the head of

        36       international sales and marketing, an executive that heads

        37       that area up.

        38

        39       Q.   Could it be that you simply bypassed what you read

        40       under the heading "Tigris Commission" because, as you read

        41       it, there was nothing extraordinary about that?

        42       A.   I may have skimmed this briefing note, sir, and I'm

        43       looking generally, when I'm reading notes on Iraq, for

        44       specific types of information.

        45

        46       Q.   This is a short, two-page summary, being a report to

        47       the ELG, the first one after the invasion of Iraq.  You
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         1       would have been interested in every word in this document,

         2       would you not?

         3       A.   Not necessarily.  During the war - just to give you

         4       some context, during the period of the invasion the biggest

         5       issues, and I think my diary notes reflect this - the

         6       biggest issue for me was making sure that the team, the

         7       international sales and marketing team and the pooling

         8       team, were across the exposures and the issues that pertain

         9       to those contracts.  So my focus was very much on we've got

        10       a million tonnes of sales in our pool model, we've got a

        11       risk of default here, we've got a war on, what are we doing

        12       to mitigate against those risks?  That would be where my

        13       focus is, and if we ran into default, for example, or we

        14       couldn't execute the contracts, a decision ultimately by me

        15       would need to be made on when we reflected that, if indeed

        16       that occurred in the pool model.

        17

        18            So very much from an exposure perspective I was

        19       clearly interested in what was going on in Iraq, and I

        20       think at that time we had Iraq meetings, regular Iraq

        21       meetings, to discuss those sorts of issues, apart from, of

        22       course, people's safety, and so on, within the company.

        23

        24       Q.   In 2003, and indeed in May of 2003, you would have

        25       been anxious to know about Operation Proton and

        26       Operation Hunta, would you not?

        27       A.   Proton and?

        28

        29       Q.   Hunta - it's spelt H-U-N-T-A.  My Iraqi pronunciation

        30       might not be up to scratch.

        31       A.   I don't know what the correct pronunciation is.

        32       Proton was, I believe, Michael Long in Iraq and I was

        33       interested to see that obviously he was safe in Iraq and

        34       that if there was information coming through, just how we

        35       were positioned as a country in the postwar period to

        36       protect the farmers' interests.

        37

        38       Q.   You would have been interested still in the Iraqi

        39       debt, particularly after the invasion and regime change in

        40       Iraq?

        41       A.   It doesn't - the Iraqi debt - you're talking about the

        42       80 million, sir?

        43

        44       Q.   Yes.

        45       A.   That's something that doesn't strike me as - or

        46       doesn't stand out in my mind that I was particularly

        47       interested in.  I was very interested in performance
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         1       against the contracts as far as the execution goes.  I

         2       can't remember exactly what the world wheat market had done

         3       during that period, but I was obviously looking at it

         4       from - well, through the pool management group at the

         5       numbers and looking at our ultimate exposures.

         6

         7       Q.   Would you have been interested in AWB personnel

         8       meeting with World Food Programme officials to try to

         9       secure more Oil-for-Food contracts?

        10       A.   Sir, I would have been interested in making sure that

        11       our contracts were executed against, and if that required

        12       them meeting with World Food Programme people, then yes.

        13

        14       Q.   Do you see the last entry on that page, 0088?

        15       A.   Under "Travel", is it?

        16

        17       Q.   "Travel":

        18

        19            Meetings will be held next week with World

        20            Food Programme officials in Rome and

        21            Larnaca to try to secure more OFF contracts

        22            and to seek support for priority over

        23            Russian and Indian contracts

        24

        25       You would have been interested in that, would you not?

        26       A.   I would have been interested in making sure our

        27       Australian interests were looked after.

        28

        29       Q.   You would have been interested in that entry, would

        30       you not?

        31       A.   I don't recall them - I wasn't aware that they'd met

        32       with them in Rome, or were going to meet them in Rome, or

        33       wherever it is.  I would have been interested in the fact

        34       we have these contracts, I want to make sure they're

        35       performed against.  Travel of international sales and

        36       marketing staff heading off to Rome, or whatever, is not

        37       something that I'm particularly interested in.  I'm

        38       interested in outcomes.

        39

        40       Q.   This is about outcomes, isn't it, to try to secure

        41       more Oil-for-Food contracts and to seek support for

        42       priority over your competitors, Russia and India.  Surely

        43       you would have been interested in that?

        44       A.   I was interested in making sure our contracts weren't

        45       defaulted against.

        46

        47       Q.   So you would not have read anything that didn't relate
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         1       to that; is that what you say?

         2       A.   No, I'm saying that we had regular meetings.  My diary

         3       notes, my journal notes, I think clearly reflect my state

         4       of mind during that period.  I was always asking the

         5       questions around how successful we'd be in executing

         6       against those contracts, have they been recognised, do we

         7       have counter party exposure risks, what are the potential

         8       financial implications for the pool, is it extreme, should

         9       we be looking at provisioning in the pool model or

        10       reflecting a change in the equities that we report to the

        11       farmers on a fortnightly basis?  They're the sorts of

        12       things I'd be interested in.

        13

        14       Q.   You wouldn't be interested in future contracts under

        15       the Oil-for-Food Program after their regime change in Iraq?

        16       A.   I'd be interested in doing future business in Iraq.

        17       It was critical.

        18

        19       Q.   What I'm suggesting to you, Ms Scales, is this:  you

        20       would have read every word of this report, being the first

        21       one about what was happening in Iraq after the invasion?

        22       A.   What I'm saying to you, Mr Agius, is there are many

        23       ways for me to have gathered information.  There were

        24       crisis meetings occurring --

        25

        26       Q.   What's the answer to my question?

        27       A.   I would have been interested in many of the emails

        28       coming to me, yes.  I have a tendency --

        29

        30       Q.   What's the answer to my question about whether you

        31       would have been interested in reading every word of this

        32       report - not anything else you were doing, just that?

        33       A.   Okay.  I would not have been interested in reading

        34       every word of an email.

        35

        36       Q.   Of a report prepared especially for an ELG meeting

        37       that you attended, being the first report after the

        38       invasion of Iraq:  what do you say to the suggestion that

        39       you would have been interested in reading every word of

        40       that report?

        41       A.   I would have been interested in the general parameters

        42       and the risk parameters that were being presented to us.  I

        43       don't recall Chris Whitwell or Darryl Hockey, I think it

        44       is - not Dom Hogan, Darryl Hockey - presenting to the ELG.

        45       I don't recall that.

        46

        47       Q.   I'm not asking you what you recall.  I'll ask you
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         1       again:  would you not have been interested in reading every

         2       word of this report?

         3       A.   As I've said, I was certainly interested in what was

         4       going on in Iraq as it pertained to the exposures in the

         5       pool.  I'm not necessarily going to be interested in travel

         6       and meetings.  So the answer to your question is not every

         7       word on this email, or this report.

         8

         9       THE COMMISSIONER:   Is that a convenient time?

        10

        11       MR AGIUS:   Yes, thank you.

        12

        13       THE COMMISSIONER:   I'll take a brief adjournment.

        14

        15       SHORT ADJOURNMENT

        16

        17       MR AGIUS:   Could we bring up exhibit 34, please,

        18       AWB.0129.0298.  This email wasn't sent to you, Ms Scales,

        19       but you'll see that at the top of the page there's an email

        20       from Mr Whitwell to Ms Lyons, Mr Cooper and Messrs Geary,

        21       Stott and Hockey, and Mr Whitwell says:

        22

        23            Following on from last Iraq brief to ELG --

        24

        25       and the "last Iraq brief to ELG" is the one that I was just

        26       asking you about --

        27

        28            where it was agreed we would pay Tigris

        29            commission, I received the following from

        30            Tigris which I have reviewed.

        31

        32       He goes on to make comments on a draft of an agreement that

        33       had been forwarded by Mr Davidson Kelly to Mr Whitwell.

        34       Mr Whitwell is suggesting in this email that it was agreed

        35       at the last ELG meeting that the Tigris commission would be

        36       paid, and it seems that, following upon that agreement,

        37       there was communication with Mr Davidson Kelly and

        38       Mr Davidson Kelly has sent a draft of the agreement, which

        39       he wants AWB to execute.  Would you agree with

        40       Mr Whitwell's summary that at the last ELG it was agreed

        41       that the Tigris commission would be paid?

        42       A.   This is what has been bothering me over the last week

        43       or so, because I don't have any recollection that I was at

        44       any meeting where it was formally agreed or agreed to

        45       collect the Tigris debt, and this is what I've been racking

        46       my brains with over the last week or so as evidence has

        47       come forth from the Commission.



            .17/2/06 (29)              2886     S F SCALES (Mr Agius)

                            Transcript produced by ComputerReporters

�









         1

         2            So when I read, "following on from last Iraq brief to

         3       ELG", I'm not sure - I don't recollect Chris being at an

         4       ELG meeting where we actually said, "Approve the Tigris

         5       debt recovery or commission", so it's been playing on my

         6       mind for the last couple of weeks.  I don't believe I was

         7       at any meeting where we actually agreed to recover the

         8       Tigris debt.

         9

        10       Q.   The congruity wouldn't have been lost on you, though,

        11       that in the Iraq brief for the 6 May ELG meeting there is a

        12       reference to what is in substance pressure from

        13       Norman Davidson Kelly to start receiving payments.  You'll

        14       recall he's reported as having said something about people

        15       will need to be paid, otherwise matters can't go forward.

        16       So there's that pressure which is referred to in the ELG

        17       brief --

        18       A.   Yes.

        19

        20       Q.   -- on Iraq for 6 May.  Then there's this email from

        21       Mr Whitwell saying, "Well, at the last ELG meeting it was

        22       agreed that we would pay the Tigris commission".  The

        23       strongest inference would seem to be that the matter was

        24       discussed at the ELG meeting, that there was an agreement

        25       to pay the Tigris commission, and that, as a result,

        26       Mr Davidson Kelly is forwarding an agreement so that the

        27       arrangements between AWB and Tigris can be sorted in a

        28       written document.

        29       A.   It certainly reads that way.  I just can't be sure

        30       whether there was a subsequent ELG meeting or, you know,

        31       whether Chris actually got on.  Often in exec meetings

        32       there's an agenda.  We don't necessarily get to all items

        33       on the agenda.  6 May versus 28 May, there may have been

        34       another ELG meeting, but I just don't recall that decision.

        35

        36       Q.   In your statement you say at paragraph 23:

        37

        38            In or about July 2004 --

        39

        40       this is your further statement --

        41

        42            I was informed by David Johnson (National

        43            Pool Manager) that the contracts 1670 and

        44            1680 sent to the UN were silent on Tigris.

        45

        46       In what context were you informed of that information?  How

        47       did you come to be talking about that in July of 2004,
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         1       given that the contracts had first been sent to the UN in

         2       December of 2003?

         3       A.   I can't - I had a meeting with David Johnson in July

         4       2004, and since this statement I have a diary note that

         5       I've seen, so it was mid July, I think, that I had this

         6       meeting with David, the pool manager.  I can't recollect

         7       whether I actually asked to see David Johnson with respect

         8       to Tigris or he came to see me, so I can't really remember

         9       the circumstances, but I believe there was - he may have

        10       come to see me with respect to a draft Tigris agreement, or

        11       it may be that he came to see me or I asked to see him,

        12       because Michael Long was I think - "pestering" is a bit of

        13       a hard word, but I think putting a bit of pressure on to do

        14       something about Tigris.  So I asked to see - David Johnson

        15       came to me, we had a meeting and it was in that meeting

        16       that I wanted - I was seeking clarification.  It's July

        17       2004, it's some months - I'd say probably a year - since

        18       I'd seen anything on Tigris, so I was seeking

        19       clarification, sir.

        20

        21       Q.   Can we bring up AWB.0270.0013.  You mentioned having

        22       seen a diary note.  When did you see a diary note?

        23       A.   When I was going through the data room just to get

        24       some further clarification on my state of mind, probably a

        25       week or so ago, sir, maybe 10 days ago.  Yes, that's it.

        26

        27       Q.   This is one that we received only yesterday, and you

        28       saw it a week or 10 days ago?

        29       A.   Yes.

        30

        31       Q.   Is it a note that relates to a meeting that you had on

        32       13 July 2004?

        33       A.   Yes, it's - yes.

        34

        35       Q.   And it relates to Tigris?

        36       A.   Yes.

        37

        38       Q.   I wonder if you could help us read it.  "BHP", the

        39       word "donated", underlined, circled, with a little cross

        40       against it?

        41       A.   Yes.

        42

        43       Q.   "Cargo wheat to IGB".  What's --

        44       A.   "With assumption payment in the future" - sorry about

        45       my writing.

        46

        47       Q.   A dash --
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         1       A.   "They" - that's shorthand for "they" - "paid AWB for

         2       cargo", meaning BHP.  Sir, if I could put some context.  I

         3       was asking David Johnson, the pool manager, just to give me

         4       an understanding of Tigris and to refresh myself on Tigris.

         5

         6       Q.   And this is what you were told?

         7       A.   Yes, this is me writing notes on that meeting.

         8

         9       Q.   Was this news to you?

        10       A.   Well, I wasn't across the - since the hearing has been

        11       going, I wasn't across the 1995/1996, I think it was,

        12       decisions or discussions, so I was getting further

        13       background information on Tigris.  So I can't be sure and

        14       say to you today that it was news to me, but I was seeking

        15       further information on it, sir.

        16

        17       Q.   I wonder, with your assistance, could we keep going

        18       through your notes?

        19       A.   Yes.

        20

        21       Q.   "The arrangement"?

        22       A.   "The arrangement" - I think that might be an "equals"

        23       sign, just me writing quickly, "Agreement", I think, and

        24       "transfer of fund", it probably should say "funds", "from

        25       1670 and 1680".  I've written $7 - it may be $7m or $7 a

        26       tonne, but it's not clear - "to Tigris at the request of

        27       IGB".  Then in brackets - if you want me to continue - it

        28       says, "(Tigris = Co set up by BHP to receive future

        29       payment)".

        30

        31       Q.   Then there's a line dropping down from that line to a

        32       dot point which reads, if I'm right, "The  counter parties

        33       in agreement equal I/Tigris"?

        34       A.   Yes.

        35

        36       Q.   Is "I" a reference to AWBI?

        37       A.   Yes.

        38

        39       Q.   Are you there referring to an agreement between the

        40       AWBI and Tigris in relation to the transfer of funds from

        41       1670 and 1680 to Tigris?

        42       A.   I think I'm in my mind at the time - I think I'm -

        43       what's going through my mind is we're receiving money, I

        44       think it's further in the note, but we're receiving money

        45       through those contracts.  So we've got dollars in AWBI's

        46       account.  I think I'm pretty much asking the question or

        47       stating the fact that we need an agreement between AWBI and
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         1       Tigris.

         2

         3       Q.   If we go to the next dot point under the words "future

         4       agreement)", beginning "IGB" - could you help us with that

         5       note?

         6       A.   Yes.  "IGB instructed to inflate sales contract" -

         7       "CAK" is my shorthand for "contract" - "1670, 1680 by US$7

         8       to repay cargo to Tigris".  Then I think I've written "Out

         9       of which commission negotiating for providing service to

        10       facilitate gathering money".  Then it says "internal debate

        11       US$2m who gets it".

        12

        13       Q.   That arrow --

        14       A.   Yes.

        15

        16       Q.   -- does that mean "leading to", or does it not have

        17       that meaning, does it mean something else?

        18       A.   No, it doesn't mean "leading to".  It's just - $2m,

        19       will AWI or AWBL - who would be the beneficiary of that

        20       $2m, I think.

        21

        22       Q.   Where was the $2m coming from?

        23       A.   Well, this is what I'm being told, sir, in the

        24       meeting, and I believe it's coming from half a million

        25       dollars in commission for collecting the debt, and I

        26       believe from foreign exchange position - hedging positions

        27       that meant there was, you know, some further dollars

        28       attributed to this Tigris.

        29

        30       Q.   So so far this is just information that you're being

        31       given --

        32       A.   Yes.

        33

        34       Q.   -- with no input from you?

        35       A.   Yes.  Yes.

        36

        37       Q.   Then we have the line about "the counter parties in

        38       agreement equals I/Tigris"?

        39       A.   Just the way I've written it with the line circling

        40       down, I think that's probably where I'm starting to think

        41       about what needs to be done.

        42

        43       Q.   Then the next line "The issue is"?

        44       A.   "The issue is can this be seen as AWB taking money",

        45       and I don't know if that's "or", but "or facilitating ($$)

        46       from IGB outside OFP", which is Oil-for-Food Program.  It's

        47       a question I've raised.
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         1

         2       THE COMMISSIONER:   Good question it is, too.

         3

         4       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Did you get an answer?

         5       A.   Not from the pool manager, and that set me on the path

         6       of seeking legal advice.  I wasn't comfortable with what I

         7       was hearing.

         8

         9       Q.   We'll just go through your note and I'll come back to

        10       that.  The next line is an asterisked dot point, "AWBI has

        11       received", money?

        12       A.   Dollars, yes.  "IGB/" - I don't know why, but "UN OFF

        13       program", and I think that's a "that", "TT" is just

        14       shorthand for "that", "inflated by US$7.00/mt", a metric

        15       tonne.

        16

        17       Q.   The next question?

        18       A.   "Does I", which is AWI, "/IGB 1670/80", "CAK" is

        19       "contract", "reference Tigris", so I was asking the

        20       question.

        21

        22       Q.   It seems you got the answer?

        23       A.   I did, I got the answer, which was no.

        24

        25       Q.   Which was no.  Then your next dot point, which you've

        26       numbered 2?

        27       A.   I don't know why I've numbered it "2", yes.

        28

        29       Q.   "Now AWBI needs to pay Tigris $7/mt", and --

        30       A.   That word underneath is "agreement".  I think I'm

        31       saying - I've learnt that the contract to the United

        32       Nations was silent on Tigris.

        33

        34       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Mr Johnson told you that?

        35       A.   Yes.  And so I was concerned.  That's why I've written

        36       "no" and underlined it, and I'm thinking I've got money in

        37       an AWBI account and the issue is we need to pay Tigris, so

        38       where does that leave me?  And thus I need to see an

        39       agreement, or I need an agreement drafted and we need to

        40       get this in train.

        41

        42       MR AGIUS:   Q.   And your next line is "need set up meeting

        43       with AL" - that's Andrew Lindberg?

        44       A.   Yes.

        45

        46       Q.   "ML", Michael Long?

        47       A.   Yes.
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         1

         2       Q.   "PAG", Mr Geary?

         3       A.   Yes.

         4

         5       Q.   "DKJ"?

         6       A.   That's David Johnson, the pool manager.

         7

         8       Q.   And "JC"?

         9       A.   That's Jim Cooper.

        10

        11       Q.   And then "Need briefing note"?

        12       A.   Yes.

        13

        14       Q.   Then the last line, "Timeline for decision"?

        15       A.   Yes.

        16

        17       Q.   Which decision?

        18       A.   Well, in my mind, the decision to pay Tigris, the

        19       decision around - what this led to, if I could, for me was

        20       I had some concerns, and either myself directly or David

        21       Johnson - and I can't be sure who, but I think it's more

        22       likely that it was me - wanted - I wanted legal clarity on

        23       whether these were real concerns and what was to be done

        24       about that.  So I asked - I think it's I need a briefing

        25       note.  I wanted David Johnson, the pool manager, to provide

        26       me with a briefing note, such that I could cover off some

        27       of these issues, and then, from there, I think it was that

        28       I then sought - really sought Jim Cooper and senior legal

        29       counsel to provide advice.

        30

        31       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Did you get the briefing note?

        32       A.   I didn't get a briefing note from David that was

        33       written by David, but I have subsequently seen an email

        34       that was sent to David and then he forwarded it on to me,

        35       and I believe that that was in response to my request for a

        36       briefing note.  I think it was a few days later that that

        37       email came through.

        38

        39       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Was that an email from Mr Whitwell?

        40       A.   No, I think David's email to me was forwarding on an

        41       email from Rosemary Peavey, and I think it was 16 July,

        42       having looked at documents in the last week.

        43

        44       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Rosemary Peavey?

        45       A.   Yes.  She's the junior lawyer from the legal

        46       department within the company.

        47
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         1       Q.   How could she provide you a briefing note?

         2       A.   Well, I was asking David Johnson for a briefing note,

         3       and he forwarded on to me some information, I think, from

         4       Rosemary Peavey, and he'd obviously - well, it seems to me

         5       he'd obviously asked some questions and received a

         6       response.

         7

         8       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Could we bring up AWB.0216.0086.  Is this

         9       the email that you received from David Johnson?

        10       A.   Yes.

        11

        12       Q.   Forwarding Rosemary Peavey's email to him, copied to

        13       Michael Long, Mr Whitwell and Mr McCormack?

        14       A.   Yes.

        15

        16       Q.   We don't have the portion over which legal

        17       professional privilege is claimed.  May we take it that

        18       that portion records something from the legal section of

        19       AWB?

        20       A.   I think so.

        21

        22       Q.   I take it this is one email you did read?

        23       A.   Yes.

        24

        25       Q.   And you remember reading it?

        26       A.   Yes.  I was very concerned at the time.

        27

        28       Q.   You would have read, then, in the last dot point that

        29       we can see on the page where there's a paragraph:

        30

        31            AWB agreed to assist Tigris in recovering

        32            its debt in exchange for Tigris assisting

        33            AWB in future wheat sales into Iraq.  With

        34            Tigris' help, AWB was able to secure the

        35            sale of approximately one million tonnes of

        36            wheat to Iraq.

        37

        38       Now, you knew that wasn't true, didn't you?

        39       A.   I wasn't sure at this stage, sir.  I was confused.

        40

        41       Q.   And what did you do to assist you with that confusion?

        42       A.   Well, what I did was I read this email, I saw it was

        43       from a junior in the legal department, and I believe I

        44       wanted to - I believe I met with Jim Cooper, or had a

        45       conversation over the phone, raising my concerns.  I didn't

        46       want someone in our legal department that was relatively

        47       junior to be having carriage of this and providing me with
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         1       this information.  I wanted senior, quality, if I could

         2       say, advice.  So I took it to Jim Cooper.  I'm not sure if

         3       it was then and there, but at some stage I did insist that

         4       I wanted external - I wanted Jim to get external advice as

         5       well.

         6

         7       Q.   What did you want external advice on?  What aspect of

         8       this did you want external advice on?

         9       A.   Well, I was concerned about whether any United Nations

        10       sanctions had been breached and whether it was therefore

        11       appropriate for me to authorise payment to Tigris, and I

        12       think I wanted to be assured in my mind of those points and

        13       I certainly wasn't interested in pursuing this until I got

        14       that comfort from the legal team.

        15

        16       Q.   What was there that raised a concern in your mind

        17       about whether UN sanctions had been breached?

        18       A.   Well, it was from my diary note, my discussion with

        19       David, really, that got me concerned.  I have to say I

        20       wasn't happy, because it had been, I understood from David,

        21       silent on Tigris, the contracts, and I wanted clarity

        22       around that, because that's not how I understood things.

        23       That being said, it was really from that diary note,

        24       Mr Agius, that - and then the subsequent response from

        25       David from Rosemary that I thought I'd like to get senior

        26       advice.

        27

        28       Q.   So what Mr Johnson had told you was that the contracts

        29       1670 and 1680 had in fact been inflated by a figure of

        30       either $7 a tonne, or thereabouts, or $7m?

        31       A.   Yes.

        32

        33       Q.   Which is the same thing, because you knew those

        34       contracts were for a million tonnes; is that right?

        35       A.   Yes.

        36

        37       Q.   He also told you that the contracts themselves did not

        38       reference Tigris?

        39       A.   I asked the question, yes.

        40

        41       Q.   Please don't understand that I'm in any way being

        42       critical of this.  I'm trying to discover what your thought

        43       processes were, and then I'll ask you about your

        44       conversation with Mr Cooper.  So you knew from Mr Johnson -

        45       accepting what he told you - that the contracts had

        46       inflated prices and that they didn't reference Tigris.  You

        47       would then have concluded that, if there was no reference
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         1       to Tigris in the contracts, the contracts would have

         2       indicated a price for the wheat to which they referred

         3       which was not in fact the real price for the wheat?

         4       A.   Yes.  Yes.

         5

         6       Q.   And you raised yourself the issue:

         7

         8            The issue is can this be seen as AWB taking

         9            money or facilitating money from the IGB

        10            outside the Oil-for-Food Program?

        11

        12       A.   Yes.

        13

        14       Q.   By that you meant not just outside the Oil-for-Food

        15       Program, but in breach of the UN sanctions?

        16       A.   Well, yes.

        17

        18       Q.   So you raised the question?

        19       A.   Yes.

        20

        21       Q.   Did Mr Johnson tell you what his source of information

        22       was?

        23       A.   No.

        24

        25       Q.   Was he reporting back to you in response to an initial

        26       inquiry that you had raised, or was it just - yes, this

        27       conversation that we see noted on 13 July?

        28

        29       THE COMMISSIONER:   In your diary.

        30

        31       MR AGIUS:   Q.   In your diary.

        32       A.   Sorry.

        33

        34       Q.   Had you sent him off to go and find this information

        35       and to give it to you?

        36       A.   At the bottom, I think, of that diary note - I don't

        37       have it in front of me - I'm asking for a further briefing

        38       on it, yes.

        39

        40       Q.   But you had sent him off - before you had the

        41       conversation with him on 13 July, you'd sent him off to ask

        42       a whole lot of questions of various people to give you

        43       answers --

        44       A.   No.

        45

        46       Q.   -- or had he just come to you with this information?

        47       A.   I don't think I sent him off to get those answers.
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         1

         2       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   You said he either came to you or

         3       you asked him to come and see you --

         4       A.   Yes.

         5

         6       Q.   -- as a result of some pressure Mr Long was putting on

         7       to have this matter sorted out?

         8       A.   Well, I'm not really that clear.  I can't remember

         9       whether David Johnson came to see me with a draft Tigris

        10       agreement or - I know around this time in July that there

        11       was a little bit of email traffic on the need to progress

        12       Tigris, and I was copied in on maybe one or two of them.

        13       So in my mind what's playing out is, well, Tigris - it's

        14       been some time since I've even thought about Tigris.  I

        15       wanted clarity around the status of the contracts - you

        16       know, in my position, I know you might think this is silly,

        17       but how are we going executing against certain contracts?

        18       I'm not involved in the day to day, per se, at that point.

        19       So I don't know if it was me saying to David "come in and

        20       see me, I want to talk to you about Tigris", because

        21       there'd been some email traffic, or Michael had been

        22       pursuing Tigris with a little bit of pressure, or whether

        23       David came and saw me and said, "Look, here's a draft

        24       agreement, I can approve it or I get you to approve it".

        25       I'm just not clear on exactly why that meeting came about,

        26       I'm sorry.

        27

        28       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Can I suggest another context in which the

        29       meeting might have arisen?

        30       A.   Sure.

        31

        32       MR AGIUS:   Might I first tender this diary entry for

        33       13 July 2004, AWB.0270.0013.

        34

        35       EXHIBIT #341 DIARY ENTRY DATED 13/7/2004,

        36       BARCODED AWB.0270.0013

        37

        38       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Can I take you to what I believe is

        39       confidential exhibit 94C.  I think it may now be public

        40       exhibit 328, WST.0004.0056 - exhibit 328.  This is an

        41       exchange of emails a week earlier - actually, five days

        42       earlier - between Mr Long and Mr Sheridan.  It seems you

        43       were copied in on the last of them, which is at the top of

        44       the page.  I'll start at the bottom.  You were copied in on

        45       the first one as well.  8 July 2004 at 3.51pm.  It's

        46       actually directed to you, Mr Long and Mr Whitwell from

        47       Mr Sheridan.  Mr Sheridan says:
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         1

         2            Michael/Chris/Sarah,

         3

         4            as per request from WEA for Iraq contracts,

         5            Nigel has provided a set of documents which

         6            we are advised includes:  --

         7

         8       then there's a reference to --

         9

        10            17 AWB Limited Export Sales

        11            Contracts...between 20/1/00 and 23/6/02 (14

        12            of these are with Grain Board of Iraq,

        13            2 with Savas and 1 with CSC)

        14            UN Approvals to Ship

        15            Applicable customs clearances

        16

        17            Can you confirm it is okay to release

        18            documents to WEA...

        19

        20       Then Michael Long responds that he's reviewed the

        21       documents, "There is nothing that hasn't already been seen

        22       by DFAT/UN", "OK to go" from his perspective.  Might it

        23       have been against the context of a request from the WEA for

        24       Iraqi contracts that your interest in 1670 and 1680 and the

        25       repayment of the Tigris debt was aroused?

        26       A.   No.

        27

        28       Q.   Well, these emails are exchanged on Thursday, 8 July,

        29       Friday, the 9th, Saturday, Sunday, the 10th and 11th.  By

        30       Tuesday you're speaking to Mr Johnson about contracts 1670

        31       and 1680.  They are evidently two that did not go to the

        32       WEA.  Are you sure there's no connection?

        33       A.   Absolutely.

        34

        35       Q.   Do you know why 1670 and 1680 did not go to the WEA?

        36       A.   No.

        37

        38       Q.   And you're quite clear that this conversation with

        39       Mr Johnson had nothing to do with the WEA request which the

        40       AWBI was responding to the week before?

        41       A.   From my perspective, quite clear on that.  The WEA

        42       request information regularly, and Steve Sheridan is what

        43       we call a regulatory manager, he reports to me, and he's,

        44       if you like, the conduit for information that goes to the

        45       Wheat Export Authority and, as far as I'm concerned, it's

        46       just another request from the Wheat Export Authority for

        47       information.
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         1

         2       Q.   Can I bring you back to the email from David Johnson

         3       to you forwarding Rosemary Peavey's email to him,

         4       AWB.0216.0086.

         5

         6       MR AGIUS:   I'll tender that, Mr Commissioner.

         7

         8       EXHIBIT #342 EMAIL FROM DAVID JOHNSON TO SARAH SCALES,

         9       DATED 16/7/2004, FORWARDING ROSEMARY PEAVEY'S EMAIL,

        10       BARCODED AWB.0216.0086

        11

        12       MR AGIUS:   Q.   We don't know, and I don't want you to

        13       tell me, what's in the blanked-out paragraph which has

        14       written over "LPP", so please bear that in mind, but you

        15       raise the issue in your diary note of 13 July 04:

        16

        17            The issue is can this be seen as AWB taking

        18            money or facilitating dollars from IGB

        19            outside OFF?

        20

        21       We don't have an email from you to legal posing that

        22       question.  Is that the question you posed for Mr Johnson to

        23       obtain an answer to?

        24       A.   Well, I certainly raised it in my diary note, and I

        25       believe I raised it with David.  I saw it as a serious

        26       issue.

        27

        28       Q.   I understand that, but that was the big issue you

        29       identified, wasn't it?

        30       A.   Yes.

        31

        32       Q.   That was the one that was giving you most concern?

        33       A.   Well, the other one, Mr Agius, was the contract had

        34       been silent on Tigris.

        35

        36       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   So that one couldn't distinguish

        37       between recovery of debt and price of wheat?

        38       A.   Yes.  So - yes.

        39

        40       MR AGIUS:   Just excuse me for a moment.

        41

        42       Q.   Did you get an answer to that question?

        43       A.   Not from David.

        44

        45       Q.   But did you get an answer to that question in this

        46       email?

        47       A.   I'd have to read the email, sorry.  Not from what's on
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         1       those bullet points.  It may have been in the privileged

         2       section.

         3

         4       Q.   Well, I don't want to know what the answer was, but

         5       did that privileged section provide you with an answer to

         6       the question?

         7       A.   I couldn't sit here and say categorically yes or no,

         8       sorry, but I did take comfort from this email, some

         9       comfort.

        10

        11       Q.   Did you see Mr Johnson's email to Rosemary Peavey

        12       which gave rise to her email to him?

        13       A.   I don't believe so, but I may have.  I was copied on,

        14       I may have.

        15

        16       Q.   You had this, then, from Mr Johnson and, through him,

        17       from Rosemary Peavey, by 16 July.  Did you go and see

        18       Mr Cooper soon thereafter?

        19       A.   Whether I actually went and saw Jim or had a

        20       conversation with him, I can't remember precisely, but I

        21       certainly believe I discussed this with Jim.

        22

        23       Q.   What was your purpose in discussing it with him?

        24       A.   Well, to raise my concern and to seek senior legal

        25       advice on our position.

        26

        27       Q.   I don't want to know what he said to you, because I

        28       suspect there may be a claim for privilege over that, but

        29       did he give you an answer there and then?

        30       A.   I think - I can't recollect whether he gave me an

        31       answer there and then other than to say that he would get

        32       external legal advice, which I believe is what happened.

        33

        34       Q.   Did you tell him in the course of your conversation

        35       that you were not aware of the information that is in

        36       Ms Peavey's email, and I'll read it to you:

        37

        38            AWB agreed to assist Tigris in recovering

        39            its debt in exchange for Tigris assisting

        40            AWB in future wheat sales into Iraq.  With

        41            Tigris' help, AWB was able to secure the

        42            sale of approximately one million tonnes of

        43            wheat to Iraq.  These sales were all

        44            executed in the period after the April 2003

        45            war.

        46

        47       A.   I can't recall whether I raised that specifically with
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         1       Jim, with Mr Cooper.

         2

         3       Q.   That is not information that you had been given in the

         4       February 2003 memo which you say you read in about March of

         5       2003?

         6       A.   No.

         7

         8       Q.   So the first time you get that information is in this

         9       email that Mr Johnson forwarded to you on 16 July 2004?

        10       A.   I believe so.

        11

        12       Q.   Because it's not in your note of your conversation

        13       with Mr Johnson on 13 July?

        14       A.   No.  But if I could, David Johnson is - you know, he's

        15       on the hop there.  I'm asking questions and I'm sure that,

        16       you know, he's not close to the day to day, so he's giving

        17       me the best and fullest answer he can in that meeting and

        18       probably seeking further clarification himself.

        19

        20       Q.   So he's giving you the best and fullest answer, or at

        21       least that's what you believe?

        22       A.   Yes.

        23

        24       Q.   You're interested in this and you ask the right

        25       question, if I may say so, with respect.  What did you do

        26       when you received this additional information?  Did you go

        27       back to the IS&M or go back to the source to find out where

        28       this additional information that you read for the first

        29       time in Rosemary Peavey's email had come from?

        30       A.   I don't recall doing that specifically.  I may have

        31       asked the question did Tigris provide additional - did

        32       Tigris provide a service, and I do recollect - and whether

        33       that was directly with the account managers or with David

        34       Johnson, I do understand that, you know, at that stage, or

        35       earlier, there had been risk to business.  I think it went

        36       from half a million tonnes to a million tonnes.  So it

        37       didn't surprise me overly.  That's my recollection, sir.

        38

        39       Q.   You say in your statement - this is your further

        40       statement - at paragraph 23:

        41

        42            In about July 2004 I was informed by David

        43            Johnson...that the contracts 1670 and 1680

        44            sent to the UN were silent on Tigris.  I

        45            asked him to clarify what stage we were at

        46            in progressing the execution of those

        47            contracts.  I had always proceeded on the
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         1            assumption that those contracts were UN

         2            approved.  I had at this stage seen a draft

         3            agreement regarding Tigris, but I cannot be

         4            clear on the details.  It is likely that

         5            David Johnson showed me it.

         6

         7       Did then Mr Johnson show you a copy of an agreement between

         8       the AWB or the AWBI and Tigris in the form of a service

         9       agreement?

        10       A.   I can't recall.  I do recall at the time saying "I'm

        11       not interested in drafts" to David, so he must have brought

        12       in - or it must have been presented to me some draft

        13       agreement, and I said "I'm not interested in drafts.  As a

        14       result of our conversation, I do want clarification on the

        15       legality of Tigris."

        16

        17       Q.   Can I ask you to read paragraphs 23 and 24 together,

        18       and can I put this proposition to you:  it would seem, on a

        19       reading of those two paragraphs together, that the

        20       conversation that you had with Mr Johnson was in two

        21       stages, that you were told something and Mr Johnson came

        22       back to you?

        23       A.   Sir, if I may, I believe when we were working on this

        24       witness statement, it was prior to me seeing the diary

        25       note.

        26

        27       Q.   Does that mean that we should read your statement as

        28       reflecting only one meeting with David Johnson on this

        29       point?

        30       A.   I think so, yes.

        31

        32       Q.   You told us that you'd gone to see Mr Cooper.  Did

        33       Mr Cooper get back to you?

        34       A.   I think what this did was set in train Jim going out

        35       and getting external legal advice, and I believe reviewing

        36       the whole Tigris - I don't know if there was a file, but

        37       the whole Tigris event, if I can call it that.

        38

        39       Q.   Just so that we have this in a temporal context, that

        40       means that the external legal advice that was obtained on

        41       this issue was obtained after the AWB had already executed

        42       the contracts which themselves contained an inflated price

        43       for wheat?

        44       A.   The legal advice that Jim was seeking at that time,

        45       yes.  I'm not sure if there was legal advice taken, I

        46       thought there was, at the time of --

        47
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         1       Q.   Inflating the contract?

         2       A.   -- the business being transacted, yes.

         3

         4       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Back in December the previous

         5       year?

         6       A.   Probably when the business was done in 2002, so

         7       18 months earlier.

         8

         9       MR AGIUS:   Q.   When you say you're not sure, do you have

        10       any recollection of seeing any advice which pre-dated the

        11       entering of those two contracts, 1670 and 1680, in December

        12       of 2002?

        13       A.   I don't believe I did.

        14

        15       THE COMMISSIONER:   Is my recollection correct:  we've not

        16       heard of any such advice?

        17

        18       MR AGIUS:   No, not to my recollection.

        19

        20       MR JUDD:   I was asked the specific question by you, sir,

        21       and I responded I think probably a week ago now to the

        22       effect that, as presently instructed, we're not aware of

        23       any such advice.

        24

        25       THE COMMISSIONER:   Thank you, Mr Judd.

        26

        27       MR AGIUS:   Q.  So such legal advice we are aware of, aside

        28       from that which has been edited out of the electronic

        29       document, seems to have been obtained after AWB, or AWBI -

        30       an immaterial distinction for this purpose - had already

        31       executed contracts 1670 and 1680 and had amassed the pool

        32       of money - the $7m-odd or $8m-odd - in an AWBI account?

        33       A.   Yes.

        34

        35       Q.   So may we take it, then, that the question that you

        36       asked Mr Cooper didn't concern the legality of that

        37       process - that is, the recouping of the money by inflating

        38       the contracts; is that right?

        39       A.   No, I think the question I would have asked is the

        40       legality of that, in light of the fact that the contracts,

        41       as I discovered then, were silent on Tigris.  So I would

        42       have asked that question I'm sure, and then, from my

        43       perspective, it was we've got money sitting in the AWBI

        44       account, I want to make sure, if I'm asked to authorise

        45       payment of that, that everything is legal and there's an

        46       agreement to support that.

        47
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         1       Q.   Yes, that's what I'm coming to.  It seems that there

         2       were at least two issues in your mind.  One was the actual

         3       process by which AWB had come into possession of the

         4       money - was that legal or lawful --

         5       A.   Yes.

         6

         7       Q.   -- was it in breach of the sanctions, however it's

         8       phrased - I think you phrase it best yourself in your diary

         9       note.  The second problem would seem to be what should AWB

        10       or AWBI do with that money, can it lawfully pass it to

        11       Tigris?

        12       A.   Yes.

        13

        14       Q.   Have I got that right?

        15       A.   Yes.

        16

        17       Q.   Were they the two issues that were exciting your mind

        18       or occupying your mind on this topic when you spoke to

        19       Mr Cooper?

        20       A.   I believe so.

        21

        22       Q.   You had seen by that time a draft agreement which

        23       Mr Johnson had shown you?

        24       A.   David, I believe, provided me with a draft agreement.

        25       He may have brought it in with him, I'm not sure.  I

        26       wasn't, frankly, interested in that draft agreement at that

        27       point in time until I got advice from Jim Cooper.  So I

        28       don't --

        29

        30       Q.   I appreciate that you weren't interested in it, but

        31       did you see it?

        32       A.   I believe David had it with him, and I would have seen

        33       it, or it would have been presented to me.

        34

        35       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   With him when you had your first

        36       conversation in July?

        37       A.   Yes.

        38

        39       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Did you keep it?

        40       A.   I don't believe so, no.

        41

        42       Q.   Did you notice that it was in the form of a service

        43       agreement between AWB and Tigris?

        44       A.   No, I didn't notice that, sir.

        45

        46       Q.   One of the things you had noted in your 13 July diary

        47       entry, that counter parties in the agreement equal
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         1       I/Tigris.  Was that a reference to the agreement that

         2       Mr Johnson had brought with him?

         3       A.   I'm not sure.  I think it's more a reference that we

         4       need an agreement.

         5

         6       Q.   Mr Johnson had a draft of one.

         7       A.   Yes.  It's more a reference in my mind that this is an

         8       arrangement between AWBI and Tigris, because it relates to

         9       contracts, and, you know, therefore there was a need for

        10       that.

        11

        12       Q.   What happened after that, after your conversation with

        13       Mr Cooper?  Did you see any written legal advice?

        14       A.   I never saw any external written advice, but I --

        15

        16       Q.   Did you see any internal written advice?

        17       A.   There are a number of emails after that date from Jim,

        18       I believe, to myself and others that reference his review

        19       of the whole Tigris debt and the sorts of actions he was

        20       looking to undertake over that period, and I think there

        21       were then recommendations that, you know, he'd got external

        22       legal advice.  But I don't remember seeing any specific

        23       legal advice.

        24

        25       Q.   You ultimately authorised the payment of

        26       US$7,087,000-odd to Tigris?

        27       A.   Yes.

        28

        29       Q.   Up until the time that you authorised that payment,

        30       had you seen the agreement?

        31       A.   I'm not sure if I had actually seen the agreement at

        32       that point, but it's most likely I did.

        33

        34       Q.   You would have noticed, if you did see the agreement,

        35       that it was written in terms of a service agreement where

        36       Tigris was being paid a commission?

        37       A.   Yes.

        38

        39       Q.   That would not have agreed with what you had been told

        40       in the memo that you read in about March of 2003 and which

        41       is dated 7 February 2003?

        42       A.   No.

        43

        44       Q.   How is it, then, that you authorised the payment,

        45       given that the agreement did not reflect the circumstances

        46       of which you had been informed in the one memo up until

        47       February of 2003 that you'd actually read and seen?
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         1       A.   I authorised the payment because the recommendation

         2       from senior counsel was to do so, and I believe there was a

         3       period of time where there was some - I don't know -

         4       confusion, certainly in my mind, as to whether it was a

         5       debt recovery or for services rendered, because of the half

         6       million to one million tonnes issue, and I was assured

         7       during that process that, you know, it was fine to

         8       authorise payment.

         9

        10       Q.   Can I just talk some consequences through with you.

        11       If this was the payment, the $7m - we'll speak of it in

        12       that round sum - if that $7m was in fact the payment of a

        13       commission, or payment in return for a service rendered by

        14       Tigris, then in the books of account of AWB it would be a

        15       tax-deductible expense.

        16       A.   I'm not across that sort of detail.

        17

        18       Q.   But you were responsible, weren't you, for the AWB

        19       pool --

        20       A.   Yes.

        21

        22       Q.   -- and you would have eventually had to have become

        23       aware, wouldn't you, of how in fact that payment to Tigris

        24       was treated in the AWBI books?

        25       A.   I was aware that in the AWBI pool model we had

        26       itemised out - the pool accounting team had itemised out

        27       call it the $7m.  How it was itemised out, I don't get into

        28       that kind of detail.

        29

        30       Q.   Were you aware - as we learnt from Mr Ingleby's

        31       statement yesterday - that it was itemised out as a

        32       tax-deductible expense --

        33       A.   No.

        34

        35       Q.   -- so far as AWBI was concerned?

        36       A.   No.

        37

        38       MR FORREST:   Mr Commissioner, perhaps I'm being premature,

        39       but the evidence from Mr Ingleby yesterday afternoon, in

        40       fact in cross-examination by me, was that the item was

        41       received in as income as well.  It seems to me to put one

        42       side of the coin without the other might be leading this

        43       witness a little stray.

        44

        45       THE COMMISSIONER:   My understanding is it appeared on both

        46       sides of the ledger.

        47
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         1       MR FORREST:   Thank you, sir.

         2

         3       MR AGIUS:   I think my learned friend's question was a

         4       little premature, with respect to him.

         5

         6       Q.   Were you aware that it was claimed as a tax-deductible

         7       expense?

         8       A.   No.

         9

        10       Q.   Were you aware of how it was shown in the books as

        11       having been received, whether it was received as income?

        12       A.   No.

        13

        14       Q.   In truth, if this had been AWB assisting Tigris to

        15       recover a debt from the IGB, then that money in the hands

        16       of AWB wouldn't have been income at all, would it?

        17       A.   I'm just not an expert in that area and I rely on

        18       others, sir, so I couldn't comment on that.

        19

        20       Q.   But you would not have regarded it as income for AWBI,

        21       would you, if it had been in fact AWBI assisting Tigris in

        22       recovering a debt lawfully due to Tigris?

        23       A.   I wouldn't have - to be honest, I wouldn't have turned

        24       my mind to that.  My state would be is it - are we

        25       receiving the funds, have they come through --

        26

        27       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   For the sale of wheat?

        28       A.   For the sale of wheat, yes.

        29

        30       Q.   The answer to that would be no?

        31       A.   Well, my state of mind was have we received funds

        32       against the contracts 1670 and 1680, has the pool

        33       accounting team, if you like, moved it aside so that it

        34       wasn't reflected in the pool equities, because I certainly

        35       didn't want the wrong equities reflected to the Australian

        36       wheat farmers, and that's really as far as my interest and

        37       my expertise goes, just to make sure that our exposures

        38       aren't misrepresented.

        39

        40       MR AGIUS:   Q.   So the $7m, if this had been AWB or AWBI

        41       assisting Tigris to recover a debt, wouldn't be part of the

        42       equities due to the growers?

        43       A.   Correct.

        44

        45       Q.   It would have to be put to one side?

        46       A.   Yes.

        47
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         1       Q.   In effect, it would have to be held on trust for

         2       Tigris?

         3       A.   Yes.

         4

         5       Q.   Given that this was money that had been obtained by

         6       AWB by inflating contracts of 1670 and 1680 for wheat, did

         7       you have a concern that if that had occurred it would have

         8       to be notified to the WEA?

         9       A.   It didn't cross my mind, sir.

        10

        11       Q.   It did or it did not?

        12       A.   It did not.  I wasn't thinking about the WEA at this

        13       point.

        14

        15       Q.   You authorised the payment of the money to Tigris on

        16       6 December 2004.

        17       A.   Yes.

        18

        19       Q.   Mr Cooper had verified the invoice on 2 December 2004?

        20       A.   Yes.

        21

        22       Q.   Would it be usual for Mr Cooper to verify invoices

        23       before you authorised payments?

        24       A.   No.

        25

        26       Q.   Why was it that Mr Cooper was called upon to verify

        27       this invoice?

        28       A.   Well, I was not across the detail that Jim Cooper was,

        29       and he'd really conducted the review and had done all the

        30       analysis and had reported back to I think myself and

        31       Andrew, and there might be others on some various emails,

        32       so, for my mind, Jim was the best equipped and if Jim was

        33       happy to approve it, I was happy to approve it.

        34

        35       Q.   Can I show you two documents, one being a copy of the

        36       invoice from Tigris Petroleum and the other being the

        37       US dollar posting information.  Do you see that the invoice

        38       is dated 1 December 2004?

        39       A.   Yes, sorry, this paper, yes.

        40

        41       Q.   Did you ever see the invoice?

        42       A.   I don't believe so.  It may have been in a collection

        43       of documents that would have come to me with this, this

        44       other document, just as a matter of course.  So it would

        45       have been in a collection of those documents which I then

        46       authorised the posting information against.

        47
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         1       Q.   Do you see that it's dated 1 December 2004?

         2       A.   Yes.

         3

         4       Q.   And that it relates to the provision of services under

         5       the agreement between AWB (International) Limited and

         6       Tigris, effective 12 December 2002?

         7       A.   Yes, I see that.

         8

         9       Q.   Did you see that agreement?

        10       A.   No.  You mean an agreement dated 2002?

        11

        12       Q.   Well, the agreement is said to be effective

        13       12 December 2002.  It may well be post-dated, but did you

        14       see the agreement to which this invoice is referring?

        15       A.   I don't know if I saw the agreement at this particular

        16       point in time.

        17

        18       Q.   Will you agree that the second document that you have

        19       is the posting information document recording your

        20       authorisation and Mr Cooper's verification --

        21       A.   Yes.

        22

        23       MR AGIUS:   I tender those two documents, Mr Commissioner.

        24

        25       MR JUDD:   Commissioner, can I just ask that, in conformity

        26       with the practice with other documents, we delete the

        27       references to the bank account.  It's not the AWB's bank

        28       account, but it's a practice that seems to have --

        29

        30       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes, very well.  I shall mark the

        31       documents exhibit 343.  I make a non-publication order in

        32       relation to the bank account references.

        33

        34       EXHIBIT #343 TWO DOCUMENTS SHOWN TO MS SCALES, ONE BEING A

        35       COPY OF AN INVOICE, DATED 1/12/2004, FROM TIGRIS PETROLEUM

        36       AND THE OTHER BEING THE US DOLLAR POSTING INFORMATION

        37

        38       MR AGIUS:   Is that a convenient time, Mr Commissioner?

        39

        40       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.  We'll adjourn until 2 o'clock.

        41

        42       LUNCHEON ADJOURNMENT

        43

        44

        45

        46

        47
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         1       UPON RESUMPTION:

         2

         3       MR AGIUS:   Q.   If we go back to exhibit 341,

         4       AWB.0270.0013, this is your diary note for 13 July 2004.

         5       In the third-last line you record "Need set up meeting

         6       with" the persons whose initials appear there, including

         7       the CEO, Mr Long, Mr Geary.  Did you set up that meeting?

         8       A.   I have gone through my diary notes and I don't see a

         9       reference to that meeting, which means I wonder whether

        10       that meeting was held, but I do recall a meeting with

        11       Jim Cooper and possibly Andrew.  But I don't recall a

        12       meeting with David Johnson and Peter Geary and

        13       Michael Long.

        14

        15       Q.   Possibly Andrew?

        16       A.   Yes.

        17

        18       Q.   Mr Lindberg?

        19       A.   Yes, sorry.

        20

        21       Q.   Over this matter?

        22       A.   Yes.

        23

        24       Q.   Before or after you had spoken to Mr Cooper about it

        25       or at the same time?

        26       A.   I think it might have been after.  I'm not - I can't

        27       be certain.

        28

        29       Q.   What do you recall of that meeting with Mr Lindberg?

        30

        31       MR ALLEN:   I object to that.  She said "possibly Andrew".

        32

        33       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes, I will allow it.

        34

        35       THE WITNESS:   Well, I think just talking about the whole -

        36       the issue, and the need for senior legal advice, and

        37       Andrew - well, it certainly happened, so it was agreed that

        38       we would do that.

        39

        40       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Did you tell Mr Lindberg what you had been

        41       told about the matter?

        42       A.   I can't recall whether I told Mr Lindberg the

        43       specifics.  I just think, if anything, it was the general

        44       concern that I had.

        45

        46       Q.   So you didn't spell out the two issues?

        47       A.   I can't be certain whether I did, Mr Agius.
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         1

         2       Q.   Did you give him the information that we see in the

         3       Rosemary Peavey email, which Mr Johnson had forwarded on to

         4       you, exhibit 342?

         5       A.   No, I don't believe I did.

         6

         7       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Did you not tell him why you

         8       thought it necessary to obtain senior legal advice?

         9       A.   I most likely did.  I certainly, in discussions with

        10       Jim Cooper, did, and I'm not sure if Jim had another

        11       meeting with Andrew or not, but I think Andrew was aware of

        12       the concerns generally, but I can't be specific on whether

        13       I actually did highlight it to Andrew specifically,

        14       Mr Commissioner.

        15

        16       MR AGIUS:   Q.   You attended a board meeting on

        17       14 December 2004.  Could we bring up, please, confidential

        18       exhibit 65C, AWB.0194.0039.  You will see you are noted as

        19       being in attendance?

        20       A.   Yes.

        21

        22       Q.   If we go to page 0041, you will see under "Tigris"

        23       there is a summary:

        24

        25            It was noted that Tigris had assisted AWB

        26            in recovering threatened wheat sales in

        27            Iraq in 2002...

        28

        29       Did you know that?

        30       A.   Well, there was this issue that we went from half a

        31       million tonnes to a million tonnes, so I believe at that

        32       stage I had been advised of that from Jim.

        33

        34       Q.   What had you been told about what had happened

        35       concerning that?

        36       A.   That the half a million tonnes was - well, I think we

        37       originally were looking to do a million tonnes to Iraq in

        38       this period, and the Iraqis threatened and halved that to

        39       half a million tonnes, and I understood that Tigris

        40       assisted in some way to bring that back up to 1 million

        41       tonnes.

        42

        43       Q.   Assisted in what way?

        44       A.   I'm not sure.  I didn't find that out.

        45

        46       Q.   Who gave you that information?

        47       A.   Well, I think it first came from I think that email
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         1       from Rosemary Peavey, in July, I think, and there may have

         2       been subsequent correspondence from Jim Cooper to me on

         3       that.

         4

         5       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   It seems extraordinary that the

         6       two people who would tell you about that would be two

         7       lawyers.

         8       A.   Well, I think, Commissioner, that Jim - forget

         9       Rosemary for a moment, but Jim had been basically

        10       commissioned with getting full details of what events

        11       transpired over that period of time as part of his brief

        12       to - from a legal perspective, to see, you know, legally,

        13       whether the thing was okay.

        14

        15       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Could we bring up, please, exhibit 40 -

        16       EXH.0001.0032.  This is a file note from Mr Cooper.  Does

        17       that accord with your recollection of what the board was

        18       told during this board meeting?

        19       A.   I will just read it, if I could.  I just have a

        20       question with the second bullet point.  I am not sure what

        21       he is actually saying, "Ds".  I'm not sure what that is.

        22

        23       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Directors?

        24       A.   Oh, directors - right.  I am to the bottom of the

        25       screen.  Yes, I think that is a reflection of the

        26       discussion.

        27

        28       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Do you see that Mr Simpson, a director,

        29       had asked for a paper on Tigris at the next board meeting.

        30       Did you ever see such a paper?

        31       A.   No.

        32

        33       Q.   Could we bring up, please, a diary note of yours, and

        34       I will just give the barcode of it - AWB.0270.0024.  Is

        35       that your diary note?

        36       A.   Yes, it looks like it is mine.

        37

        38       Q.   And that relates to your attendance at this board

        39       meeting?

        40       A.   Yes, because - well, I can see that because of

        41       John Thame's name, so I would assume so, yes - and

        42       John Simpson, sorry.

        43

        44       Q.   We've been given this one page from a book which is

        45       marked "December 04".  Could you help us, "John Thame,

        46       Tigris cheque"?

        47       A.   Yes, that seems to be - when I write "cheque" like
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         1       that, "chq", that's referring to like a financial cheque.

         2

         3       Q.   "Tigris cheque through AWBI account"?

         4       A.   Yes.

         5

         6       Q.   "Therefore we are now tainted"?

         7       A.   I think that's what it says.

         8

         9       Q.   Is that your comment or Mr Thame's comment, or --

        10       A.   I think it is Mr Thame's comment.

        11

        12       Q.   Then you have in a circle "James Hardy classic".

        13

        14       THE COMMISSIONER:   "Classic EG - example".

        15

        16       MR AGIUS:   Q.   "EG"; is that right?

        17       A.   It looks like it, yes.

        18

        19       Q.   And then "mood in market place".  How do we understand

        20       those notes?

        21       A.   I'm not sure.  It may have been a comment at the

        22       board; it may not.  I don't know.  I can't recollect that.

        23       I'm not sure what James Hardy's got to do with anything.

        24

        25       Q.   You can't see a parallel?

        26       A.   Well, no, I can't.

        27

        28       Q.   So it is unlikely to be a note of your thought at the

        29       time?

        30       A.   Unlikely.

        31

        32       Q.   More likely to be a note of something said by a

        33       director?

        34       A.   Possibly, yes.

        35

        36       Q.   And then "Mood in market place" - what was that?

        37       A.   I don't know.  I can't recollect it.  I obviously

        38       wrote it, but I don't know what - I was just probably

        39       scrawling.

        40

        41       Q.   Then you have written "Question"?

        42       A.   Yes.

        43

        44       Q.   "Re:" for "regarding", "Tigris paper"; is that right?

        45       A.   Yes.

        46

        47       Q.   "John Simpson I think it is extraordinary and I am
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         1       surprised"?

         2       A.   Yes.

         3

         4       Q.   A comment by Mr Simpson?

         5       A.   Yes.  I think I am just basically noting down comments

         6       made by various directors, from what I can see here.

         7

         8       Q.   What do we read underneath that?  "Minister"?

         9       A.   That says "Remuneration".  I think - see how there is

        10       that squiggle above the word "minister", like a parallel

        11       line and then a cross through it?  I think that's the end

        12       of the issue of my notes due to Tigris, and I think there

        13       must have been discussion on, I don't know, "penalties

        14       exist for mandate breaches".  I think this is more around

        15       our performance monitoring system.

        16

        17       Q.   And what's that "n of" something "breaches"?

        18       A.   I apologise for my writing.  "Penalties exist for

        19       mandate breaches."  I don't know if that says "no" or "not"

        20       "performance breaches".  I know it says "performance

        21       breaches".  I don't know if it is "no" or "not".  Maybe it

        22       is "not performance breaches".  Yes, yes.  No, I don't know

        23       - this might be with respect to the arrangements between

        24       AWBI and L with respect to the performance framework and

        25       services.

        26

        27       Q.   So relating to another matter entirely?

        28       A.   I believe so, yes.

        29

        30       MR AGIUS:   I tender that page from the notebook.

        31

        32       EXHIBIT #344 PAGE OF DIARY ENTRIES FROM BOOK MARKED

        33       "DECEMBER 04", BARCODED AWB.0270.0024

        34

        35       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Can we go back to Mr Cooper's file note at

        36       exhibit 40 - EXH.0001.0032.  You will see that the

        37       third-last dot point says:

        38

        39            I have checked compliance with all

        40            necessary laws & confirm there have been no

        41            breaches.

        42

        43       Is that something that Mr Cooper said during the course of

        44       this board meeting?

        45       A.   I believe so.

        46

        47       Q.   Had you discussed with him whether or not the passing
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         1       of inflated contracts - that is, contracts with inflated

         2       prices for the quantities of wheat disclosed therein - past

         3       the United Nations might have amounted to a breach of the

         4       UN sanctions?

         5       A.   I think I did at some stage, yes - I think early on,

         6       in that July period.

         7

         8       Q.   Were you given comfort in relation to your concerns in

         9       that regard?

        10       A.   Yes, because I authorised the payment.

        11

        12       Q.   Did you ever inform the Wheat Export Authority about

        13       the fact that the contracts 1670 and 1680 had contained

        14       inflated prices to cover the recovery of the Tigris debt?

        15       A.   I don't recollect doing that personally, no.

        16

        17       Q.   When you say you don't recollect doing that, do you

        18       mean to the best of your recollection you didn't do that?

        19       A.   Yes.

        20

        21       Q.   We have a document which is marked

        22       "Commercial-In-Confidence".  I wonder if you could assist

        23       us with it.  Could we bring up, please, AWB.0267.0148.  The

        24       page I am really interested in is AWB.0267.0150, but you

        25       will observe the title of this document, "AWBI Information

        26       Provision PMRR 2004"?

        27       A.   Yes.

        28

        29       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   "PMRR" stands for?

        30       A.   It is the Wheat Export Authority's performance

        31       monitoring review report.

        32

        33       MR AGIUS:   Q.   So this is a report that was prepared for

        34       the Wheat Export Authority?

        35       A.   Yes.  If I could, I think those bold questions are

        36       questions from the Wheat Export Authority that we are

        37       responding to.

        38

        39       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Do they do a performance report

        40       annually or quarterly or half-yearly?

        41       A.   They do a performance report annually.  They provide a

        42       confidential performance report that could be 60 or 80

        43       pages, to the minister, and then a grower report - a public

        44       report.

        45

        46       MR AGIUS:   Q.   This, then, is a report from AWBI to the

        47       Wheat Export Authority?
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         1       A.   Yes.

         2

         3       Q.   In response to questions that have been raised by the

         4       Wheat Export Authority?

         5       A.   Yes.

         6

         7       Q.   Could we go to AWB.0267.0150 and question 8:

         8

         9            Please provide a summary of all contracts

        10            with Iraq and their execution and payment

        11            status and an update to the Brief Note on

        12            Iraq previously provided in April 2003.

        13

        14       You will see there that there is a summary for 1680 which

        15       indicates that the whole of the 500,000 tonnes had been

        16       shipped, and that all but 42,000 had been paid for, and

        17       that that payment was expected in the next week.  "After

        18       this final payment received (representing the final vessel)

        19       this contract will be completed".  And then for 1670 it

        20       seems that 200,000 had been discharged - that is, 200,000

        21       tonnes; 280,000 were either awaiting discharge or sailing

        22       to the discharge port and 45,000 metric tonnes was waiting

        23       to be loaded; and the shipment was planned to be completed

        24       by the end of March 2004, which would be in about less than

        25       two weeks from the date of this document.  If we go over

        26       the page to 0151, there is some additional material in the

        27       dot points, six dot points, which I won't read, but I will

        28       let you read them.

        29       A.   Yes.

        30

        31       Q.   In the ordinary course, would you see the response to

        32       questions such as those that we see in this document before

        33       it went off to the WEA?

        34       A.   No.

        35

        36       Q.   Who had that responsibility to sign off on the

        37       response to a WEA inquiry from AWBI?

        38       A.   We have a group that is headed up by Steve Sheridan

        39       and he has a small team that works with him to - which is

        40       really the hub of information flow back to the Wheat Export

        41       Authority and responding to their requests, and he is

        42       obviously in discussion with the subject matter experts,

        43       being international sales and marketing and people in the

        44       pricing and pooling team, to get all that information and

        45       then respond to the request by the WEA.

        46

        47       Q.   Is that the total of his responsibility?
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         1       A.   His - yes.  His responsibility is to be the key point

         2       man for the Wheat Export Authority and with respect to the

         3       performance monitoring program, and also with respect to

         4       container permit applications and bulk permit applications.

         5

         6       Q.   This request asks for a summary of all contracts with

         7       Iraq and their execution and payment status and an update

         8       to an earlier brief note.  We see on the face of the

         9       response that there is no reference to contract price per

        10       tonne or otherwise for the wheat; is that right?

        11       A.   I haven't got it in front of me, but --

        12

        13       Q.   I am sorry, if we go back to page 0150.  Unfortunately

        14       my computer doesn't reflect what is on your screen.

        15       A.   I assume the answer to the question is --

        16

        17       Q.   I am not sure what you are looking at.

        18       A.   I assume the answer to the question is yes.

        19

        20       Q.   It doesn't reflect any breakdown of the price at all?

        21       A.   Correct.

        22

        23       Q.   And it makes no reference to the Tigris debt having

        24       been built into the contract, or either contract?

        25       A.   Correct.

        26

        27       Q.   Can you think of any reason why that material would

        28       have been excluded from this document or would not have

        29       been included in the document?

        30       A.   No.  May I add, I believe that the Wheat Export

        31       Authority receives or has access to like a spreadsheet of

        32       contracts, a summary, which is at their request, so they

        33       would have access to contract-by-contract data when they

        34       requested it, with the price - I think it is on a

        35       FOB-equivalent basis, because that is really what they have

        36       requested in the past, quality, tonnage, shipping period -

        37       I think predominantly so that they can look at whether we

        38       price discriminate in the market, it is a test against

        39       their performance monitoring framework, so that they can

        40       comment on that.

        41

        42       Q.   We are still awaiting production of more material,

        43       both from the Wheat Export Authority and I expect from AWB,

        44       but I am grateful for your assistance at the moment in that

        45       regard.  So your evidence is that this spreadsheet that the

        46       Wheat Export Authority would receive would be FOB-based

        47       pricing?
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         1       A.   I think so, yes.

         2

         3       Q.   And that would not disclose the Tigris component of

         4       the contract price?

         5       A.   It wouldn't, no.

         6

         7       Q.   Indeed, it wouldn't disclose the price per tonne that

         8       is referred to in the contracts that went to the UN?

         9       A.   No, it would bring it back to a FOB equivalent and it

        10       would - I haven't seen one for a while but it would bring

        11       it back to a dollar per tonne on a FOB equivalent basis so

        12       that the Wheat Export Authority could look at a whole raft

        13       of markets and determine whether we were price

        14       discriminating.

        15

        16       Q.   But, in short, the Wheat Export Authority, by

        17       reference to that spreadsheet, wouldn't have any knowledge

        18       of any of the components that were added in to the price

        19       above the FOB?

        20       A.   With respect to that spreadsheet, yes, but they may

        21       have received other information as per their request for

        22       that information.

        23

        24       Q.   Leave aside a specific request from them.

        25       A.   Sure.

        26

        27       Q.   But on an as per usual basis, would you expect them to

        28       have been provided with the contract price and a breakdown

        29       of all of the components in the contract price?

        30       A.   I would expect, if they are asking for a FOB number

        31       for their modelling reasons, we would give them the FOB

        32       number.

        33

        34       Q.   And in the ordinary course - are you aware of them

        35       ever asking for a contract price and a breakdown in the

        36       contract price?

        37       A.   I am not aware.

        38

        39       Q.   Does that mean that, to the best of your

        40       recollection - I appreciate you are relying on recollection

        41       - that hasn't occurred?

        42       A.   Yes.

        43

        44       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   This document refers to a "Brief

        45       Note".  Do you know to what that refers?

        46       A.   May I - is this on this page?

        47
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         1       Q.   It is on page 0150.

         2

         3       MR AGIUS:   Mr Commissioner, we do have a copy of the

         4       document --

         5

         6       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   It is in the question, question 8?

         7       A.   Sorry, where is it, sir?

         8

         9       Q.   In the question itself, question 8?

        10       A.   I think that Brief Note would be that the Wheat Export

        11       Authority - I think it is on a quarterly basis, as it

        12       relates to the container exports - require updates on

        13       market briefs.  The general focus over the years with the

        14       Wheat Export Authority has been near markets, where we have

        15       a freight advantage, where most of the containers -

        16       applicants apply for markets like Vietnam or Myanmar or

        17       Philippines, and so on.  So, generally speaking, we would

        18       provide a briefing note as per their request, which talks

        19       about the overall strategies and exposures and what we are

        20       looking to do and achieve in each of those markets, so that

        21       they can then make a decision on applications for

        22       containers and whether it is going to impact our net pool

        23       return.

        24

        25       MR AGIUS:   We do have a document, Mr Commissioner, which I

        26       will draw to the witness's attention.

        27

        28       Q.   Could we bring up, please, AWB.0267.0228.  This is a

        29       fax back from the Wheat Export Authority to Mr Sheridan on

        30       7 October 2005.  You will see that it contains 50 pages -

        31       "Pages to follow 50"; do you see that?

        32       A.   Yes.  Mmm-hmm.

        33

        34       Q.   I will move through the documents and obtain your

        35       assistance, if I can, with them.  Could we go to page 0229.

        36       These appear to be minutes of a meeting on 4 April 2003, a

        37       meeting which you attended?

        38       A.   Yes.

        39

        40       Q.   And in the ordinary course would you obtain a copy of

        41       the minutes of meetings at the WEA of the consultative

        42       group GC?

        43       A.   Yes.

        44

        45       Q.   Sorry, CG.

        46       A.   Yes.

        47
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         1       Q.   What is the WEA consultative group CG?

         2       A.   It is a group of the Wheat Export Authority, AWBI,

         3       Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries and the Grains Council

         4       of Australia, and it is a group that met regularly to come

         5       to a landing on the performance monitoring requirements

         6       that the Wheat Export Authority were looking to enact in

         7       their duties and also, I believe, it was a group that came

         8       together to get - to have a greater understanding of the

         9       container process and to design and develop an appropriate

        10       container approval process, I think, you know, as a general

        11       summation.

        12

        13       Q.   If we move through those minutes, the next document is

        14       0233.  Might that be the brief note to which the

        15       Commissioner was drawing your attention in question 8 which

        16       spoke of an update to the Brief Note on Iraq previously

        17       provided in April 2003?

        18       A.   I would say so, yes.

        19

        20       Q.   If you look through it, either read it or skim it,

        21       whatever you need to do to satisfy yourself with sufficient

        22       familiarity with the document to be able to confirm that.

        23       We can turn the pages for you, if you just indicate to the

        24       monitor.

        25       A.   Sure.

        26

        27       Q.   It might be easier if I just provide you with this

        28       hard copy.

        29       A.   Thank you.  I have skimmed it, sir.

        30

        31       Q.   So can you confirm whether that document is the Brief

        32       Note for April 2003 that is referred to in question 8?

        33       A.   I couldn't categorically confirm it, because there may

        34       be another one, but it appears that way.

        35

        36       THE COMMISSIONER:   I wonder if that is really right.  The

        37       questions in the document are dated 19 March, and this

        38       is April, isn't it?  So it must be an earlier one.

        39

        40       MR AGIUS:  A different year, Mr Commissioner.  The

        41       commercial in confidence document "AWBI Information

        42       Provision PMRR 2004" I think is referring back to the April

        43       2003 Brief Note.

        44

        45       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes, it says so in terms.

        46

        47       MR AGIUS:   Could I tender then as a confidential exhibit
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         1       the "AWBI Information Provision PMRR 2004" document of

         2       19 March.  That runs between pages barcoded AWB.0267.0148

         3       through to 0153.

         4

         5       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.  That will be confidential exhibit

         6       131C.

         7

         8       EXHIBIT #131C AWBI INFORMATION PROVISION PMRR 2004

         9       DATED 19 MARCH, BARCODED AWB.0267.0148-0153

        10

        11       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Ms Scales, if I ask you to look at that

        12       document in front of you, you will see we can pick up where

        13       the brief note starts --

        14       A.   Yes.

        15

        16       Q.   --"WEA Brief Note - Iraq, April 2003".  There are four

        17       pages in the form of a report, each of them with the date

        18       17/4/2003 at the bottom.

        19       A.   Yes.

        20

        21       Q.   Then the next page, and for a number of pages

        22       thereafter, there are tables which seem to break down the

        23       contracts.

        24       A.   Yes.

        25

        26       Q.   Are they part of the April report?

        27       A.   I can't be sure, Mr Agius.

        28

        29       MR AGIUS:   Mr Commissioner, for abundant caution, I will

        30       tender the four pages of the April 2003 Brief Note.

        31       Perhaps, on reflection, what I will do is tender the whole

        32       50 pages, which runs from AWB.0267.0228 through to 0276.

        33       I ask that it be marked as a confidential exhibit.

        34

        35       EXHIBIT #132C APRIL 2003 BRIEF NOTE,

        36       BARCODED AWB.0267.0228-0276

        37

        38       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Can I get your assistance again with this

        39       document, Ms Scales.  After the series of tables there is a

        40       page which has the number 27 at the bottom, "2002/2003

        41       annual report" --

        42       A.   Yes.

        43

        44       Q.   -- "to AWB (International) Limited?

        45       A.   Yes.

        46

        47       Q.   So do we take it then that pages 27, 28, 29, 33 and 55
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         1       are pages from the annual report?

         2       A.   Yes.  This is - every year the board of International

         3       require AWB Limited, who provides the services, to report

         4       on those services and pertinent issues that have happened

         5       through that year.

         6

         7       Q.   Can I take you to the page numbered 28, which is

         8       AWB.0267.0252.  It is the second page that is provided of

         9       the annual report.

        10       A.   I am on page 28.

        11

        12       Q.   Do you see a heading in the left-hand column

        13       "Timeline"?

        14       A.   Yes.

        15

        16       Q.   The second paragraph reads:

        17

        18            October 2002 - Iron Filings (iron powder)

        19            contamination was found in 7 vessels (total

        20            of 336,022 mt).  Compensation was

        21            negotiated and settled.

        22

        23       I take it "settled" there doesn't mean paid; it simply

        24       means "agreed"?

        25       A.   Yes, I would take that as that.

        26

        27       Q.   Then if we go to the next document, there is a letter

        28       signed by you to Mr Glen Taylor, the chief executive of the

        29       WEA, of 23 October 2002.

        30       A.   Yes.

        31

        32       Q.

        33

        34            Thank you for your recent query regarding

        35            the Iraq market.  As per your request

        36            please find attached a general briefing

        37            note regarding recent trade issues with

        38            Iraq.

        39            I trust this fulfils the WEA Board's

        40            requirement.  Please do not hesitate to

        41            contact me...

        42

        43       Was this in response to a regular request?

        44       A.   I can't be sure.  To be frank, we have always had a

        45       lot of requests from the Wheat Export Authority on many

        46       things.  So, to answer your question, there would be

        47       regular requests for information, but I don't think there
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         1       were regular requests for Iraq.

         2

         3       Q.   If we go to the next document, it is dated at the

         4       bottom 22 October 2002.

         5       A.   Yes.

         6

         7       Q.   It is four pages in length, the pages are numbered

         8       1 to 4.  May we take it that that was the document that

         9       accompanied your letter of 23 October?

        10       A.   Yes.

        11

        12       Q.   What was your source information to be able to put

        13       together this four-page document?

        14       A.   Well, the process is that Steve Sheridan would deal

        15       with requests for information from the Wheat Export

        16       Authority, so that we would respond to them in a timely

        17       fashion.  He would pull together data and have discussions

        18       with the expert - the subject matter experts, being the

        19       account managers for particular markets.  So if it was

        20       Thailand or Iraq or wherever, he would talk to the relevant

        21       account manager, and I believe he would gather information

        22       from them.  It may be cut and paste, I'm not sure,

        23       Mr Agius, and then he would get them to I think approve

        24       what was in that brief and then, once that was done, send

        25       it through to the Wheat Export Authority.  Steve's not a

        26       subject matter expert.  He is a provider of information.

        27

        28       Q.   So he would have referred to IS&M?

        29       A.   Yes.

        30

        31       Q.   And would he have referred to you?

        32       A.   No.

        33

        34       Q.   And your reference --

        35       A.   Not for this sort of stuff.

        36

        37       Q.   I am sorry?

        38       A.   Not for this sort of stuff.

        39

        40       Q.   Your reference to it perhaps being a cut and paste,

        41       did you have in mind that it might be a cut and paste of

        42       the market brief document?

        43       A.   It may, because, you know, there is no doubt that past

        44       market briefs would be used as a base so that we weren't

        45       spending a lot of time recreating, or Steve wasn't, but I

        46       can't be sure of that, sir.

        47
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         1       Q.   Did you hear Mr Whitwell's evidence about the practice

         2       of maintaining an electronic copy of the market brief on

         3       the IT system at AWB?

         4       A.   Yes.

         5

         6       Q.   That you could click on and have access to and read?

         7       A.   Yes.

         8

         9       Q.   Did you have that access?

        10       A.   I don't believe I do.  I may have it on my computer,

        11       but I have never accessed it.

        12

        13       Q.   I wasn't asking you whether you have ever accessed it,

        14       but did you have access to it, in the sense of authority to

        15       access it?

        16       A.   I am sure I was given authority to access it, yes.

        17

        18       Q.   In the versions of the market brief that we have been

        19       provided with, both before and after October 2002, there is

        20       recorded the following:

        21

        22            Contracts are conducted with the IGB on a

        23            free in truck basis delivered to all

        24            governorates Iraq.  The inland transport

        25            fees and all discharge fees are included in

        26            the inland transport fee.  Inland transport

        27            fees are paid via Alia Transport Company in

        28            Jordan who then pays the Ministry of

        29            Transport in Iraq.  These fees are approved

        30            by the UN.

        31

        32       Now, that material appears in all the versions of the

        33       market brief that we have prior to the invasion, but we

        34       don't see it in this October 2002 WEA brief note.  Can you

        35       explain why not?

        36       A.   I haven't seen - I don't believe I have ever seen what

        37       you have just quoted from, so I can't explain why not.

        38

        39       Q.   Did you know that material?

        40       A.   No.

        41

        42       Q.   I don't mean did you know it existed, but did you know

        43       that which I read out as a fact?

        44       A.   No.

        45

        46       Q.   Did you know that it was recorded within the

        47       electronic database of the AWB?
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         1       A.   No.

         2

         3       MR AGIUS:   Mr Commissioner, I will tender as a public

         4       exhibit that portion of this confidential exhibit which is

         5       comprised in those four pages, and ask that they not be

         6       published until my learned friend has had an opportunity to

         7       read them.

         8

         9       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes, very well.  I will mark that as

        10       exhibit 345.

        11

        12       EXHIBIT #345 FOUR PAGES DATED AT THE BOTTOM 22/10/2002

        13       WHICH ACCOMPANIED MS SCALES' LETTER DATED 23/10/2002 TO

        14       MR GLEN TAYLOR, THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OF THE WEA

        15

        16       THE COMMISSIONER:   That is subject to a non-publication

        17       order until Mr Judd has had a chance to consider the

        18       contents.

        19

        20       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Again, can I seek your assistance with

        21       this confidential exhibit and ask you to go to the next

        22       document, which I have as a fax of 8 November 2003, from

        23       Annalisa Cattanach.  She is an AWB or AWBI employee?

        24       A.   She works with Steve Sheridan in the regulatory area.

        25

        26       Q.   This is a fax marked "Commercial In Confidence":

        27

        28            Please find following the Market Brief

        29            relating to Iraq for the 1st Quarter 2003

        30            as prepared by AWB (International) Limited.

        31

        32       Again, if you go behind that, do you see a document

        33       entitled "AWB (International) Limited market brief 1st

        34       quarter 2003 - Iraq"?

        35       A.   Yes.

        36

        37       Q.   The facsimile cover sheet that I have just referred to

        38       is page 34 of this fax that was being faxed back from the

        39       WEA to Mr Sheridan, is it not - can you see that in the top

        40       right-hand corner?

        41       A.   Yes, I can.

        42

        43       Q.   That is also AWB.0267.0261.  Then the market brief for

        44       the first quarter of 2003 is immediately behind that fax

        45       cover sheet, and it runs for what appears to be six pages.

        46       The last page appears to have been either cut off or is

        47       incomplete.
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         1       A.   Yes.  Is that page 42 that you are referring to as the

         2       last page?

         3

         4       Q.   No, I was referring to page 40 as the last page, but

         5       would you include page 42 as part of the --

         6       A.   I would imagine so.

         7

         8       MR AGIUS:   I will tender the market brief 1st quarter 2003

         9       Iraq, which forms part of this fax running between pages

        10       0262 through to and inclusive of 0269.  Again, I would ask

        11       that there be a non-publication order until my learned

        12       friend has had an opportunity to review the document.

        13

        14       EXHIBIT #346 MARKET BRIEF 1ST QUARTER 2003 IRAQ,

        15       BARCODED AWB.0267.0262-0269

        16

        17       THE COMMISSIONER:   That exhibit is subject to a

        18       non-publication order until Mr Judd has had a chance to

        19       look at the exhibit.

        20

        21       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Ms Scales, would you agree that the

        22       portion that I read out from the hard copy of the

        23       electronically stored market brief document at AWB is not

        24       to be found in this version of the market brief?

        25       A.   Well, I haven't looked through it, but, you know --

        26

        27       Q.   Perhaps it is more a matter of comment than anything

        28       else.

        29       A.   Well, if you say it is not in there, it is not in

        30       there, so --

        31

        32       Q.   Did you have a hand in the preparation of this market

        33       brief, or would that have been put together by Mr Sheridan

        34       on the same basis?

        35       A.   Yes - Steve would have put it together with input from

        36       the subject matter experts.

        37

        38       Q.   But not input from you?

        39       A.   Oh, no.

        40

        41       Q.   Can you help me with the next document, "Export Permit

        42       System for Container/Bagged Shipments", a

        43       one-page document, page 43 of the fax.

        44       A.   Yes.

        45

        46       Q.   What is that?  Can you identify the document?  You may

        47       need to read it in connection with the schedule behind it.
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         1

         2       MR JUDD:   While the witness is reading the document,

         3       Commissioner, I wonder if it is not appropriate with these

         4       documents that my friend has just mentioned and asked us to

         5       consider that they ought not generally be treated as a

         6       confidential exhibit, if only because they obviously form

         7       part of what is the reporting process to WEA, which then

         8       may be converting them into confidential reports to the

         9       minister, and the like.  It seems that they are shrouded in

        10       the context of statutory obligations and confidentiality

        11       and, as a matter of principle, perhaps they ought to be

        12       treated as confidential exhibits.

        13

        14            Now, we are happy to go through them and examine them

        15       on a line-by-line basis, but it does seem to us perhaps, in

        16       our submission, that it ought to be that they be

        17       confidential for that reason.

        18

        19       THE COMMISSIONER:   I am not sure.  Can we think about that

        20       over the weekend?  It does seem to me that the report to

        21       the minister is plainly confidential, but I am not sure

        22       that the sources which are used to make up that report are

        23       necessarily so.

        24

        25       MR JUDD:   They will, of course, contain market-sensitive

        26       information.

        27

        28       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.  That's why I have made the

        29       confidentiality order that I have made.

        30

        31       MR JUDD:   Yes.  We understand that, and we can go through

        32       them and look at it, but it may be that the redacting

        33       process --

        34

        35       THE COMMISSIONER:   That's a dreadful word.

        36

        37       MR JUDD:   I will try not to use it again.  We thought it

        38       came from New South Wales.

        39

        40       THE COMMISSIONER:   No, it comes from America.  It is now

        41       in the Macquarie Dictionary, unfortunately.

        42

        43       MR JUDD:   We are just concerned that it may well be that

        44       we return on Monday and ask for a general order, but

        45       perhaps we can consider that over the weekend and raise the

        46       matter again.

        47
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         1       THE COMMISSIONER:   Thank you.  It may well be that the

         2       problem can be overcome if you and Mr Agius could agree on

         3       a statement in relation to what probably is the critical

         4       issue.

         5

         6       MR JUDD:   Yes, perhaps, thank you.

         7

         8       THE WITNESS:   Mr Agius, I have read --

         9

        10       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Those two pages?

        11       A.   Yes.

        12

        13       Q.   Can you assist us with the nature of those two

        14       documents?

        15       A.   Well, I am struggling a bit, but the second page - the

        16       first page I think is just, you know, us with AWBI's policy

        17       and it probably goes off to the Wheat Export Authority

        18       every time they request our view on allocations to markets.

        19       So, for example, the trader will come in and apply to the

        20       Wheat Export Authority for - I am making it up - 10,000

        21       tonnes of containers into Vietnam.  We generally provide

        22       them with a market brief on our strategies into Vietnam,

        23       and we then talk to them or provide them with information

        24       as to our view on the impact that may have on the national

        25       pool.

        26

        27            I think this second spreadsheet, if you like, is a

        28       summary, it would appear, of our view on demand, the first

        29       column, by each country - so our view on demand.  Our view

        30       on - well, I think it says our volume, which would indicate

        31       what we have achieved, depending on the date of this

        32       document, but what we have achieved into each of those

        33       markets, and then - oh, yes.  Then the third column, which

        34       is titled "0001 year to date", so we must be in the 0001

        35       pool, is what we have - I would suggest what we've sold

        36       or - sold or executed into each of those markets, so the

        37       volume.  And then - I am a bit - the hard winter ordinary's

        38       11, those next two columns, I think - I would have to check

        39       this, but I think, just by looking at the numbers, they are

        40       reflecting probably what we have achieved relative to hard

        41       winter ordinaries 11 per cent at the Gulf in those two

        42       years, with respect to our sales.  So it is sort of like a

        43       premium against competing origin, which is generally the

        44       US.

        45

        46       Q.   I won't trouble you any more with those two pages.

        47       Thank you for that assistance.  Then, finally, may we take
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         1       it that the last document is simply that which it appears

         2       to be, a national pool strategy for 2001/2002 and

         3       2002/2003, dealing with the impact of a drought?

         4       A.   Absolutely, yes.

         5

         6       Q.   I want to ask you some questions about your knowledge

         7       concerning where moneys paid to Alia on account of inland

         8       trucking might have found their way.  I put to you as a

         9       general proposition that there were documents sent to you

        10       from time to time which indicated, if they had been read,

        11       that money that was being paid on account of inland

        12       trucking was actually being paid to the IGB.  Now, would

        13       you agree with that general proposition?

        14       A.   Yes.

        15

        16       Q.   You would not disagree that some of those documents

        17       were sent to you?

        18       A.   I wouldn't disagree, no.

        19

        20       Q.   You deal with this in your additional statement.  What

        21       do you say - do you say you never read those emails?

        22       A.   No, I --

        23

        24       Q.   Do you say that, if you did read them, they had no

        25       impact on you?

        26       A.   It depends on what time period you are talking, but,

        27       as a general comment, I would have read emails but I have

        28       always worked on the assumption that whatever was done was

        29       United Nations approved.

        30

        31       Q.   Can we go to confidential exhibit 14C - AWB.5073.0125.

        32       This is Dominic Hogan's first report concerning what were

        33       to be the new contracts commencing in July of 1999 under

        34       the Oil-for-Food Program.  It was addressed to Mr Emons,

        35       Mr Hunter, Mr Officer, Mr Geary and yourself, amongst

        36       others.

        37       A.   Yes.

        38

        39       Q.   He is speaking of a new term in the contract, at

        40       page 0126.  You will see he speaks of the new term and

        41       then, under "Free In Truck", he sets out:

        42

        43            IGB have requested that the offers are

        44            submitted CIF, free in truck, Iraq.  The

        45            cost for this is USD12.00 per tonne which

        46            the supplier adds to their offer.

        47            Hence this part is not an issue.
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         1            The problem which still needs to be

         2            resolved is the payment mechanism as all

         3            Iraq accounts have been frozen.  IGB have

         4            stated that we will be required to pay the

         5            Maritime Agents, and one possible way would

         6            be to pay this to an Iraq bank in Amman.

         7            IGB will provide details...

         8            Michael - as mentioned to you, there may be

         9            a way to pay this through the vessel

        10            owners.  Mark will discuss this [with] you,

        11            so have a think about the possibilities.

        12

        13       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.  At this time you were the pricing

        14       manager, I think, for AWBI?

        15       A.   This is 1999?

        16

        17       Q.   Yes.  My understanding is you were pricing manager

        18       from March 1999 to June 2000?

        19       A.   Yes.  And I had just come back from the States.

        20

        21       MR AGIUS:   Q.   This is something that you more likely

        22       than not would have read?

        23       A.   Yes.

        24

        25       Q.   It is something that clearly carries with it the

        26       implication that the money that's being spoken of here on

        27       account of trucking is going to find its way to the IGB?

        28       A.   Yes, it does.

        29

        30       Q.   What did you do as a result of this information?

        31       A.   I don't recall doing anything with that information.

        32       I think I just have to put some of this in context.  As the

        33       pricing manager, there are many things that are of interest

        34       in this email, which relate to potential to do new

        35       business, price projections, and so on.  Free in truck - if

        36       I can see the top of the email, this is addressed to people

        37       in international sales and marketing and people more senior

        38       to me that, frankly, are more subject matter experts with

        39       respect to the free in truck.  As pricing manager, it is

        40       important to make sure that - and don't forget we had

        41       some - well, you might not know this, we had some difficult

        42       times with the international sales and marketing guys in

        43       this period but it is very important that, as pricing

        44       manager, our FOB prices in the pool model - that first of

        45       all the pricing manager is forecasting and then, secondly,

        46       when a sale is actioned, we have got to compare that to the

        47       FOB forecast - that the international sales and marketing
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         1       team build things from a FOB price upwards.  So, you know,

         2       if I had read this free in truck email - I'm not saying

         3       I didn't - this particular area wouldn't have been of major

         4       importance or significance to me as the pricing manager at

         5       that point.  I'm sorry, that's a bit longwinded.

         6

         7       Q.   So you wouldn't have thought, "Well, why would we be

         8       looking for another way to pay this money?  Why wouldn't we

         9       just simply be paying it directly?"

        10       A.   No, it just didn't cross - it wasn't on my radar

        11       screen.

        12

        13       Q.   But surely it would have struck you as odd that people

        14       were looking to pay this money through vessel owners in

        15       view of the freeze on Iraqi accounts?

        16       A.   I just didn't turn my mind to it, sir.  It just didn't

        17       strike me as something of importance to me in that role.

        18       That's my best recollection, anyway.

        19

        20       Q.   Well, then the next is confidential exhibit 15 -

        21       AWB.5073.0129.  There is much the same information in this

        22       email, again to a number of people as well as yourself,

        23       this time copied to you?

        24       A.   Yes.

        25

        26       Q.   On page 0130, Mr Hogan is here responding to various

        27       items which are enumerated in the proposed tender, and he

        28       says at item 10:

        29

        30            Our price has to include Land transport

        31            costs of USD12 per tonne.  Why???  and how

        32            do we pay Land Transport company when all

        33            Iraqi funds frozen???????

        34            The USD12.00 will be added on to CIF

        35            price - so no skin off our nose - however

        36            we need to find a way to implement the

        37            payments as Iraq a/c's frozen.

        38

        39       Again, is this an email that you are likely to have read?

        40       A.   Likely to have read this email, yes.

        41

        42       Q.   Again, it carries a strong inference that what is

        43       being sought here is the solution to a problem, and that is

        44       how to pay money to Iraqis given that Iraq's accounts were

        45       frozen?

        46       A.   Yes.  I mean, I think they are good questions that Dom

        47       was asking.  I think --
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         1

         2       Q.   Did it strike you at the time that, really, clearly

         3       what was being looked for here, what was being sought, was

         4       a way to get round the UN sanctions?

         5       A.   That didn't strike me at the time.  This is something

         6       that, rightly or wrongly, I didn't pay attention to.

         7       I didn't see this as part of my remit.

         8

         9       Q.   You knew about the sanctions, though?

        10       A.   Oh, yes.

        11

        12       Q.   When you say this didn't strike you at the time, it

        13       certainly strikes you in that context now, doesn't it?

        14       A.   Yes.

        15

        16       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   As pricing manager, would you not

        17       see the final prices and work back to check the FOB price?

        18       A.   You would set an FOB price for the account manager and

        19       they were the parameters of which he was to negotiate,

        20       hopefully above, but down to, and he would always put in a

        21       phone call to say, you know, "We might need to shave a

        22       dollar off", or not, and we would green light that or not.

        23       But as far as the actual contract itself, we didn't look at

        24       that, you know, what was itemised in the contract.  The

        25       important thing for us was, in the pool model, there is a

        26       section which has actual contracts sold and their

        27       equivalent dollars by country - or not the contracts, but

        28       the summary, the average of all the contracts in a certain

        29       market, and it lists all the markets, so the average price

        30       for all of that and then a projected.  So the important

        31       thing for us was to cross-reference the FOB number in the

        32       pool model, you know, to make sure that what the account

        33       manager was saying was reflected in the pool model.  There

        34       were times when we would get quite irritated if the FOB

        35       number in the pool model and what we were told didn't seem

        36       to marry up, so we raised questions around that.  I hope

        37       that answers your question.

        38

        39       Q.   Yes, I understand that you would be consulted almost

        40       immediately before the deal was done?

        41       A.   Yes.

        42

        43       Q.   But I should have thought it would follow that when

        44       you received a report on that sale the following day or the

        45       day after, or whatever it may be, or a trip report would

        46       set these things out, you would see the final price

        47       achieved and you would see the breakdown?
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         1       A.   You might see the final - yes, the final price

         2       achieved and the breakdown, and the important thing from

         3       the pricing and the pool management groups perspective was

         4       to make sure that that was taken into account, you know,

         5       with pooled accounts, who run the actual pool model, that,

         6       you know, they were obviously taking that into

         7       consideration when the numbers come through the system.

         8

         9       Q.   But if you did see the breakdown, inevitably you must

        10       have seen that there was a trucking fee?

        11       A.   Oh, yes.

        12

        13       MR AGIUS:   Q.   You did, did you not, have a good

        14       understanding of the chartering business?

        15       A.   Back then?

        16

        17       Q.   Yes.

        18       A.   I wouldn't even say today I have a good understanding

        19       of terms and conditions in chartering, but the principles,

        20       yes.

        21

        22       Q.   Did you pick up on the fact that the entity within AWB

        23       that had the responsibility for making these payments, or

        24       at least was given the job of solving the problem of how

        25       the payments would be made, was chartering?

        26       A.   I'm not sure I did at the time.

        27

        28       Q.   We have an email from you of 28 January 2000,

        29       AWB.5092.0388.  I wonder if you could read that?

        30       A.   Yes.  Yes.  I have read that.

        31

        32       Q.   That's the first of two emails you wrote on

        33       28 January.  It was written in response to an email to you

        34       from Michael Tighe of 22 January, if we go to 0389:

        35

        36            Peter/Sarah.

        37            Pls advice if you agree with this review -

        38            and what conclusions we draw from it.

        39            Given your close relationship with FRT and

        40            intimate understanding of chartering

        41            business, Sarah where do you think we shud

        42            go next?

        43

        44       And then the second email that you wrote on 28 January 2000

        45       dealing with this at 11.34am, which is 14 minutes after the

        46       first, is at page AWB.5105.0039.  This is an email from you

        47       to Mr Laskie forwarding to him earlier correspondence, in
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         1       which you say:

         2

         3            ...I explained that M Emons was the account

         4            manager and M Watson the chartering

         5            manager!  Nevertheless, I am now embroiled

         6            in this issue personally, something i cud

         7            do without!

         8

         9       Now, the issue there seems to be an issue to do with

        10       chartering and who was to take responsibility for demurrage

        11       risks at discharge.

        12       A.   Yes.

        13

        14       Q.   What we know as well is that the payments of the

        15       inland transport fee were being handled by chartering.  We

        16       know that they were actually being paid in advance of

        17       discharge by AWBI?

        18       A.   Sorry, can you repeat that?

        19

        20       Q.   They were paid in advance of discharge by AWBI?

        21       A.   The chartering fees?

        22

        23       Q.   The inland trucking fees?

        24       A.   Okay.

        25

        26       Q.   The inland trucking fees were being managed by

        27       chartering.  The first two payments were direct payments by

        28       AWB in advance of the ships being docked and discharging,

        29       and from there after they were dealt with by chartering

        30       using ship owners to make the payment.  The point I am

        31       making, however, is that although they were handled by

        32       chartering they were at the cost of the AWBI.  Now, in the

        33       course of embroiling yourself in this issue about who was

        34       to bear the demurrage risk at discharge, did you not become

        35       aware that chartering was dealing with the prepayment, or

        36       advance payment, of the trucking fee, and that it was being

        37       paid in advance by AWBI?

        38       A.   I don't remember that.  The big issue throughout 2000

        39       was this whole - as you have put it, you know, this whole

        40       demurrage issue, and vessel bunching and, you know, from my

        41       perspective, the cost imposted on the pool.  This was a

        42       very tense time between - probably why I have written what

        43       I have written - the pool and IS&M and chartering.  I think

        44       we were - well, I was particularly unhappy with what had

        45       been happening.  But more from a logistics, execution risk

        46       perspective, Mr Agius.

        47
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         1       Q.   But you didn't, at that time, gain knowledge that

         2       chartering were making the payments to the account of AWBI

         3       for the inland trucking fee?

         4       A.   My understanding is chartering were paying third

         5       parties, counterparties, whether it is trucking fee or

         6       freight, and then, from recollection, chartering would

         7       invoice AWBI and recover the funds from AWB post the event.

         8       So I am not sure of the timing, sir.

         9

        10       MR AGIUS:   Can I tender the two pages, AWB.5092.0388 and

        11       0389.

        12

        13       EXHIBIT #347 EMAIL FROM MICHAEL TIGHE TO MS SCALES,

        14       DATED 22/1/2000, BARCODED AWB.5092.0388, AND RESPONSE FROM

        15       MS SCALES, DATED 28/1/2000, BARCODED AWB.5092.0389

        16

        17       MR AGIUS:   And AWB.5105.0039 through to 0041?

        18

        19       EXHIBIT #348 EMAIL FROM MS SCALES TO MR LASKIE,

        20       DATED 28/1/2000, BARCODED AWB.5105.0039-0041

        21

        22       MR AGIUS:   Q.   You moved into AWBI by mid 2000, did you

        23       not?

        24       A.   I was pricing manager in 1999 through to I think June

        25       2000.

        26

        27       Q.   Sorry, yes.

        28       A.   And then I was pool manager.

        29

        30       Q.   Pool manager from June of 2000?

        31       A.   Yes.

        32

        33       Q.   Can we bring up, please, AWB.0088.0351.  This is an

        34       invoice from chartering directed to the pool, being an

        35       invoice relating to trucking fee contract for US 20 cents

        36       per metric tonne.  Did you find out the background to this

        37       invoice?

        38       A.   I don't recollect this invoice.

        39

        40       Q.   This relates to the 20 cents a tonne that Ronly were

        41       being paid to arrange the payment of the trucking fee on

        42       behalf of AWB and, as a result, Ronly was paid US$300,000

        43       by AWB for arranging for the payment of a trucking fee in

        44       relation to one and a half million tonnes of wheat.  Did

        45       you not become aware of that arrangement?

        46       A.   I don't remember this.  I don't remember becoming

        47       aware of it at this time.
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         1

         2       Q.   Did you become aware of it later?

         3       A.   I - at some stage, I'm not sure when, but probably -

         4       either late 2000 or early 2001, I think Charles Stott

         5       brought it to my attention, but I can't remember the exact

         6       dates.

         7

         8       Q.   This invoice is 22 September 2000.  I take you to

         9       AWB.5095.0281.  That is exhibit 57.

        10

        11       MR AGIUS:   Whilst that is coming up I will tender the

        12       invoice AWB.0088.0351.

        13

        14       EXHIBIT #349 INVOICE BARCODED AWB.0088.0351

        15

        16       MR JUDD:   The account number probably ought to be deleted

        17       for consistency, sir.

        18

        19       THE COMMISSIONER:   Very well.  I will exclude the account

        20       number from the public tender.

        21

        22       MR AGIUS:   Q.   This is an email of 10 July 2000, so two

        23       months before the invoice, to Mr Geary and yourself from

        24       Peter Jones.  At point 5:

        25

        26            What is Ronly Holdings involvement in the

        27            process, ie chartering services.

        28

        29       By now you were the manager of AWBI.  Did you get an answer

        30       to that question?

        31       A.   I don't recall getting an answer to that question.

        32

        33       Q.   Do you remember the question being posed?

        34       A.   No, I don't.

        35

        36       Q.   Attached to that email was Darryl Borlase's market

        37       brief for your reference, and if we bring up confidential

        38       exhibit 35, AWB.5033.0325, do you recall seeing that?

        39       A.   I most likely saw it.

        40

        41       Q.   Can we bring up 0330.  Do you see the last dot point

        42       in "Summary of Issues":

        43

        44            Mechanism of payment for trucking fee.  In

        45            existing contracts the fee is $15.00 per

        46            tonne.  IGB have indicated the fee will be

        47            reduced to $14.00 for future business.
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         1            Current mechanism of payment is via

         2            transport company/s in Jordan.

         3

         4       Would you have read that?

         5       A.   Possibly, yes.

         6

         7       Q.   It is likely you would have read it, isn't it?

         8       A.   Yes - the brief, yes.

         9

        10       Q.   Well, you will recall the earlier email from Mr Hogan

        11       speaking of the problem in terms of finding a mechanism for

        12       payment, and this now speaks of a current mechanism of

        13       payment being via transport companies in Jordan?

        14       A.   Yes.

        15

        16       Q.   This reinforces, doesn't it, the strong inference that

        17       these transport fees were actually being paid to the IGB?

        18       A.   Well, yes, on the face of it, it does.

        19

        20       Q.   What we now know is that Ronly was a conduit for the

        21       making of the payments, and that other ship owners were

        22       conduits for the making of the payments, and that on

        23       22 September 2000 chartering at AWB billed AWBI, or the

        24       pool, US$300,000, at a time when you were the manager of

        25       the pool.  You weren't aware of it at the time?

        26       A.   I don't remember that invoice, and, to be honest,

        27       right now I am struggling to understand why we would be

        28       invoiced 20 cents a tonne.

        29

        30       Q.   You were not aware that Ronly were being paid

        31       US 20 cents a tonne as a fee for passing the money through

        32       whatever conduit they used to the Jordanian trucking

        33       company?

        34       A.   No, I don't remember that.

        35

        36       Q.   So you say that in late 2000 or early 2001 Mr Stott

        37       brought Ronly's role to your attention?

        38       A.   I believe so, yes.

        39

        40       Q.   Did you not learn then that the pool had actually paid

        41       US$300,000 to Ronly?

        42       A.   I don't recall Charles saying to me $300,000 was being

        43       paid to Ronly.  I don't remember that conversation.

        44

        45       Q.   The point of significance for you might have been that

        46       this US$300,000 was the pool's money --

        47       A.   Yes.
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         1

         2       Q.   -- which ordinarily you would closely guard --

         3       A.   Yes.

         4

         5       Q.   -- like a tigress with her cubs?

         6       A.   Correct.

         7

         8       Q.   Here is US$300,000 coming out of the pool --

         9       A.   I agree.

        10

        11       Q.   -- without your knowledge?

        12       A.   Correct.

        13

        14       Q.   How could that be?

        15       A.   Well, I know that in 2001, sometime in 2001, the whole

        16       payment mechanism, if you like, was changed.  I don't

        17       believe pre - when I became general manager of ABI, I don't

        18       believe pre - which was in April 2001 - pool staff were

        19       authorising or approving payments, but I think close to

        20       that time we changed the process, and I'm pretty sure that

        21       any payment to Alia from that point on was co-signed by

        22       someone from the pool.  So I think that the system changed

        23       as a result of Charles coming on board and sorting it out.

        24

        25       Q.   But you, in the course of all of this, were not told

        26       that the pool had already funded $300,000 worth of

        27       commissions to facilitate these payments?

        28       A.   I don't believe so.

        29

        30       Q.   When, if ever, did you learn of that before I raised

        31       it with you?

        32       A.   I don't believe I'm aware of $300,000, until you have

        33       raised it with me today.

        34

        35       Q.   When Mr Stott raised the matter with you, what did he

        36       say to you about it?

        37       A.   Gee, it is a long time ago, sir, but my general

        38       flavour would have been that Charles, you know, joined the

        39       company I think in mid-2000 and went through a review

        40       period and sorted out and cleaned up some processes, and

        41       I think Charles would have discussed the general need for a

        42       change in process with me, rather than specifically

        43       $300,000 to Ronly.

        44

        45       Q.   You learnt, though, didn't you, that the pool was

        46       funding the trucking fee in advance of discharge of the

        47       ships?
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         1       A.   I vaguely remember that the trucking fee was paid

         2       upfront, or a portion of it was paid upfront, yes.

         3

         4       Q.   You remember that 90 per cent of it was paid upfront?

         5       A.   Yes, that's --

         6

         7       Q.   And 10 per cent was paid after final weights were

         8       checked?

         9       A.   Yes.  Yes, now that you have said that, yes.

        10

        11       Q.   Do you remember that that situation changed to a point

        12       where 100 per cent of the fee was paid upfront?

        13       A.   I don't remember that.

        14

        15       Q.   So in relation to Ronly, we know that on 10 July 2000

        16       you received this email raising the question, "What is

        17       Ronly Holdings' involvement in the process ie chartering

        18       services"?

        19       A.   Yes.

        20

        21       Q.   And we know that three months later there is an

        22       invoice for Ronly for US$300,000.  Your next memory about

        23       anything to do with Ronly is when Mr Stott changes the

        24       system?

        25       A.   I believe so, yes.

        26

        27       Q.   Can I bring you to 24 October 2000 - AWB.5052.0344.

        28       In the middle of what seems to have been a dispute between

        29       Mr Stott and Mr Watson over whether there were outstanding

        30       inland trucking fees owed to the Iraqis and whether the

        31       whole of the outstanding 10 per cent had in fact been paid,

        32       Mr Watson wrote this email to Mr Stott and copied it to

        33       you, amongst others, indicating that trucking fees ranged

        34       from US$12 to US$15 per metric tonne, and that's

        35       24 October.  On the same day - AWB.5095.0368 - you write an

        36       email to a number of persons regarding Iraq questions in

        37       advance of an Iraq execution meeting.  The last numbered

        38       question:

        39

        40            What is the agreement with igb on no. of

        41            trucks available to awb and has the cost

        42            been locked in?

        43

        44       That would indicate that your expectation was that the IGB

        45       was in charge of providing the number of trucks that would

        46       be available to assist in discharge of the ships; is that

        47       right?
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         1       A.   Well, I'm not sure, but it seemed to me that the IGB

         2       had instructed, as I understood it, the company or AWB to

         3       use a trucking firm, and from my perspective in these roles

         4       it was - the real concern for me, when you look at the

         5       balance of this email, is around ensuring that we are

         6       getting the support at the port.  So the IGB, as far as

         7       I was concerned, was possibly talking directly to Alia and

         8       that was something between - or the trucking company, I'm

         9       not sure if it was Alia at that time, in the provision of

        10       trucks.  It seemed to me that that was the relationship,

        11       because they had directed us to use this trucking company.

        12

        13       Q.   But the agreement you seem to be referring to is an

        14       agreement between the AWB and the IGB?

        15       A.   No, I don't read it that way.  I think it is "What is

        16       the agreement between the IGB on the number of trucks

        17       available", and available to AWB, such that we can execute

        18       cleanly and efficiently at the port.

        19

        20       Q.   But aren't you speaking in terms of the AWB's

        21       agreement with the IGB?

        22       A.   No, I don't read it that way.

        23

        24       Q.   Well, whose agreement with the IGB would it be - the

        25       trucking company's agreement with the IGB?

        26       A.   Possibly, yes.

        27

        28       Q.   That would put the IGB in charge of arranging the

        29       trucking?

        30       A.   Well, my - you know, my state of mind would be that

        31       you have got a trucking company that we have been

        32       instructed to use by the IGB, and what was paramount to me

        33       was making sure that there were trucks - if that was going

        34       to impact the demurrage aspect of execution, and thus the

        35       net FOB return.

        36

        37       Q.   Isn't it plain there that you were referring to the

        38       AWB's agreement with the IGB regarding trucking?

        39       A.   Well, I'm not aware of any agreement that we had, so

        40       I don't think so.

        41

        42       Q.   Are you aware of any agreement that the AWB had with

        43       any trucking company?

        44       A.   I've never seen any agreement that we've had with any

        45       trucking company.

        46

        47       MR AGIUS:   Mr Commissioner, I will tender those two
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         1       emails - AWB.5052.0344 and AWB.5095.0368.

         2

         3       EXHIBIT #350 TWO EMAILS DATED 24/10/2000,

         4       BARCODED AWB.5052.0344 AND AWB.5095.0368

         5

         6       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Mr Watson's email, in which you were

         7       copied, concerning trucking fees being $12 to $15 is

         8       dated 24 October 2000.  If we go to AWB.5009.0387, this is

         9       an email from the IGB to Mr Stott, which Mr Stott forwards

        10       to you, amongst others, and he addresses a comment to you:

        11

        12            Peter/Sarah.  This is a very interesting

        13            development given the Russian shorts that

        14            exist.

        15

        16       So drawing your attention to the email?

        17       A.   Yes.

        18

        19       Q.   Which includes a statement from the IGB to the effect

        20       that the offers for the grain should include a transport

        21       charge of $25 a metric tonne to be effected either in Euro

        22       or any acceptable European currency.  In the space of two

        23       days this was a rise in truck fee from $15 to $25.  Did you

        24       query that?

        25       A.   No.

        26

        27       MR AGIUS:   I will tender that email - AWB.5009.0387.

        28

        29       EXHIBIT #351 EMAIL FROM CHARLES STOTT TO PETER JONES

        30       AND SARAH SCALES, DATED 26/10/2000, BARCODED AWB.5009.0387

        31

        32       MR AGIUS:   Q.   If we move forward a week to 2 November,

        33       AWB.0137.0301, which I believe is an exhibit - actually, we

        34       have confidential exhibit 56C - within a week Mr Hogan was

        35       writing to you, amongst others, indicating that the

        36       trucking cost was $25, and that 10 per cent would be added

        37       into the price and included into the trucking fee, making

        38       the trucking fee, he says, $44.50.  So in the space of less

        39       than two weeks, the trucking fee has gone from $15 to

        40       $44.50.  Did you inquire into that?

        41       A.   No.

        42

        43       Q.   Did it not strike you as rather extraordinary that in

        44       that short space of time the trucking fee could have

        45       increased by 200 per cent - that is, 200 per cent more than

        46       it was - that it was now $44.50, three times what it had

        47       been two weeks before?
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         1       A.   All I can say is that I didn't inquire into it.  In

         2       hindsight, I can see the point you are making, but it

         3       didn't - it just didn't register with me.

         4

         5       Q.   Did it strike you that adding 10 per cent to the price

         6       of a contract was a very odd way to calculate a trucking

         7       fee?

         8       A.   I just didn't turn my mind to it.  I just - once

         9       again, I just worked on - especially when it says "This has

        10       been approved by the United Nations", I wasn't, you know, a

        11       subject matter expert on the intricacies of terms and

        12       conditions with respect to all of these things.

        13

        14       Q.   Can we go to exhibit 60 - AWB.0106.0161.  This is an

        15       email from Mr Hogan, which was copied to you - not directed

        16       to you.  It deals with a very significant matter, and that

        17       was loading a vessel without an LC in place.  That's a

        18       black sin in the world of shipping grain, is it not?

        19       A.   It is a brave decision.

        20

        21       Q.   So it is a matter that you would have taken an

        22       interest in?

        23       A.   Generally, yes.  Absolutely.

        24

        25       Q.   Particularly when you read the circumstances which are

        26       set out under the summary:

        27

        28            This vessel was stemmed earlier than

        29            planned to assist AWB(I) with clearance of

        30            Geelong zone to reduce carry-out.

        31

        32       So AWBI was concerned in, as well as concerned about, this

        33       issue, was it not?

        34       A.   Yes.

        35

        36       Q.   And the last dot point under "Risk Management" says:

        37

        38            AWB can hold back 2nd payment inland

        39            Transport payments (USD16 million at

        40            Sept 30) - hence if by this date L/C is not

        41            on our counter, we withhold these second

        42            payments from the IGB.

        43

        44       Now, that makes plain, doesn't it, that the inland

        45       transport fee was in fact being paid to the IGB?

        46       A.   Well, today it reads that way, but, you know, at the

        47       time, to me, this would be leverage.  If we're withholding
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         1       payment to Alia, Alia could stop provision of trucks, and

         2       there is leverage against the IGB.  That's how I would

         3       interpret it.

         4

         5       Q.   That could only hurt you, because if Alia stopped the

         6       provision of further trucks, that would mean you would have

         7       ships in port, on dock, ready to discharge, charging you

         8       huge demurrage fees?

         9       A.   Yes, but it no doubt would hurt the IGB in the

        10       distribution of wheat around Iraq, so --

        11

        12       Q.   But surely you would be more interested in avoiding

        13       costs of tens of thousands of dollars a day?

        14       A.   Well, absolutely.

        15

        16       Q.   But this is directed to something else, isn't it?

        17       This is directed to gaining some insurance against the IGB

        18       if this vessel, which would have a value of US$8.8m, wasn't

        19       covered by an LC, that effectively the cost was more than

        20       covered by the $16m which would be held back from the IGB?

        21       Isn't that what this email is about?

        22       A.   That's what it appears to be, yes.

        23

        24       Q.   The $16m is to be held back from the IGB in the event

        25       that the LC is not forthcoming?

        26       A.   Well, it doesn't say held back from the IGB.  It says

        27       held back from the inland transport.  So I didn't make that

        28       connection, I am sorry.

        29

        30       Q.   Doesn't it say that in the last clause, "We withhold

        31       these second payments from IGB"?

        32       A.   Well, it didn't register with me at the time.

        33

        34       Q.   Well, that was an email at 9.56am on 10 September.  If

        35       we go to AWB.5050.0016, exhibit 78, three days later you

        36       get a message carrying the same substance from Mr Hogan:

        37

        38            AWB holding 2nd payments due to Iraq for

        39            Inland transport...by 22nd September, this

        40            amount will be USD8.864 million...Inland

        41            transport payments will be held until L/C

        42            is on our counters.

        43

        44       So it is the second time in three days that you are getting

        45       the same message from Mr Hogan.  It still didn't dawn on

        46       you that this money was due to be paid to the IGB?

        47       A.   No.
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         1

         2       THE COMMISSIONER:   That document is exhibit 78?

         3

         4       MR AGIUS:   Yes.  That is exhibit 78.

         5

         6       Q.   Can I just get your assistance with one more entry in

         7       your diary.  I'm going to show you a page from your diary

         8       which is behind a cover sheet marked "December 04".  The

         9       page I am showing you, just for the record, is

        10       AWB.0270.0021.  I just want you to look at this yourself,

        11       for the moment.  We don't need this on the screen, please.

        12       Could you take that down?  Thank you.  Do you see the first

        13       entry is "Peter Hargreaves".

        14

        15       MR FORREST:   Could I just ask my learned friend to wait

        16       for a moment?  I am sure there is a good reason why it is

        17       not on the screen, but we have to locate the document you

        18       are asking about.

        19

        20       MR AGIUS:   We will see if we can find you a copy.

        21

        22       MR FORREST:   Thank you.

        23

        24       MR AGIUS:   Q.  The second line commences with the word

        25       "Iraq"?

        26       A.   Yes.

        27

        28       Q.   There is a third line.  Then there is a fourth line.

        29       Do you see the fourth line?

        30       A.   Starting with "Compensation"?

        31

        32       Q.   No, no, two lines above that, where the arrow is.

        33       I don't want you to read it aloud.

        34       A.   Okay, yes.

        35

        36       Q.   Does that line entry have anything to do with the sale

        37       of wheat to Iraq?

        38       A.   I don't think so.

        39

        40       Q.   Does it have anything to do with the Volcker Report or

        41       AWB's response to the Volcker Report?

        42       A.   I don't think so.

        43

        44       Q.   Do you see the line that commences with the word

        45       "Iraq"?

        46       A.   Up the top?

        47
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         1       Q.   Yes.

         2       A.   Yes.

         3

         4       Q.   What does the second word mean?

         5       A.   I think it is the - with reference to the Senate

         6       inquiry, or a potential for a Senate inquiry, rattle -

         7       Mr Heffernan used to chair it, I think.

         8

         9       Q.   And does the rest of that diary note relate to that

        10       matter - above the word "compensation"?

        11       A.   It could.  It could, yes.

        12

        13       MR AGIUS:   I will tender those two pages and ask that it

        14       be marked as a confidential exhibit.

        15

        16       EXHIBIT #133C PAGE FROM DIARY OF MS SCALES BEHIND COVER

        17       SHEET MARKED "DECEMBER 04", BARCODED AWB.0270.0021

        18

        19       THE WITNESS:   Mr Agius, if I could, I'm not sure

        20       Peter Hargreaves's name, just looking at it, is necessarily

        21       relevant at the top of that page.  Sometimes I accidentally

        22       leave people's names, if I was going to have a meeting, or

        23       something.  I think the "MT" reference is probably

        24       Matt Trewin, our government liaison man - I think, but just

        25       to help you further on that note.

        26

        27       MR AGIUS:   Q.   If you go down to the line commencing

        28       "Compensation", can you read that line "Compensation/"

        29       something?

        30       A.   It looks like "Process by which decision made".

        31       I just don't know what that's talking about.

        32

        33       Q.   And then the next line "AWB assigned the debt" and the

        34       next line "Submission required"?

        35       A.   I just don't know what it is talking about.

        36

        37       Q.   I was asking you some questions about whether or not

        38       various emails raised with you the issue of that inland

        39       transport payments were in fact being paid to the IGB.

        40       Could we bring up, please, confidential exhibit 79 -

        41       AWB.0199.0051.  This is a Jordan/Iran trip report, which

        42       was prepared for an ELG meeting in May of 2003.  In it

        43       Mr Whitwell and Mr Edmonds-Wilson report on their trip to

        44       the Middle East and, in particular, various discussions

        45       that they had in Jordan.  I want to bring you to

        46       AWB.0199.0054, and the last two paragraphs on that page.

        47       This relates to a meeting that was had with the chairman
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         1       and general manager of Alia for Transportation and General

         2       Trade.  I think we will need to go over the page.  You will

         3       see a line and a half over there once you have read those

         4       two paragraphs.  It is the last two paragraphs on

         5       page 0054, which finish over the page at 0055.

         6       A.   Yes.

         7

         8       Q.   The context is that the Pearl of Fujairah had sailed,

         9       and that in advance of it being able to dock and discharge

        10       at Umm Qasr, the AWB had paid 2.5 million Euros by way of

        11       inland transport fee, but the Pearl of Fujairah never

        12       discharged at Umm Qasr, and was not able to do so because

        13       of the invasion.  Mr Whitwell and Mr Edmonds-Wilson are

        14       reporting their conversation with the two principals of

        15       Alia, and they are told by Alia that as soon as someone

        16       with authority to sign the appropriate documentation from

        17       the Iraqi side was found, the money would be returned to

        18       Alia and then to the company in question, and that this

        19       problem affected about 10 companies other than AWB.  Alia

        20       had the appropriate documentation to show that the money

        21       had been remitted to the IGB, and they would have to wait

        22       for someone in the hierarchy, in effect, who has the

        23       authority, to return the money.  That's the substance of

        24       what this portion of the trip report is reporting.  Indeed,

        25       it goes on to say that Alia had sent a letter to the Iraqi

        26       authorities indicating that the money had been paid,

        27       services had not been provided and, therefore, the money

        28       needed to be returned.

        29

        30            You would agree with me, wouldn't you, that, yet

        31       again, this makes plain that money being paid on account of

        32       inland transport was being paid to the Iraqis?

        33       A.   Yes.

        34

        35       Q.   Indeed, this makes absolutely plain that it was Alia

        36       that was passing the money to the Iraqis --

        37       A.   Yes.

        38

        39       Q.   -- prior to the berthing and discharge of the ship?

        40       A.   It appears that way, yes.

        41

        42       Q.   And it would make plain that as at the date of this

        43       report, May 2003, there was no secret about the fact that,

        44       as between Alia and the AWB, Alia was simply being used to

        45       pass money from the AWB to the Iraqis?

        46       A.   Well, it certainly wasn't something that I was aware

        47       of.
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         1

         2       Q.   Not before you read this?

         3       A.   I don't - how many pages is this trip report?

         4

         5       Q.   It runs from 51 to 60, so nine pages?

         6       A.   I don't believe I have read this trip report.

         7

         8       Q.   Could I show you the whole document?

         9       A.   Yes, please.  I don't believe I have read this

        10       document.

        11

        12       Q.   It seems that you were part of an ELG group that met

        13       where that report had been provided.

        14       A.   I'm not aware of it, but - I just - it is a very

        15       lengthy document.  If I had opened it up and I had seen

        16       meetings like "Ministry of Industry and Trade Jordan" and

        17       then "Jordan" again, to me it is a document that I am not

        18       particularly interested in specific meetings that an

        19       account manager may have whilst travelling overseas.  I do

        20       tend to ask for specific information that relates to pool

        21       exposures.  I know there was plenty of information being

        22       provided over this period with respect to those exposures.

        23

        24       Q.   What we know on the evidence to date - and I am just

        25       telling you about the evidence that has been given in this

        26       room to date --

        27       A.   Sure.

        28

        29       Q.   -- is that that document was distributed to the

        30       executive leadership group, which included yourself,

        31       Mr Fuller, Mr Ingleby, Ms Gillingham, Mr Kennedy, Mr Geary,

        32       Mr Stott, and that it was distributed in May 2003 for an

        33       ELG meeting which took place in May 2003.  Do you say that,

        34       even though you were a member of the ELG group, you would

        35       not have read a briefing paper such as that?

        36       A.   Possibly, yes.

        37

        38       Q.   Possibly?

        39       A.   I just - frankly, it is not like I sit in my office

        40       waiting for a 10-page, or whatever it is, document and

        41       I have the time to read what appears to be, you know,

        42       summaries of meetings with all the people they have met on

        43       a trip.

        44

        45       Q.   I appreciate you are not sitting in your office

        46       waiting for a document like that to drop on your desk, but

        47       let's put this in a temporal context - May 2003, the
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         1       invasion has taken place?

         2       A.   Yes.

         3

         4       Q.   There is a new regime in Iraq.  The place is in a bit

         5       of a mess.

         6       A.   I agree.

         7

         8       Q.   AWB is planning to send people over there.  People are

         9       being appointed to go over there and rebuild systems.

        10       Nobody knows whether or not the IGB will still exist.

        11       Nobody knows who will be in charge of wheat contracts in

        12       Iraq.  Australia has silos full of wheat for which you are

        13       responsible to sell, and this is a report straight after

        14       the invasion touching upon meetings with a whole host of

        15       people who might be involved in solving Iraq's problems and

        16       improving the AWB's position as a vendor of wheat in

        17       Iraq - May 2003.  You would have wanted to read such a

        18       document, wouldn't you?

        19       A.   No, not necessarily - not - look, if I can put some

        20       context.  Yes, it was a very trying time

        21       through March, April, May, leading up to the war.  We did

        22       have regular meetings on Iraq.  The sorts of things I would

        23       be talking about, and I'm sure my diary notes cover this,

        24       any time I had an Iraq update or an Iraq meeting, it was

        25       around the questions I would be interested in, which was

        26       exposures to the pool.  So getting a trip report that's

        27       called "Jordan/Iran Trip Report", and most likely seeing

        28       the size of it, I wouldn't necessarily spend much time on

        29       it.  There were other ways for me to get information that

        30       I needed to cover off on my concerns.

        31

        32       Q.   By the time you got to the ELG meeting, you would have

        33       realised that that report, although headed "Jordan/Iran",

        34       in fact contained a great deal of information about what

        35       was likely to happen in Iraq?

        36       A.   This is my problem, Mr Agius - I don't remember

        37       reading this and I don't remember it being presented at the

        38       ELG meeting.  I don't remember a presentation in May and

        39       I believe, and I would need to check this, that if it

        40       occurred some time from mid-May onwards, I was overseas in

        41       the United States.  So it may well have happened, but

        42       I don't recall being at that meeting.

        43

        44       Q.   Were you called upon to provide any assistance to the

        45       AWB in its response to the Volcker Inquiry?

        46       A.   No.

        47



            .17/2/06 (29)              2947     S F SCALES (Mr Agius)

                            Transcript produced by ComputerReporters

�









         1       Q.   Did Mr Lindberg ever discuss with you any aspect of

         2       AWB's response to the Volcker Inquiry?

         3       A.   Not one on one.  Occasionally we would get an update

         4       on the Volcker Inquiry and how it was progressing.  But it

         5       was more Peter Hargreaves who would update us on that.

         6

         7       Q.   Were you ever asked by Mr Lindberg, as part of the

         8       AWB's response to the Volcker Inquiry, whether you were

         9       aware that Alia was a front company for the Iraqi regime?

        10       A.   I believe so, yes.

        11

        12       Q.   And what was your response?

        13       A.   My response was I didn't - I was not aware.

        14

        15       Q.   Were you asked by Mr Lindberg whether money that was

        16       paid to Alia was being paid to the government of Iraq?

        17       A.   I believe so, and my response was I didn't.

        18

        19       Q.   You didn't know?

        20       A.   I didn't - I didn't believe money was being paid to

        21       the government of Iraq.

        22

        23       Q.   What about all that material we've seen which you have

        24       acknowledged seems to make plain that money being paid to

        25       Alia was in fact being paid to the IGB?

        26       A.   I didn't recollect that at the time he asked the

        27       question.

        28

        29       Q.   But this was a very important matter - the response to

        30       the Volcker Inquiry, which could ruin the reputation of the

        31       AWB.  Surely when you were asked that question and put on

        32       inquiry, you went about looking to find the answer -

        33       reviewing documents, looking at trip reports?

        34       A.   I was asked that question and I gave an immediate

        35       answer.

        36

        37       Q.   That was it?

        38       A.   Yes.

        39

        40       Q.   Did you raise the Tigris matter and your earlier

        41       concerns about that?

        42       A.   No.

        43

        44       Q.   You were aware of the 10 per cent that had been added

        45       to the contract prices from November?

        46       A.   I have to say that in the first week or so, I think it

        47       was the first week of this inquiry, I read some of the
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         1       transcripts and your questions around the 10 per cent, and

         2       I was sitting there in the office thinking, "What

         3       10 per cent?"  I didn't recollect it until a couple of

         4       weeks ago, and it wasn't until I went back through the data

         5       room and old emails that the 10 per cent was something that

         6       obviously I had been copied on to back in 1999/2000.  But

         7       certainly whenever Andrew asked me any questions with

         8       respect to Volcker, I certainly didn't recollect that

         9       10 per cent.

        10

        11       Q.   Were you aware as to whether or not any inquiries were

        12       conducted within AWB to find answers to these questions

        13       that Mr Lindberg had posed to you?

        14       A.   Well, there was a general - there was a project team

        15       called Rose, which I think you have talked about within the

        16       last week, and they were conducting an inquiry and running

        17       and sourcing data as they saw fit.  So I was aware of

        18       Project Rose, yes.

        19

        20       Q.   But you had no involvement in it?

        21       A.   No, I would be - the ELG would occasionally be briefed

        22       on Project Rose, but no specific involvement.

        23

        24       Q.   Can we bring up, please, finally, AWB.0270.0026.

        25       That's a diary note that we have behind a cover of a book

        26       that says "Scales October 05".  Can you put a date on that

        27       diary note in relation to the draft Volcker Report or the

        28       final Volcker Report?

        29       A.   I am not - I can't tell you exactly when that was

        30       written.  It could be me writing notes from a meeting or an

        31       update.  I think it must be referencing, I think, the

        32       findings.

        33

        34       Q.   It refers to findings.  Was this a note taken from the

        35       draft Volcker Report that was received before the final

        36       submission --

        37       A.   No, I --

        38

        39       Q.   -- of AWB was written and sent to the Volcker

        40       committee?

        41       A.   I don't - I didn't - I don't remember seeing the

        42       actual draft Volcker Report, so this looks more like an

        43       update of what was in the report.

        44

        45       Q.   Towards the bottom you will see in quotes "Accept

        46       Committee Findings".  What does that relate to?

        47       A.   I don't know.
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         1

         2       Q.   Was that a policy statement?  Was it a statement of

         3       your intention?  Was it a statement made by the managing

         4       director or the chairman?

         5       A.   No.  I couldn't say.  I don't believe it is a

         6       statement from me, that I'm making.  I don't know who would

         7       have made that statement.  I just don't know.  I don't

         8       believe it would have been the chairman.  I doesn't believe

         9       I was at any meetings with the chairman on this issue.

        10

        11       Q.   This was only last year - the end of last year?

        12       A.   Yes.  I understand.  There is no date on it, so I

        13       can't be very specific.

        14

        15       MR AGIUS:   I will tender that diary entry.

        16

        17       EXHIBIT #352 DIARY ENTRY OF MS SCALES BEHIND COVER

        18       PAGE MARKED "SCALES OCTOBER 05", BARCODED AWB.0270.0026

        19

        20       MR AGIUS:   Q.   You said that even in the early days of

        21       this inquiry you were sitting in your office pondering this

        22       10 per cent?

        23       A.   Of this inquiry, yes.

        24

        25       Q.   Can we bring up, please, exhibit 295 - AWB.6004.0232.

        26       You will see at the bottom of that page Michael Long has

        27       written an email from his Hotmail address to Mr Stott and a

        28       number of other people, including yourself, which commences

        29       "Subject Proton":

        30

        31            Please don't let DFAT know you know...I

        32            will tell them and ask them to tell you.

        33

        34       Do you see that?

        35       A.   Yes.

        36

        37       Q.   Then he has evidently copied to you a memorandum of

        38       instruction of 10 June 2003 from Captain Blake Puckett on

        39       the subject of processing of oil-for-food contracts.  If we

        40       go to page 0233, the memorandum had asked that contracts

        41       ought to be identified, they being contracts which have a

        42       kickback or surcharge, often 10 per cent, "We need to know

        43       what percentage kickback or after sales service fee was

        44       involved under the extra fees category".  This email and

        45       the memorandum raised directly the issue of contracts which

        46       contained a 10 per cent kickback, surcharge or aftersales

        47       service fee.
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         1       A.   Yes.

         2

         3       Q.   Did you read that email?

         4       A.   I don't recall reading it.

         5

         6       Q.   Is it not likely that you would have, given the time

         7       at which it was sent and the circumstances in which it was

         8       sent?

         9       A.   No, not necessarily.

        10

        11       Q.   Well, Mr Long had gone to Iraq, and one of the things

        12       that he was endeavouring to do in Iraq was to advance AWB's

        13       interests in Iraq.

        14       A.   Yes.

        15

        16       Q.   That was the whole idea behind Operation Proton, was

        17       it not?

        18       A.   One of them, yes.

        19

        20       Q.   One of those goals was to ensure that Australia, the

        21       AWB, was able to regain its market position in Iraq and

        22       sell wheat to the Iraqis?

        23       A.   Yes.

        24

        25       Q.   And one of the things that Mr Long did was to send

        26       back this memorandum specifically on the point of

        27       resuscitating contracts for the provision of goods to the

        28       Iraqis?

        29       A.   Yes.

        30

        31       Q.   Isn't that a document that you would have read, given

        32       your position in the pool and your desire to ensure that

        33       the AWB continued to sell wheat to the Iraqis?

        34       A.   Not necessarily.

        35

        36       Q.   Why not?

        37       A.   Well, I'm not a person that reads every email that

        38       comes to me, clearly.  I have other ways of gathering

        39       information, and that is by talking to the people on the

        40       floor, my pool manager, and, you know, the team out there.

        41       I don't want to spend a lot of my time reading through

        42       three-, four- or five- or two-page emails talking about

        43       Captain Blake Puckett, whoever he is.  So, no, I don't

        44       recollect reading this email.  It is important, I grant

        45       you, the issues you've raised, but I think I had other ways

        46       of endeavouring to understand the risks that we were facing

        47       at that time.
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         1

         2       Q.   How could you resist reading an email which begins

         3       with the words, "Don't let DFAT know you know"?

         4       A.   Well, I have to open it up to know that's there.

         5

         6       Q.   What, you would just delete this email without opening

         7       it?

         8       A.   I may have even been on leave at this time -

         9       in May/June, I think, of 03.  But Proton was - you know, it

        10       is Michael in Baghdad, and, you know, to me there was a lot

        11       of kind of "boys-only" stuff as far as "I'm in Iraq", so

        12       I wasn't paying a lot of attention to Proton

        13       communications.

        14

        15       MR AGIUS:   I am reminded that over lunch my learned friend

        16       Mr Judd obtained a copy of an email from Mr Cooper to

        17       Mr Lindberg and Ms Scales, copied to Mr Quennell.

        18       I understand that the email was at one time regarded as

        19       being entirely subject to a claim for legal professional

        20       privilege, but that that claim has now been refined, and

        21       that the portions for which the claim is now pressed have

        22       in fact been deleted.  As a consequence, we have been given

        23       an edited copy of that email, and, if I am right about

        24       this, we are at liberty to tender it.  I see my friend

        25       nodding.

        26

        27       MR JUDD:   That's so, Mr Commissioner.

        28

        29       MR AGIUS:   So I will do so.  Can we provide a copy to the

        30       witness.

        31

        32       Q.   It is an email from Mr Cooper on 10 November 2004.

        33       The topic is "Approval required for Tigris Petroleum

        34       transaction".  It is a little hard to read on the screen,

        35       so I will read it:

        36

        37            Dear Andrew and Sarah

        38            I have now completed my review of the above

        39            transaction and I now seek approval from

        40            each of you to complete the transaction.

        41            The details are as follows:

        42            1.  We have completed a chronological

        43            review of the facts, documented this and

        44            then had the relevant AWB business

        45            managers --

        46

        47       Messrs Stott, Long and Whitwell --
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         1

         2            sign-off on the document.

         3

         4       And paragraphs 2 and 3 are missing.  Paragraph 4:

         5

         6            The money paid by the Iraqi Grains Board to

         7            AWBI in relation to this transaction totals

         8            just under USD8 million.  It is held in

         9            AWBI's Melbourne account and is being

        10            monitored by Graham Owen in AWB Trade

        11            Finance Division.

        12            5.  In order to effect the payment we have

        13            drawn up an agreement between AWBI and

        14            Tigris Petroleum which I attach for your

        15            information.  Andrew and Richard Fuller

        16            will have to sign this agreement in due

        17            course (however it needs final payment

        18            details to be added before it is ready).

        19            It will also be necessary for one of Andrew

        20            or Sarah to sign an AWB USD payment form

        21            which I will provide to you.

        22            6.  You need to be aware that the IGB in

        23            fact paid more than required to AWBI and so

        24            it will be necessary for AWBI to refund

        25            this amount to the IGB (approximately

        26            USD250,000)...

        27            8.  Tigris Petroleum agreed to pay AWB an

        28            amount of USD500,000 in return for AWB's

        29            services in collecting the IGB debt.  This

        30            amount will be deducted from the payment to

        31            be made by AWBI to Tigris Petroleum.  A

        32            decision for each of you is how this amount

        33            is to be dealt with in AWB's accounts ie is

        34            the entire USD500,000 for AWBI's account or

        35            is it to be shared with AWB Limited?

        36            9.  When each of you has confirmed you

        37            agree to proceed I will then begin

        38            arrangements to make the payment to Tigris

        39            Petroleum.  You should be aware that the

        40            principal of Tigris Petroleum, Norman

        41            Davidson-Kelly, calls me weekly from London

        42            chasing our progress and he called most

        43            recently last night.

        44

        45       The email annexes the Tigris agreement document.  Do you

        46       recall receiving this?

        47       A.   Yes.
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         1

         2       Q.   There is a handwritten entry on the second page

         3       "50:50" against the question that's raised by Mr Cooper as

         4       to how the $500,000 is to be treated.  Do you know how that

         5       came to be on this copy of the document?

         6       A.   I think it is my writing.

         7

         8       Q.   Was that your view?

         9       A.   No.  My view was - there was a bit of debate around

        10       this, but my view was it should go to AWBI, as it was

        11       AWBI's wheat.

        12

        13       Q.   Who was pushing for 50:50?

        14       A.   Oh, I think there had been some debate that Limited

        15       had provided the resources as far as the people, and so on,

        16       and so should - you know, it should be split.  There was

        17       just some discussion around that point.

        18

        19       Q.   What, so somebody within AWB Limited was pushing a

        20       claim for half of the US$500,000?

        21       A.   There was an argument that, you know, it could go -

        22       the half a million could go to AWB Limited, and I put a

        23       counter argument that AWBI should receive it.

        24

        25       Q.   Who was pushing for any of the money to go to Limited?

        26       A.   I think at one point Paul Ingleby may have pushed for

        27       that.

        28

        29       Q.   Did Michael Long ever push for any claim for any of

        30       that US$500,000?

        31       A.   I don't recall Michael Long doing so.

        32

        33       Q.   Do you recall anybody else pushing any claim or

        34       advancing any claim for that US$500,000, or any part of it?

        35       A.   No.

        36

        37       MR AGIUS:   This email, or as much of it as we can see,

        38       makes no mention of Tigris providing any services to AWB.

        39       Do we not see that because it is in that part that has been

        40       edited out, or do we not see it because there was no

        41       reference to it in the email?

        42

        43       MR FORREST:   I object to that, probably for a different

        44       reason than Mr Judd would object to it, but, in my

        45       submission, it is a very unfair question for the witness:

        46       "Have a guess what is behind the blank paragraph".

        47
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         1       MR AGIUS:   I am not directing that question to the

         2       witness, I was actually directing it to Mr Judd.  I don't

         3       see how you can make a claim for legal professional

         4       privilege on behalf of AWB in any event.

         5

         6       MR FORREST:   It sounded to me like a question directed to

         7       the witness.  The witness can't answer it.  If it is a

         8       question directed to Mr Judd, I am sure he is capable of

         9       dealing with it.

        10

        11       MR AGIUS:   Thank you.  Are you capable of dealing with it,

        12       Mr Judd?

        13

        14       MR JUDD:  I am happy to go back and look at it to confirm

        15       the position, but my belief is that the topic is addressed.

        16

        17       THE COMMISSIONER:   Is addressed?

        18

        19       MR JUDD:   Is addressed.

        20

        21       MR AGIUS:   I appreciate the difficult position my learned

        22       friend Mr Judd is in, given his instructions in relation to

        23       legal professional privilege.  I don't mean to compromise

        24       him, but I also want to be fair to the witness so that we

        25       know what it was that she was being told by Mr Cooper,

        26       because, after all, she was in a difficult position.

        27

        28       MR JUDD:   The topic is addressed, as is external advice.

        29

        30       THE COMMISSIONER:   A copy of it has been sent to

        31       Mr Quennell of Blake Dawson Waldron.

        32

        33       MR AGIUS:   I will tender that document, Commissioner.

        34

        35       EXHIBIT #353 EMAIL FROM MR COOPER ON 10/11/2004

        36

        37       MR AGIUS:   That is as far as I can take the examination of

        38       Ms Scales in the absence of other documentation that we are

        39       expecting to receive from the wheat authority and also from

        40       the AWB, and also in the absence of having had an

        41       opportunity to look through very many volumes that we have

        42       received in the last few days.  From our point of view,

        43       I am content, if anybody wishes to ask Ms Scales today, but

        44       I ask you not to release Ms Scales from her notice.  I do

        45       not expect we will return to her on Monday, but we will be

        46       able to notify her, through her counsel, as to when, if we

        47       do, we would require her back.
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         1

         2       THE COMMISSIONER:   Do you wish to ask your client any

         3       questions, Mr Forrest?

         4

         5       MR FORREST:   No, sir, not at this stage.

         6

         7       THE COMMISSIONER:   This may be the only stage, depending

         8       on whether she is called back or not.

         9

        10       MR FORREST:   I understand that.  I do not wish to ask any

        11       questions at this stage.

        12

        13       THE COMMISSIONER:   Mr Judd?

        14

        15       MR JUDD:   No, sir.

        16

        17       THE COMMISSIONER:   Does anybody else wish to ask Ms Scales

        18       any questions?

        19

        20       MR ALLEN:   No, sir.

        21

        22       MR LACAVA:   No, sir.

        23

        24       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.  You are released for this

        25       afternoon.  I can't release you finally, for the reasons

        26       that Mr Agius has outlined.  If you are further required,

        27       then it will be by arrangement with your solicitors.

        28       A.   Thank you.

        29

        30       <THE WITNESS WITHDREW

        31

        32       MR AGIUS:   That completes the material I have available to

        33       present this afternoon, Mr Commissioner.

        34

        35       THE COMMISSIONER:   Thank you.  We will adjourn until 10am

        36       on Monday.

        37

        38       AT 4.26PM THE COMMISSION WAS ADJOURNED

        39       TO MONDAY, 20 FEBRUARY 2006 AT 10AM

        40

        41

        42

        43

        44

        45

        46

        47
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